China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd
RER® (FmiE) BRGERLE

A subsidiary of China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited
PEREHEERERARFAS

N

|
"\‘ |
\

RING -
COMM 1TV = | T;,.//
DELIVERING

RESULTS

20234 [EIRE | ANNUAL REPORT 2023



ENDURING
COMMITMENT,

As the largest physical jet fuel buyer in the Asia Pacific .
region and key importer of jet fuel to the civil aviation
industry of the PRC, operating in*a world emphasising
environment, social and governance factors, CAO i
strengthenlng its commitment to create Iong—term value.
in a.financially, enwronmentally and somally responSIbIe
manner. In this respect, CAO is making stea

in embedding sustainability in_our busir

establishing ‘high standards of corporate g

along with a robust risk management and ¢

management framework, enhancing our 'abilit}
sustainable growth. . g

CONTENTS
Bx

Financial Highlights
NIZ53= 1

SEEING BEYOND

52 2023 Sustainability Highlights
2  CAO atA Glance 2023F Al A BIRE M E
REIENT 56 Financial Review
4  |International Reach NZ53E)
EFRAR A 61 Risk Management
6  Sustainable Business Model ReEE
AR AR RN SSIRTC 70 Compliance and Internal Audit
8  Our Core Values aM5NEH
BOMEBEESAR 74 Human Capital Management
9  Group Structure AT HRBRER
REGHE 78 Community Engagement
STAYING COMMITTED e
T — A 81 Corporate Governance at A Glance
airman’s Statemen NEPAEREN
EERH @
O ) 83 Statement of Corporate Governance
16 Key Highlights and Milestones NESAIBIRE
= =
- éﬁ%;fﬁli%ﬁﬂ 109 Financial Statements
==
ﬁog‘%o irectors SRR |
. 190 Supplementary Information
29  Corporate Information IR
NSf=8
ARER 191 Statistics of Shareholdings
SUSTAINING PERFORMANCE gt . | ;
32 CEO's Message 192 %d;élg%al I?Efcggnéatlon on Directors Seeking Re-election
BRERATERE SeL=
36 CEO’s Strategic Report — Operations Review
BRERITEMRIRE —RERR
44 CEO'’s Strategic Report — Investor Relations
BRRATEMRRE —RREXR
48 Senior Management

EREER



CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD

Total Supply and Trading Volume ‘ }
(million metric tonnes) |

BUSE (FHMW) | \

N

|

|

36.9

34.1

27.6

20.3 20.0

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Revenue
(USS$ billion)
KA (+1Z2%E5T)

17.6
16.5

14.4

10.5

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 1

Net Profit*
(US$ million)
2FiE (BR%ET

99.8

58.9

56.2

40.4
33.5

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Net Profit*
25

US$58 n 9 million

BAETT

) 4
Total Supply and Trading Volume Revenue
BIsE (9N
20-0 million US$1 I -4 billion
metric tonnes +{Z%=7T
B
/ \_ /
) 4
Return on Equity* Return on Assets
AAFERE ErERE
6.36% 4.03%
\_ _/ \_ .

Net Asset Value/Share*
SRSAEFE

o] 1559.260;

Relates to the amount attributable to equity owners of the Company #¥&)3/E T ATIFrEE

\ W




2 CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CAO AT A GLANCE
AREN

China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (“CAO”
or the “Company”) was incorporated in Singapore on
26 May 1993 and listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited on 6 December
2001. CAO is the largest physical jet fuel buyer in the
Asia Pacific region and a key supplier of imported jet fuel
to the civil aviation industry of the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”).

Headquartered in Singapore and with a strong presence
in China, CAO possesses a well-established global oil
supply and trading network, contributing actively to the
advancement of efficient and sustainable global aviation.

Leveraging on its core competencies, CAO and its wholly
owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) namely, China
Aviation Oil (Hong Kong) Company Limited (“CAOHK?”),
North American Fuel Corporation (“NAFCQO”) and China
Aviation Fuel (Europe) Limited (“CAFEU”) supply jet fuel to
airline companies in Asia Pacific, North America, Europe
and the Middle East.

Working through its subsidiary, CNAF Hong Kong
Refuelling Limited (“CNAF HKR”), the third licensed
refueller at Hong Kong International Airport, CAOHK
supplies jet fuel to its airline customers at the Hong
Kong International Airport. CAOHK also supplies jet
fuel to its airline customers at other key airports in the
Asia Pacific region. Incorporated in the United States
of America in April 2008, NAFCO, is a major jet fuel
supplier at Los Angeles International Airport. In 2023,
NAFCO expanded its jet fuel cargo import business to
Ted Stevens Anchorage International Airport. CAFEU,
a fueling concessionaire at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol,
is also an independent jet fuel supplier at Amsterdam,
Frankfurt, Brussels and Stuttgart airports.

Under the astute leadership of the CAO Management,
the Group also engages in international trading of jet
fuel and other oil products, as well as in carbon credits
trading in line with its ongoing efforts to offset carbon
emissions from its trading and ship chartering activities,
to provide added sustainable value for its customers and
other stakeholders.

OUR KEY SHAREHOLDERS

China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited (“CNAF”),
the single largest shareholder of CAO, holds 51.31%
of the total issued shares of CAO (excluding treasury
shares). As a state-owned enterprise, CNAF is the
largest aviation transportation logistics services provider
in the PRC, providing aviation fuel procurement, storage,
transportation and refuelling services at over 200 airports

in China. BP Investments Asia Limited, a subsidiary of oil
major, BP Plc, is a strategic investor of CAO and holds
20.17% of the total issued shares of CAO (excluding
treasury shares).

OUR BUSINESSES
Jet Fuel Supply & Trading

CAO supplies jet fuel to international airports across
the PRC, including Beijing Capital International Airport,
Shenzhen Baoan International Airport, Shanghai Pudong
and Honggiao International Airports as well as Guangzhou
Baiyun International Airport. Supporting global air travel
demand, the Group has been marketing and supplying
jet fuel to its airline customers at international airports
worldwide since 2011. As part of the Company’s ongoing
efforts to drive its sustainability objectives, CAO has also
expanded its product offerings to include sustainable
aviation fuel (“SAF”).

Trading of Other Oil Products

CAO has a diversified oil products portfolio and trading
network spanning fuel oil, gasoil, gasoline, crude oil and
condensates. Capitalising on its extended global reach,
CAO has entrenched its market presence as an active
supplier of these oil products in Asia Pacific and continues
to build and optimise structural advantages in these
products globally.

Investments in Oil-related Assets

The Group owns investments in oil-related businesses
that are synergistic to its supply and trading activities,
with a portfolio of assets along an integrated global
supply and trading value chain, comprising storage,
pipelines and airport refuelling facilities.

The Group currently holds equity stakes in:

. Shanghai Pudong International Airport Aviation Fuel
Supply Company Ltd
(CAO holds a 33% equity stake)

e  China National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline
Transportation Corporation Ltd
(CAO holds a 49% equity stake)

e  Shenzhen Zhenghe Petrochemicals Co. Ltd
(CAO holds a 39% equity stake)

e  Qilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd
(CAQ holds a 26% equity stake)

e  CNAF Hong Kong Refuelling Limited
(CAO holds a 68% equity stake through its wholly
owned subsidiary, CAOHK)

e Aircraft Fuel Supply B.V.
(CAFEU holds a 12.5% equity stake)
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CAO has been marketing and supplying jet fuel to airline companies at
international airports since 2011.
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS MODEL
A TR R REYILSSIRT

We procure internationally and deliver cargoes
to customers globally.
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At CAO, we strive to integrate our supply and
trading activities, leveraging on our increasing scale
and market presence to enhance the profitability of

the Group.
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OUR CORE VALUES
ZIOHERSHF

OUR MISSION

To Create Value for Shareholders
To Provide Professional Development for Employees
To Contribute to Society

fEen
HNERFREINE
ARATERRE
RN =MEIER

OUR VISION

To be an innovative top-tier company,
underpinned by oil-related investments and fuelled by
our “twin engines growth strategy” in the jet fuel and

other oil products businesses.
=

o R

USRI g A5 ZE, LAAHL SSH R M 2R 5 N E,
BAMNERLEN REANME AT

CORPORATE VALUES

Excellence: To Strive for Excellence in Every Detail
Innovation: Proponent and Leader of Innovation and Change
Diversity: Respecting and Valuing Differences
Integrity: Growing our Businesses through Trust and Honesty

L {ET

SRR, BRIE
RU8F: RIREE, THRE
SR HEER, BEHE
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GROUP STRUCTURE (as of 31 March 2024)
L EVEME @z=o02435310)

BP Investments Asia China National Aviation
Limited Fuel Group Limited
BP#Z# LM hE A= SRR S

Public

AN

BRAQF BRAF

28.52%*

20.17%* 51.31%*

China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd
FREfRh (RN BRI ER AT

\
l

100% 100%

100%

China Aviation QOil
(Hong Kong) Company
Limited
FREfTH (F#)
BIRAF

. China Aviation Fuel
North American Fuel (Europe) Limited

Caboiaticnes ch E T (RUM)
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*  Excluding treasury shares N EFEETZRL
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Anchored in our belief that operating
responsibly will create sustainable value for
stakeholders and the community, we remain
committed to our sustainability strategy and
high standards of corporate governance,
risk and compliance management as well as
safeguarding the well-being of our people.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERKEE

Shi Yanliang
Executive Chairman

SBIEER
RITEEK



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERKEE

China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (“CAQ”)
marked its 30" anniversary year of establishment in
Singapore in 2023. CAO had since its incorporation
in 1993, leveraged on its base in Singapore to drive
internationalisation as part of its growth strategy.
In its relentless pursuit of excellence, the Company has
successfully established itself as the largest physical jet
fuel buyer in the Asia Pacific region and a key supplier
of imported jet fuel to the civil aviation industry of the
People’s Republic of China.

Testament to its enduring commitment to high standards
of corporate governance, the Company was awarded
the “Most Transparent Company” (Energy Category)
award at the Securities Investors Association (Singapore)
2023 Investors’ Choice Awards as well as the “Industry
Champions of the Year” award at the 2023 Asia Corporate
Excellence & Sustainability Awards. In addition, CAO is a
member of the Global Trader Programme and a SGX Fast
Track company. On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would
like to express our gratitude towards our shareholders,
customers and business partners for their unwavering
support and confidence in CAO. | would also like to
express the Board’s appreciation to the Management
and staff of CAO for their hard work and dedication.

2023 was a turbulent year with the global economy
struggling to recover post-pandemic amidst
macroeconomic headwinds and elevated inflation. At the
same time, the negative effects of climate change had
brought about serious economic challenges. Crises such

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD 13
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as the Russia-Ukraine war and the Israeli-Palestinian
conflict deeply disrupted energy markets, causing higher oil
price fluctuations while reducing international trade flows.
Despite the extremely challenging external environment,
the Group has, as a cohesive team, established an
integrated global oil trading network, making timed-
to-market adjustments to its strategies to optimise the
deployment of resources, while building on its core trading
competitive advantage as well as strengthening strategic
partnerships. In doing so, we have managed to achieve
operational stability and sustainable growth in a rapidly
changing global economic environment.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a total
net profit of US$58.37 million, an increase of 76% year-
on-year. Earnings per share attributable to the owners
of the Company similarly rose 75% year-on-year to
6.84 US cents. The Group continues to maintain a healthy
financial position with sufficient capital, strong asset
liquidity and no interest-bearing debt.

In appreciation of the continued support of our
shareholders, the Board of Directors has recommended
the declaration and payment of a one-tier, tax-exempt final
ordinary dividend of 2.71 Singapore cents per share, and
a one-off, tax exempt special dividend of 2.34 Singapore
cents per share (i.e. total dividend of 5.05 Singapore cents
per share) for approval by shareholders at the upcoming
30" Annual General Meeting of the Company. We remain
committed to delivering long-term shareholder value and
sharing the fruits of our success with our shareholders.

The Group has established an integrated global supply and trading value chain, comprising storage, pipelines and airport refuelling facilities.

REFTUHFIBRABITE T — NREMEE B4 NZINERESHN e R— AU EE S R 5%,
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESKEE

The Group extended its global jet fuel supply and trade supply chain, and conducted arbitrage jet fuel trading from Asia to Europe and North America.

ARRREIRAUHMHN S B S HE5E, HAFR T MEAZIRGH, M ZAEEATmE X R ZL S5,

In 2023, as part of our ongoing efforts to uphold
high standards of corporate governance, we further
strengthened our Board governance practices, enhanced
risk management processes and conducted all business
activities, compliant with applicable laws, regulations and
policies. Additionally, we remained steadfast in fulfiling our
corporate social responsibilities and steadily advanced our
digital transformation. The Company has also put in place
an effective four-tier sustainability governance structure
which comprises the Board of Directors, Sustainability
Committee, CAO Management and Sustainability Task
Force, to facilitate the transformation and development
of the Company’s emerging new energy business,
strengthening our ESG capability and governance practices
as well as improving information disclosure. This would
help ensure the Company’s sustainable business growth
and the creation of long-term value for our stakeholders.

Like an evergreen pine tree withstanding harsh wintry
conditions, CAQO is prepared to thrive in challenging times.
Although growth in the global economy is expected to
gain traction in 2024 with inflation abating gradually, the
overall economic outlook remains highly uncertain due to

persistent economic, financial, geopolitical, and climate
change risks. Standing on the cusp of CAO’s next phase
of growth after 30 years of its establishment, the Board of
Directors will continue to lead the Management and staff in
striving to become a top-tier company prioritising innovation
and sustainable growth, underpinned by its integrated
network in the jet fuel supply and trading business, trading
of other oil products and oil-related investments.

Mr Gong Feng stepped down as Chairman of the
Company on 15 December 2023, having served as the
Non-Executive Chairman of CAO since 9 December 2020.
During his term as Chairman, he had led the Company
in achieving commendable growth and surmounting
challenges posed by the complex geopolitical landscape
as well as the global pandemic. On behalf of the Board,
| would like to express my deep gratitude to Mr Gong for
his invaluable contributions to the Company.

Shi Yanliang
Executive Chairman
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Testament to its enduring commitment to high standards of corporate governance and leadership qualities, the Company was awarded the “Industry
Champions of the Year” award from the 2023 Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability Awards.
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS AND MILESTONES
EERANLEREH

2023 was the commemorative year that marked the 30" anniversary of CAQ’s establishment in Singapore.

Forging ahead, CAO will continue to leverage on its inherent competitive advantages, strengthen its global oil supply
and trading network, as well as optimise and diversify its business portfolios, paving the way towards a sustainable
business transformation.
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14 February 1995
CAOQ became a
wholly owned
subsidiary of CNAF
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26 May 1993

China National
Aviation Fuel Supply
joined venture with
Sinotrans and NOL to
set up China Aviation
Oil (Singapore) Pte Ltd
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6 December 2001

Listed on the
mainboard of the

Singapore Exchange

Securities Trading
Limited
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12 August 1999
Obtained oil products
trading qualifications
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29 March 2006

Completion of
restructuring with
CAO’s shares
resuming trading on
the SGX under the
leadership of a new
Board
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14 November 2006

of parent company
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23 July 2002

Announced
acquisition of 33%
stake in Shanghai
Pudong International
Airport Aviation Fuel
Supply Company Ltd
(“SPIA”)
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CAO adopts new logo

1 October 2008

Diversified into other

oil products with

the establishment
of petrochemicals

trading team
20085108 1H
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A, FFREMHRE S

KEY HIGHLIGHTS AND MILESTONES

17 May 2007

Completed and
terminated Creditors’
Scheme with full
repayment of
outstanding debt

of US$73.3 million
four years ahead of
schedule

2007558 17H
RAIAE R LR
MREN7330H3%TT, 5T
RIRSEAITR

4 October 2007

Awarded

“Most Transparent
Company”
(Runner-up in Foreign
Listings Category)

by Securities
Investors Association
Singapore (“SIAS”)
2007£E1084H
SRIRFIRIE S
EMSIRN“RIBEH
REL @S EHR
BHE=R)

17 May 2010

Established fuel oil
trading team

201058 17H
BEILARLHEIBA

23 February 2009

Completed acquisition
of 49% of equity
capital in China
National Aviation Fuel
TSN-PEK Pipeline
Transportation
Corporation Ltd
(“TSN-PEKCL”)

2009%E2H23H

SER U HR E A E
REEERERRIE
NE)49% BAREIZE




»
-
PEAM R WRAE

1 March 2012

Expanded footprint
with acquisitions

of China Aviation

QOil (Hong Kong)
Company Limited
and North American
Fuel Corporation to
build a global supply
and trading network

201238 1H
WIS R E A
(FA) BRAFMAL
ERUHERAT, 12
LIRMHL 5 B 5 M4

4 August 2011

Established an
aviation marketing
arm; announced

its first foray into
airlines jet fuel supply
and marketing with
contracts to supply
jet fuel directly to
Hainan Airlines Co.
Ltd and Turkish
Airlines at specified
international airports
outside the PRC
201158H4H
BiuM=minEH;
SHERERESMT
ABEITKEBAUAH
MEL, BitEF EE
BEMEAEMLE
Hin= A7, NEEH
E ASMIFETE EFRAL
R A

8 October 2011

Acquired 26% stake
in Oilhub Korea Yeosu
Co., Ltd (“OKYC”)
2011510A8H

W E R K AR LA
HEBRAT26%
HIRZAR

8 July 2015

Awarded “Best
Investor Relations”
(Gold Award, Mid
Cap Category) at the
Singapore Corporate
Awards 2015

201557H8H
FIR01SEM MR
AR > BERAE
XRR (@R, PAE
Z:EN

16 September 2016

Awarded “Most
Transparent Company”
(Winner in Energy
Category) by SIAS
20165F9H16H

IR 545 25

SINGAPORE CORPORATE
(GOVERNANCE AWARD

WINNER

19 September 2017

Awarded Winner of
“Singapore Corporate
Governance” (Energy
Category) by SIAS

201759H19H
SRIRHTINIESS 3 R
E IDEIA R FnE
AR (BERTT
AERTEE)

29 June 2018

{s1 "3 C
CORF ; R. TIONLTD

23 July 2019

Awarded “Best Risk
Management”

(Gold Award, Mid
Cap Category) at the
Singapore Corporate
Awards 2019

20195E7H23H

SRIR2019EEF NN
WARZ “RENKNE
BRI (£, PEld
NZZ:EH

6 September 2019

Named “Best-
Performing Stock”
by The Edge Billion
Dollar Club 2019

20195F9H6H
ZR¥K20194 The Edge

Billion Dollar Club##l
K “RERIKRR”

26 September 2019

Awarded

“Most Transparent
Company” (Winner
in Energy Category)
by SIAS

20195F9H26H
SRIRHTINIE SR
Eh=mk &5
NER” (BERITILA
HE)
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31 May 2022

CAOQ increased its
shareholding in
CNAF HKR from
39% to 68% through
its wholly owned
subsidiary, CAOHK,
making CNAF HKR

a majority-owned
subsidiary of CAOHK
2022f5H31H
FRERUHFINRAE
BEEBAEWNEH
HEMABHITIRRY
R%, R R EE I M39%
EINE68%, S EH
HRMRB R ATER
Gl NG|

22 September 2022
CAO successfully
obtained both ISCC
CORSIA and ISCC
EU certifications
20225F9H22H

AT ERRIGISCO
CORSIAMIISCC EUM
AREFTAIE

24 November 2023

Awarded “Industry
Champions of the
Year” at the Asia
Corporate Excellence
& Sustainability
Awards 2023

2023%11H24H
SRIR2023 TN it
AR A K R
“EETIV TR

2023

6 May 2021

BRI BB
AR (BT

BE)

MOST TRANSPAREN
COMPANY AWARD

Acquired Navires
Aviation Limited
(now renamed as
China Aviation Fuel
(Europe) Limited)

as a wholly owned
subsidiary to expand
its footprint in Europe
20185%6H29H
WL EFRE
Navires Aviation
Limited (BLEE & 7
FREAH (EGH) B IR
NA)) , LI KREFGN
AV SSHRE

18 July 2018

Awarded “Best
Investor Relations”
(Gold Award, Big
Cap Category) at the
Singapore Corporate
Awards 2018

2018%E7H18H
ZRIR201 8NN
AR “REREE
XA (&%, KED
Ak£R51)

Featured in RHB’s
Small Cap Top 20
Jewels 2021 Edition

202155H6H

NEM R R Z R
2021 MK B=E"
INTH{ERR20ATEE

8 November 2023

Awarded “Most
Transparent
Company” (Winner in
Energy Category) by
SIAS (CAO’s 10" win
at the SIAS Investors’
Choice Awards)
2023%11H8H
RIS S
EDEAE Y RBH
AER (BBRITILAR
) (FREUHHTNR
RNEEHRIRULLTER)
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Board Committee(s) served on:
N.A.

e Qualified Engineer
Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:

Pipeline Co., Ltd (Chairman)

SHI YANLIANG, 52
Executive Chairman

Date of first appointment
as a director:
15 December 2023

Date of last re-election
as a director:
N.A.

Length of service

as director:

N.A.

(as at 31 December 2023)

Pits, 52% HEAERERS:
HITEFK TER
BHARHEEEHAE: FEARMEAWZER:
2023%FE12815H o KTAFEHSHAAIEMEFAL
o LAV THRIM
LREHSER:
TEM IMEEHRFE:
RS SR FR: Hth Fv 2 E]:
TER T
(BiZE2023%F128310)
BT EEFFEL:

o PHURAKEBERRARE EEK

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):
e Master’s Degree in Petroleum and Natural
Gas Engineering, Yangtze University, China

e (China National Aviation Petrochemicals

Other Principal Commitments:
Nil

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):
Nil

Others:

e Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Petrochemicals Pipeline Co., Ltd

e Former General Manager of China Aviation
Oil Import and Export Co., Ltd

FEEA:
x

BEZFYEESRFEN
(202151 B 1HZE2023F12831H) :
7

Hfth:
o BEMFUHONKEEERATREZE
o BEMEAEHEOBRATREZE
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TEO SER LUCK, 55
Lead Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
24 April 2019

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2022

Length of service

as director:

4 years 8 months

(as at 31 December 2023)

WA, 555
EHEBUEF

BRSEEEAM:
201945241

LXEFEERA:
2022F4H27H

{EERERER:
MEZSMH
(HFE2023F12831H)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Audit Committee (Chairman)
Sustainability Committee (Chairman)
Risk Management Committee (Member)
Nominating Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

¢ Degree in Accountancy,
Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:

e BRC Asia Limited (Chairman)

e Serial System Ltd (Deputy Chairman)

e Straco Corporation Limited
(Independent Director)

e Yanlord Land Group Limited
(Independent Director)

e Super Hi International Holding Ltd.
(Independent Director)

Other Principal Directorships:
Nil

HIOAEREGS!
HITER S (EF)
BIRSARER (EFFE)
REERER= (B5)
REZER= (BR)

FAMEBLER:
o HINMEEFETAE, RITFM

MEEHFEAL:

Bt ki 28]

* BRCIMBRAE (BEEK)
HEER RIEEK)

EHEH (RIIEE)
CIEEMERAGRAR (IRIES)
FrBEFERERARE (R EE)

Rttt T EEFFE(:
7

Other Principal Commitments:
¢ President of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants (ISCA)

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):

¢ | ead Independent Director of MindChamps
PreSchool Limited

Others:

e Former Minister of State for Trade
and Industry

e Former Senior Parliamentary Secretary in
the Ministry of Transport and Ministry of
Community Development, Youth and Sports

e Former Minister of State for Manpower

e Former Mayor of the North East District

e Former Member of Parliament

FEER:
o HIREHF RIS ERE

BEZFYSEESRFEN
(202151 H1HZE2023F12831H) :
o BARH EERAE (BEEMIEZES)

Hifth:

. R TS K

o BIMSKE. EERKE MBS
BRI

o BITANIEHSIK

o BERIXMHK

o BIFIIEESRINA
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SHI LEI, 59
Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
1 September 2021

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2022

Length of service

as director:

2 years 3 months

(as at 31 December 2023)

fE,59%
JERIT IFB T EE

HRHEEEAM:
202159818

LXEFEEZRA:
20225 4827H

HINEEFER:
2FE3MH
(B =2023%F12H31H)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Nominating Committee (Vice Chairman)
Remuneration Committee (Vice Chairman)
Risk Management Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e Radio-Electronics, School of Electronics,
Shandong University

e Master of Business Administration,
Shandong University

e Qualified Senior Engineer

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:
e China National Aviation Fuel Corporation
Limited (Director)

HOAEREGS!
REZER= RIER)
#FNES= BIER)
REERER= (BR5)

EARMEWZER:

o LIAARFHFATLZEBFFR
e I AKRFTEEEMLTHARE

o SRTIENT

MEEHERAL:

Hftt k52 E]:
7z

Htt T EEFFEL:
o FEMT=HHERIEAR (ES)

Other Principal Commitments:

¢ Assistant to General Manager of China
National Aviation Fuel Group Limited

e General Manager, Human Resource
Department of China National Aviation Fuel
Group Limited

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):
Nil

Others:

e Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
North-West Branch

e Former Deputy General Manager of China
National Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
East China Branch

¢ Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
Shandong Branch

e Former Deputy General Manager of China
National Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
Shandong Branch

e Head of Human Resources of China
National Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
Shandong Branch

e Worked in CAAC Shandong Regional
Administration

FEER:
o PEMTERERERAESEEE
o PEMZHHERERABANEIRE

SR

BEZFYEESFEN
(20211818 ZE2023F12831H) :
’x

Hfth:
o BEMEMEMEIBREEATEILAT
RFI8

o BEFEM=ANERITARAERAT
Bl

o BETEMTHEBRIEATLUERDAF
B

o BAEMEMTHMEBRIEQTURDAT
BRI

o BAETEMTHHBRIEATLUERDAF
AFREHC

s BARTRMLABEER

8]
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ZHANG YUCHEN, 50
Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
1 November 2020

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2023

Length of service

as director:

3 years 2 months

(as at 31 December 2023)

gkl“'lll\, 50?
IFRIT IFRILEF

BRSEEEAM:
2020F11818

LPXEFEEZRA:
2023F4H27H

HINEEFER:
3FE21M A
(B =2023%F12H31H)

Board Committee(s) served on:

Audit Committee (Vice Chairman)

Risk Management Committee (Vice Chairman)
Sustainability Committee (Vice Chairman)
Nominating Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e Bachelor of Engineering
e Qualified Engineer

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:
Nil

HIEEEGR:
HitZRs @IEF)
XLERER = (BEFF)
RS EARERS BIERFE)
REERR (RR)

FRMEWER:
o T+

-SﬁI&J

EESFE:

Hft ki 28]
7z

Htt T EEFFE(L:
7
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Other Principal Commitments:

e Safety Director and General Manager of
Safety, Quality and Environment Department
of China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):
Nil

Others:

e Former General Manager of Procurement
Management Department, China National
Aviation Fuel Group Limited

e Former General Manager of South China
Bluesky Corporation Ltd, Hubei branch

e Former Deputy General Manager of South
China Bluesky Corporation Ltd, Hubei branch

e Former Manager of Safety Monitoring
Technology Development Department,
South China Bluesky Corporation Ltd

e Former Assistant to the General Manager,
South China Bluesky Corporation Ltd,
Hubei branch

FEFR:
s HEMZENERERASZ2EEHLE
REN R ELE

BEZFYSEESRFEN
(202151 H1HE2023F12831H) :
7

Eﬂ!’.‘

o BEFEM=HHERERATRGEEE
SRR

. BECHERNESHNERATHIS AT
SEE

. BECHERMTEERATLH AT
BlRAE

. Eiﬁﬁﬁﬁ”’“%ﬂn HEERATRER AR
[EEaP Tt

O E*{E,‘;Ellf-aiﬂn &*’I’ﬁﬁﬁ@jlaﬁjtﬁj\ﬁj
REIERNIE
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LIN Y1, 54
Chief Executive Officer/
Executive Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
15 March 2023

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2023

Length of service

as director:

9 months

(as at 31 December 2023)

MZL, 545
BENITE/MITEE

HRHEEEAM
2023%F3515H

ERESZEZERAM
2023F4827H

HINEEFER:
9™NH
(B =2023%F12H31H)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Nil

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

¢ Bachelor of Engineering Studies
¢ Qualified Senior Engineer, China

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:

¢ China Aviation Oil (Hong Kong) Company
Limited (Chairman/Director)

e North American Fuel Corporation
(Chairman/Director)

e China Aviation Fuel (Europe) Limited
(Chairman/Director)

¢ Qilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd (Chairman)

¢ Shanghai Pudong International Airport
Aviation Fuel Supply Corporation Ltd
(Deputy Chairman)

HIEREELR:
x

FARMEWER:
o AREARZFHTEFL
o MESHKIRM

MEEHEREA:

Hftt ki 28]
7z

Htt T EEFFE(:

hENUH (FB) BRAR EEK/ES)
EEAUHBERAR EFK/ES)
hEFUH EON) BRAR EEK/ES)
FHENAMDHEERAR (EEK)
EEERERME R ERREAR
BIEEK)

Other Principal Commitments:
Nil

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):
Nil

Others:

¢ Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel South China Bluesky
Corporation Ltd

e Former General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel South China Bluesky
Corporation Ltd, Guangdong Branch

e Former Adviser of China National Aviation
Fuel South China Bluesky Corporation Ltd

FEEA:
7z

BEZFYEESFEN
(2021E1B1HZE2023F12831H) :
7

Hfth:

o BILEFERMETHEERATEEE

o BELEFERMETHEERAT AN AT
RFI8

o BELERFERIMEHEERATEAEFHN
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HEE THENG FONG, 69
Non-Executive,
Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
24 April 2019

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2022

Length of service

as director:

4 years 8 months

(as at 31 December 2023)

WiE5, 695
AT HRIIEE

BRSEEEAM:
201945241

LXEFEERA:
2022F4H27H

{EERERER:
AFEZIMA
(HFE2023F12831H)

Board Committee(s) served on:

Risk Management Committee (Chairman)
Audit Committee (Member)
Remuneration Committee (Member)
Sustainability Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e L.L.B. (Honours), National University of
Singapore
¢ Diploma in PRC Law, Suzhou University

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:

e Straco Corporation Limited
(Independent Director)

e Yanlord Land Group Limited
(Independent Director)

¢ Haidilao International Holding Ltd
(Independent Director)

e H World Group Limited
(Independent Director)

Other Principal Directorships:
* Green Link Digital Bank Pte. Ltd.

HEAERERS:
NEEERE (EFF)
HitEZRs (RR)
FER= (R)
AFEARER (R)

FAMEBLER:
o MIMREI AT, EF RE) F+
o FINAFE, REVEEXE

MEEHFEAL:

Rt ki 28]

o ERER(RUES)

o CIEEMEHBRAR (RIUER)
o BREGEMTRERAR RIIES)
o EEEHBRAT (RIIEE)

Rttt EEFELL:
o REXINPIIRIT

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 2i

Other Principal Commitments:
¢ Independent Arbitrator and Mediator with
The Arbitration Chambers

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):

¢ Independent Director of Zheneng Jinjiang
Environment Holding Company Limited

Others:

e Deputy Chairman of Singapore Medishield
Life Council

e Member of ACRA's Complaints and
Disciplinary Panel

e Member of Advisory Committee for
“China Ready Programme” under the
Ministry of Law

e Member of Experts Team under Ministry of
Law and China Council for the Promotion of
International Trade

e Member of Traditional Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Board

FEFE:
e The Arbitration Chambersi® iz {5 &
ARER

BE=FEEFEEREN
(202151 H1HE2023%F12831H) :
o MBEFR I IBITIRBIRAE (HIIESE)

Hth

o HMIRASRREEZRIER

. %ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ%ﬁ"—ﬁﬁﬂkmﬁ%&iﬁﬁﬂﬁd\fﬂéﬁ

o HMKEEH PE@IRITIENERS
£l

o IR ZHHMPEERR Z (R HERZE
GHH TR T REER

o MMKPEEBREREZER
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FU XINGRAN, 46
Non-Executive,
Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
30 September 2021

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2022

Length of service

as director:

2 years 3 months

(as at 31 December 2023)

TE4, 465
FAIT BT EF

HRHEEEAM:
2021498 30H

LXEFEZRA:
20225 4827H

HINEEFER:
2FE3MH
(B =2023%F12H31H)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Nominating Committee (Chairman)
Audit Committee (Member)
Remuneration Committee (Member)
Sustainability Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):
¢ Doctor of Philosophy in Financial Engineering
Heriot-Watt University

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:

¢ Beijing Rongyi Investment and Management
Co., Ltd (Director)

¢ Beijing Jingcheng Zhitong Robot Technology
Co., Ltd (Director)

¢ Beijing Jingguochuang Funds Management
Co., Ltd (Director)

¢ Beijing Ba Yue Gua Technology Co., Ltd
(Director)

¢ Beijing Foreign Enterprise Human Resources
Service Co., Ltd (Director)

¢ Beijing Environment Co., Ltd (Director)

HIEREELR:
REER= (EFE)
HITERS (HR)
FMESI= (HR)
ARSI RER (B5)

FAMEWZER:
o REMR - MSAFEMTETWELFU

MEEHERAL:

Hftt k5 2E]:
7z

Htt T EEFFE(:

o IIREIEIRAEEFRAE (BF)

o ERRBBBENBARERQTE (ES)
o IRRECELTEERRAR (ES)

o ER/\BMRKERAE (BF)

o ERIBANERIRSERAR (ER)

o ERWFHRAF (ER)

Other Principal Commitments:

¢ General Manager of Beijing Rongyi Investment
and Management Co., Ltd

¢ General Manager of Beijing Jingguochuang
Funds Management Co., Ltd

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):

¢ Director of Beijing Tianshi Kaiyun Equity Fund
Management Co., Ltd.

Others:

e Former Deputy General Manager of Beijing
Innovation Industry Investment Co., Ltd.

e Former Deputy General Manager of Beijing
Tianshi Kaiyuan Equity Fund Management
Co., Ltd.

e Former Deputy General Manager of Funds
Investment Department, Beijing State-owned
Capital Operation and Management Center

e Former Investment Manager of Business
Innovation Department of PICC Asset
Management Company Limited/PICC Capital
Insurance Asset Management

FEEA:
s RRERAEERRATELE
s ERRESEEEERRATIEE

BEZFEFESRFEN
(2021E1B1HZE2023F12831H) :
o TRERANATERNESEERRAS (BSE)

Hoth:

o AR FUREERATREZAE

o BEIRKBNATRNETEIEGRAEE
SRR

o BANREERALEBTETLESIED
ElfstaS:E

o BAFEAFRETEERDERAT/AF
RERREIEE R LB B ER R LR
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JEFFREY GOH

MAU SEONG, 55
Non-Executive,
Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
31 December 2021

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2022

Length of service

as director:

2 years

(as at 31 December 2023)

RXH2, 55%
IEMIT T EE

BRSEEEAM:
20214F12831H

LXEFEERA:
2022F4H27H

{FRREELEIR:
2%
(B =2023%F12H31H)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Remuneration Committee (Chairman)
Risk Management Committee (Member)
Nominating Committee (Member)
Sustainability Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e Doctor of Philosophy - Principles and
Policies of Regulating Airline Competition,
University of Sheffield, United Kingdom

e Bachelor of Laws, University of Hull, Hull,
United Kingdom

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:
e Bahrain Airport Services Company B.S.C. (c)
(Deputy Chairman/Director)

FRREFEERS:
FHERS (FFF)
NEEREER S (A R)
RBEER= (RRA)
AEFSEARER (R)
FRMEWER:
o AFEL, AEME AT EFHNRNFIEES,
HEBEHEREAF
o EEFL, RERAE
EERFE:
Hth Fih 2 E]:
7
Hth T EEEE(:

o BEMHIZRS AR RIEFK/ES)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 2i

Other Principal Commitments:
e Chief Executive Officer of Gulf Air Group
Holding Company (Bahrain)

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):

e Director of Star Alliance (SG) Pte. Ltd.

e Director of Airline Passenger Experience
Association (US)

Others:

e Former Chief Executive Officer of Star Alliance
(Germany/Singapore)

e Former Chief Operating Officer & General
Counsel of Star Alliance (Germany)

e Former General Counsel & VP Corporate
Services of Star Alliance (Germany)

FEER:
o BIIMTIERAT (BMH) BFERIT

BE=FHEEEEN
(2021551)%1 HZE2023%F12831H) :
ZELER (BN MABRAE (ESR)
ﬁn?@?i%fﬂﬁﬂé EE) ES)

Efﬁ!'

o BEETER BRI BFENITE

o« BAEETHKR (BE) BEFRTEEBRDER
F min)

o BEETEER BE) ERMRRE LIRS
EllkSES7
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RICHARD YANG

MINGHUI, 54
Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director

Date of first appointment
as a director:
31 May 2021

Date of last re-election
as a director:
27 April 2023

Length of service

as director:

2 years 7 months

(as at 31 December 2023)

17HERNE, 545
IEHTT. I EE

HRHEEEAM:
20214F5831H

LXEFEZRA:
2023%F4H27H

HINEEFER:
2FE7TMH
(B =2023%F12H31H)

Board Committee(s) served on:
Audit Committee (Member)
Remuneration Committee (Member)

Academic and Professional Qualification(s):

e PHD in Business Administration West Coast
University (USA)

e Master of Business Administration Columbia
South University (USA)

¢ Bachelor Degree in Mechanical Engineering
Huazhong University of Science &
Technology (China)

Present Directorships:

Other Listed Companies:
Nil

Other Principal Directorships:

¢ Shenzhen Cheng Yuan Aviation Qil Co., Ltd
(Vice Chairman)

e South China Bluesky Aviation Oil Co., Ltd
(Vice Chairman)

HEAERERS:
HITEZR= (R)
FHERS (BR)

FEARMEWZER:

s XEAEBEREAFIREEELRN
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Other Principal Commitments:
e General Manager (China Aviation Sector) of
BP (China) Holding Company

Past Directorships held over

the preceding 3 years

(from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023):
Nil

Others:

e Former Board Director, General Manager of
ABC Company

e Former Part-time Consultant in Automobile
Business

e Former Asia Senior Vice President and
General Manager (China) of TPl Composites
Group

e Former Vice President (Heavy Industries &
Services) of SKF Sales Ltd

e Former Director (Strategic Industries) of SKF
China Ltd

e Former General Manager of SKF (Shanghai)
Automotive Bearings Co., Ltd
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DIRECTORS
Shi Yanliang
(Executive Chairman)

Teo Ser Luck
(Lead Independent Director)

Shi Lei
(Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director)

Zhang Yuchen
(Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director)

Lin Yi
(Chief Executive Officer/
Executive Director)

Hee Theng Fong
(Independent Director)

Fu Xingran
(Independent Director)

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong (Chairman)
Shi Lei (Vice Chairman)

Hee Theng Fong

Fu Xingran

Richard Yang Minghui

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Fu Xingran (Chairman)

Shi Lei (Vice Chairman)

Teo Ser Luck

Zhang Yuchen

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Hee Theng Fong (Chairman)

Zhang Yuchen (Vice Chairman)

Teo Ser Luck

Shi Lei

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
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AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP
(Appointed on 20 April 2016)

6 Shenton Way #33-00

OUE Downtown 2

Singapore 068309

Partner in charge: Seah Gek Choo
(Since financial year 2022)

SHARE REGISTRAR AND SHARE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.

1 Harbourfront Avenue
Keppel Bay Tower #14-07
Singapore 098632

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Bank of China Limited
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd

China Construction Bank Corporation Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Overseas-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Corporation Limited

Teo Ser Luck (Chairman)
Zhang Yuchen (Vice Chairman)

(Independent Director)

Richard Yang Minghui
(Non-Executive,
Non-Independent Director)

Hee Theng Fong
Fu Xingran
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

United Overseas Bank Limited

Teo Ser Luck (Chairman) Doreen Nah 8 Temasek Boulevard

Zhang Yuchen (Vice Chairman) #31-02 Suntec Tower Three

Hee Theng Fong Singapore 038988

Fu Xingran Tel: (65) 6334 8979

Richard Yang Minghui Fax: (65) 6333 5283
Website: www.caosco.com
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Harnessing the synergies of our oil-related
businesses and supply and trading activities,
we will continue to improve operational

efficiency across our value chain, optimise

resource utilisation and strengthen
partnerships to sustain our performance and
maintain our market leadership.
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Chief Executive Officer/
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The complex geopolitical and economic environment
compounded by volatile oil prices and elevating business
risks continued to exacerbate operational challenges for
China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (“CAQ”) in
2023. Despite the challenges and difficulties faced, the
Company remained steadfast in executing the strategic
direction of the Board of Directors. Under the leadership of
the Management, our staff rose to the occasion with a keen
focus on business innovation and strengthening strategic
partnerships, underpinned by the Company’s mission to
create value for its stakeholders as well as adhering to
the principle of deriving sustainable growth.

As of 31 December 2023, our operating profit rose 80%
year-on-year and accounted for 54% of CAO’s total profit.
Gross profit derived from the international trading of oil
products increased 21% year-on-year contributing 58%
of the Company’s total gross profit. As evident from our
financial results, in addition to optimising our revenue
structure, the Company had also increased the profitability
of its proprietary international trading business.

CAQO’s accomplishments would not be possible without
the strong support and guidance from our parent
company, China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited

hE R 75 i 22

CHINA EASTERN
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(“CNAF”), along with the cooperation and trust from
our suppliers, trading counterparties, banks and other
business partners. On behalf of the Management and alll
staff of CAO, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
to all our shareholders and industry partners.

The Group remained committed to effective risk
management while undertaking business transformation
last year. We adhered strictly to our four-tier risk
management framework and upheld high compliance
standards and robust risk control measures across
all operations. The Group actively analyses market
structures and trends to conduct profitable jet fuel
arbitrage trading from Asia to North America and Europe.
Our newly expanded proprietary jet fuel supply business
at Ted Stevens Anchorage International Airport (“ANC”)
not only served to enhance and complete our integrated
supply chain at ANC, but had also strengthened the
Group’s globalised trading network, allowing us to supply
jet fuel and refuelling services to 32 airports and 57 airlines
outside of mainland China.

To deepen our strategic partnership, the Company signed
a letter of intent with China Eastern Airlines at the 2023
China International Import Expo to supply jet fuel to China

FEFEFMR IS S EAESINR

China Eastern Air Holding Company Limited Signing Ceremony

REKRGRE

CHINA EASTERN

B & il R

China Aviation Oil (Singapore)

LOI for International Aviatinn Fuel Procurement

—a
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The Company signed a letter of intent with China Eastern Airlines at the 2023 China International Import Expo to supply jet fuel to China Eastern Airlines’
aircrafts and explore further collaboration opportunities in the global aviation industry.
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At our 30" anniversary celebrations graced by the presence of Mr Chee Hong Tat, Minister for Transport and Second Minister for Finance, CAO made a
donation to non-profit social service organisation, HUG Community Services Limited.
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Eastern Airlines’ aircrafts and explore further collaboration
opportunities in the global aviation industry. As the
Company strives towards becoming a green enterprise,
we have established a comprehensive business model
of “physical cargo procurement, logistics and sales”
for biofuels contributing to a 4,679-tonne reduction in
CO,eq emissions, which is a significant milestone for
the Company as we transition into a green, low-carbon
emissions corporation.

In 2023, we continued to fulfil our corporate social
responsibility while steadily advancing the digital
transformation of the Company. At our 30" anniversary
celebrations graced by the presence of Mr Chee
Hong Tat, Minister for Transport and Second Minister
for Finance, CAO made a donation to non-profit
social service organisation, HUG Community Services
Limited, to support its social welfare initiatives to forge
a better environment for troubled youths. The Company
increased its efforts in embracing digital technology
and had filed a patent application for its self-developed
aviation market bidding management system with the
Intellectual Property Office of Singapore. The Company

had also successfully completed the software copyright
registration for the aforesaid system with the Copyright
Protection Centre of China.

With 2023 behind us, we stand ready to embrace new
challenges in 2024. Moving forward, the complex
business environment and macro-economy will continue
to exacerbate operational risks for the Company. On that
note, Management will continue to lead all staff in adhering
to prudent business strategies as we pursue growth
opportunities. We will also strive to further strengthen our
risk controls, expand the Group’s globalised jet fuel supply
and trading network, digitise the Company’s management
services, and establish a green energy supply chain
as well as develop a business model for the trading of
sustainable oil products. We remain steadfast in executing
the strategic directions of the Board of Directors and
delivering a creditable performance for our shareholders in
the year ahead.

Lin Yi
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director
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CAO was presented the “Most Transparent Company” (Energy Category) at the SIAS Investors’ Choice Awards last year; it was CAQ’s 10" win at the SIAS

Investors’ Choice Awards.
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JET FUEL MARKET REVIEW

The reopening of borders in China was the main growth
driver for jet fuel demand in Asia-Pacific region in 2023.
With the rapid recovery of the domestic civil aviation
market, China’s jet fuel demand surged 73% or 340,000
barrels per day (“bpd”) to 810,000 bpd from the low base
level seen in 2022. The overall jet demand in Asia-Pacific
region rose to 2.38 million bpd in 2023 up 599,000 bpd
compared to 1.78 million bpd in 2022 largely driven by
demand from China. However, regional spot supply of jet
fuel remained ample. In 2023, Asia-Pacific jet fuel supply
grew by 608,000 bpd compared to 2022.

In a nutshell, Asian Jet fuel market oscillated downwards
amid significant volatility in 2023 as supply growth
outstripped demand growth and arbitrage windows from
Asia-Pacific to Europe were largely unavailable. Average
jet fuel price in 2023 based on Singapore Platts was
US$104.57 per barrel in 2023, down by U$22.32 per
barrel or 17.6% compared to annual average jet fuel price
of US$126.89 per barrel in 2022.

Highlights of Jet fuel supply and trading activities
in 2023

The import demand from China remained relatively low in
2023 as the recovery of China’s international flight volume
was lower than expected recovering to about 50% of
pre-pandemic levels. On the other hand, procurement
cost and inventory cost increased significantly due to the
backwardation structure on jet fuel spot prices, which
squeezed supply margins. The jet fuel team surmounted

el §° r - ‘ .

the challenges of reduced jet fuel imports and rising
procurement costs through effective resource optimisation
and timely decision-making. By consistently lowering
procurement and supply costs, the Company successfully
maintained a comparably stronger position for jet fuel
import into China.

CAQ plays an active role in strengthening coordination
between our subsidiaries to secure competitive jet fuel
resources in Asia, seizing limited opportunity when
arbitrage windows between East and West are open
and driving cross-regional jet fuel trading from Asia to
North America and Europe. The jet fuel team continually
enhances its effectiveness in cross-regional jet fuel trading,
aiming for sustained improvement.

Jet fuel market outlook and trading strategies
in 2024

On the supply side, Asian jet fuel supply is expected to
increase by 316,000 bpd to 3.26 million bpd in 2024
driven by output expansion in China, according to data
from Platts. Furthermore, growth in jet demand mainly led
by China, India, and Southeast Asia, will push the overall
demand for jet fuel in the Asia-Pacific to reach 2.64 million
bpd in 2024, an increase of approximately 264,000 bpd
from 2023. However, uncertainties in the macroeconomic
outlook and expectations of geopolitical conflicts may limit
the growth of jet fuel demand in the Asia-Pacific region and
increase procurement cost and market volatility. In view
of all these factors, Asian jet fuel market is expected to
maintain backwardation structure amid market fluctuations
in 2024

The Company will actively pursue jet fuel export opportunities from Chinese and other Asian refineries.

AR SRR ENEEIMNE BUERONS.
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CAO will continue to maintain close communication with
domestic jet fuel end users to understand their needs
and enhance service offerings. We will also actively seize
market opportunities, focus on our jet fuel supply business
in Pudong, flexibly adjust domestic and international supply
resources and logistics methods to reduce procurement
costs and enhance supply efficiency. In addition, the
team will actively pursue jet fuel export opportunities
from Chinese and other Asian refineries, coordinate and
optimise jet fuel resources in Asia, support cross-regional
trades, and explore new trade flows. The team will further
strengthen the optimisation of existing cross-regional jet
fuel supply and explore new profit growth opportunities to
augment the Group’s trading capabilities.

AVIATION MARKETING REVIEW

Airline profitability improved significantly in 2023 as the
global aviation industry recovered rapidly post-pandemic.
Passenger air travel saw the number of passenger flights
reaching 98% of 2019 levels, while cargo flights was 90%
of 2019 levels. However, recovery in the Asia-Pacific region
lagged behind other markets reaching 93% of 2019 levels.

The conflicts in Ukraine, Russia, and the Middle East
briefly pushed up oil prices and logistics costs. Based on
the data released by IATA, the global passenger revenue
in 2023 reached US$642 billion. However, cargo revenue
continued declines to reach US$134.7 bilion in 2023
down from peak levels of US$210 billion in 2021.

Highlights of Aviation Marketing Activities in 2023

In 2023, total sales volume in aviation marketing reached
2.07 million mt, representing a 24% increase from 1.667
million mt in 2022. This is mainly due to the increase in the
number of flights between Asia and Europe/USA, which
in turn contributed to the significant growth in NAFCO'’s
and CAFEU’s back-to-back supply business as well as the
Group’s supply business in Asia.

To further advance CAOQO’s sustainability initiatives,
we actively pursued business opportunities in the
sustainable aviation fuel (“SAF”). In 2023, the Company
successfully completed the purchase, shipment and
into-plane supply of SAF at Amsterdam Airport. This also
included sustainability registration of the SAF supplied and
transferring the carbon credits to end users.

Aviation Market Outlook and trading strategies
in 2024

Despite continued geopolitical uncertainties, the global
economy is expected to expand around 3.1% in 2024

driven by the slowing pace of U.S. interest rate hikes,
easing inflationary pressures, and further economic
recovery in China based on data from the international
Monetary Fund. Commercial flights for both passengers
and cargo are similarly expected to grow in tandem and
reflects the growing resilience of the aviation industry.

According to data from IATA, 2024 is expected to be a
record-breaking year for airline profits and passenger
numbers, with an estimated 4.7 billion people surpassing
the 2019 pre-pandemic peak by 200 million travellers.
Global air passenger revenue is projected to increase by
7.6% to reach a record US$964 billion, while cargo is
projected to grow rapidly to reach US$111 billion.

The aviation marketing team will continue to adhere to strict
risk assessment of airline companies in 2024 and prudently
carry out its aviation marketing business. At the same time,
the team will strive to retain contracts and market shares
with existing airlines, and carefully evaluate and promote
the supply business to new airlines and new airports.
The Company also seek to carry out global strategic
cooperation with several major aviation fuel suppliers,
expand supply channels, enrich supply means, and
improve our global aviation supply capacity.

As an important new business development target,
we will actively develop our SAF business, establish a
sustainable SAF supply and trade structure led by CAFEU
by leveraging Europe’s policy advantage in SAF (European
Union mandates a 2% SAF blending ratio by 2025).
The team will also pay close attention to China’s SAF-
related policies and demands, making all necessary
preparation for its SAF supply business.

OTHER OIL PRODUCTS MARKET REVIEW

In 2023, international crude oil market experienced
sharp swings in volatility amidst a clear downward trend.
Annualised average price of U.S. West Texas Intermediate
(“WTI”) and Brent crude futures fell 17.6% and 16.9% year-
on-year to US$77.7 and US$82.3 per barrel respectively.
This was in part driven by geopolitical conflicts such as
the Russia-Ukraine war, the Israel-Palestine conflict, and
the Red Sea shipping crisis, and further exacerbated by
a slowdown in global oil demand growth and increased
oil production market share in non-OPEC+ countries such
as the United States. In all, 2023 was a very volatile year,
with large fluctuations in benchmark Brent prices, ranging
between US$71.0 and US$96.0 per barrel. Furthermore,
the continued adaptation of renewable energy sources and
the structural changes in global energy institutions have
deeply influenced the outlook of global energy markets.
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The aviation marketing team will continue to adhere to strict risk assessment of airline companies in 2024.
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Highlights of other oil products trading activities
in 2023

The Group overcame the impact of Russian oil on the
Asian market to actively expand our fuel oil, condensate,
and naphtha procurement business to supply our clients
and end-users in China and the greater Asia-Pacific
region. Leveraging on our expertise in trading, operations
and chartering, we augmented our diverse trade flows
through integrating our resource procurement, logistics
and end-user sales proficiencies to further enhance our
trading profits. In 2023, the cumulative trading volume for
other oil products reached 10.19 million mt.

Other Oil Products Market outlook and trading
strategies in 2024

Volatilities in international oil market are expected to persist
in 2024. Muted global oil demand growth coupled with
supply concerns driven by non-OPEC+ oil producers,
led by the United States which is expected to maintain
high production growth will continue to dominate global
oil market fundamentals and place downward pressure
on oil prices. On the other hand, there is a certain market
expectation that Saudi Arabia and other OPEC+ members

will extend existing production reduction measures until the
end of the year, aiming to offset this downward pressure
on oil prices.

Furthermore, the complex geopolitical situation, in
particular continuation of the Russia-Ukraine war and
escalation of tensions in the Middle East, alongside the
delicate balance between tightening and easing sanctions
on oil exporters such as Iran and Venezuela, may amplify
the price fluctuations in the international oil market.

However, from an oil trading perspective, there are still
many opportunities we can capitalise on. The gradual
economic recovery in China will spur greater demand
for raw materials against the backdrop of the Red Sea
crisis restricting Russian and Western oil supplies to Asia.
This means that barrels from the Middle East will play a
crucial, defining role in maintaining the demand-supply
balance in Asia. The oil trading team will capitalise on
our strong expertise and deep experience in resource
procurement in the Middle East to seize this unique
opportunity in enhancing our ability to supply end-
users and clients in Asia, thereby generating greater
trading profits.
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INVESTMENTS IN OIL-RELATED ASSETS

Shanghai Pudong International Airport Aviation Fuel
Supply Company Ltd (“SPIA”)

Established in 1997, SPIA is the exclusive supplier of
jet fuel and into-plane services at Shanghai Pudong
International Airport (“Pudong Airport”), one of the busiest
airports in the PRC in terms of air passenger numbers.

It owns and operates all refuelling facilities at Pudong
Airport, including a full suite of hydrant systems, a fleet
of dispensers and refuelling trucks, refuelling stations,
an airport tank farm, a 42-km dedicated jet fuel pipeline
connecting Pudong Airport to Waigaogiao terminal with
storage facilities of 200,000 m? in capacity. CAO owns
a 33% stake in SPIA, with Shanghai International Airport
Co., Ltd owning 40% and Sinopec Shanghai Gaogiao
Petrochemical Co., Ltd owning 27% respectively.

As a major international aviation hub in East Asia, Pudong
Airport is one of the best connected airport hubs in
China. Pudong Airport had shown remarkable growth
in 2023, with a passenger throughput of 54.25 million
passengers, an increase of 282% year-on-year. SPIA's
total sales (refuelling) volume of jet fuel for FY2023 was
3.26 million mt, a year-on-year increase of 83.88%. SPIA is
expected to benefit from the increase of international and
domestic flights, leading to better business performance
for FY2024.

China National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline
Transportation Corporation Ltd (“TSN-PEKCL”)

Established in 2008, TSN-PEKCL is a pipeline company
supplying jet fuel to Beijing Capital International Airport
(“Beijing Capital Airport”) and Tianjin Binhai International
Airport (“Tianjin Airport”). China National Aviation Fuel
Group Logistics Co., Ltd. and CAO hold 51% and
49% stakes in TSN-PEKCL respectively. Its key asset
is a 185-km long jet fuel transportation pipeline which
links Tianjin Tanggu Nanjiang Port, Tianjin Airport and
Beijing Airport.

In 2023, TSN-PEKCL’s total aviation fuel transportation
volume increased 123% year-on-year to 1.36 million mt.

Shenzhen Zhenghe Petrochemicals Co., Ltd
(“Zhenghe”)

Engaged in the business of storage tank leasing and
trading of oil products, Zhenghe's key asset is a storage
tank farm located in the city of Maoming, Guangdong
Province, China, with a total storage capacity of
79,000 m@.

Zhenghe’s shareholders include Zhenghe Juzhengyuan
Co., Ltd, CAO and CNAF, holding 60%, 39% and 1%
stakes, respectively. In 2023, Zhenghe continued to be
affected by the slower-than-expected recovery and
recorded minor losses.

Oilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd (“OKYC”)

OKYC, the largest independent storage tank terminal
in Yeosu, South Korea, was incorporated under a joint
venture agreement with six other companies including
Korea National Oil Corporation (“KNOC”), GS Caltex,
SK Incheon Petrochem, Samsung C&T, SL Corporation
(formerly known as Seoul Line Corporation) and LG
International. CAQ is the second largest shareholder with
26% equity stake after KNOC, which holds 29% of the
total issued shares of OKYC.

Strategically located at the centre of the North-East Asian
region with easy access to major oil consuming countries
and well equipped for very large crude carriers (VLCC)
loading and discharging at berth up to 17.7 metres, OKYC
owns and operates a commercial storage tank terminal
with a total capacity of 1.3 million m?3, capable of storing
crude oil and oil products including jet fuel.

Following the recovery of global oil demand in 2023, OKYC
saw a steady rise in its business volume and recorded an
increase of 8.98% in its annual operating income.

CAO Management inspecting the oil storage facilities at OKYC.
REFUHEIINR AR EEREEMHE EOKYCHE XK IR,
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CNAF Hong Kong Refuelling Limited (“CNAF HKR”)

CNAF HKR provides high quality into-plane fuelling
services at Hong Kong International Airport (“HKIA”)
at Chek Lap Kok. As the third licensed refueller at
HKIA, CNAF HKR is well-equipped with a fleet of
specialised hydrant dispensers and bowsers which
are supported by a refuelling station that comes with an
administration building and scheduling office sited in a
3,000 m? compound. Shareholders of CNAF HKR include
CAOHK, Shenzhen Cheng Yuan Aviation Oil Company,
China United Petroleum (Holding) Company Limited and
Cheer Luck Investment Limited. Upon the completion of
capital injection in May 2022, CAO’s shareholding in CNAF
HKR through CAOHK increased from 39% to 68%, making
CNAF HKR a majority-owned subsidiary of CAOHK.
The remaining three shareholders of CNAF HKR currently
hold equity stakes of 18.5%, 8.5% and 5% respectively.

As the Hong Kong SAR government gradually lifted entry
quarantine and other testing requirements, passenger
throughput at HKIA rebounded significantly. Overall, HKIA
handled a total of 39.5 million passengers in 2023, a six-fold

The team from CAOHK conducting safety inspections at CNAF HKR.
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increase from the previous year. While CNAF HKR has
yet to reach profitability, its financial performance had
improved significantly compared to 2022.

Aircraft Fuel Supply B.V. (“AFS”)

AFS, incorporated in the Netherlands, holds the concession
from the Schiphol Airport Authority to manage the storage
and distribution of jet fuel on behalf of its shareholders to
airlines at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol (“Schiphol Airport”).
CAO holds 12.5% of AFS’s issued shares while the other
shareholders include major airline companies and several
oil majors.

As one of the best connected airport hubs in Europe and
the main international airport of the Netherlands, Schiphol
Airport, is equipped with the capacity to handle up to
500,000 flights annually. Following the easing of travel
restrictions since 2022, Schiphol Airport’s passenger
throughput in 2023 was 61.7 milion, a year-on-year
increase of 17.52%. With more borders now open and
travel demand soaring, Schiphol Airport is expected to
achieve better performance in 2024.
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CAO is the largest physical jet fuel buy

n Asia Pacific and a key importer of jet fuel to the civil aviation industry of the PRC.
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The Company’s Board of Directors and management team addressed questions from shareholders at the 2023 AGM of CAQ.

AREESMEERBIL T ANRE T RANBER

Upholding high standards of corporate governance and
transparency are strategic management priorities for CAQ.
We remained steadfast in our commitment to maintain
active and open communication with our shareholders
and as we moved towards a post-COVID environment,
the Group stepped up efforts to communicate and engage
with the investment community. To ensure a sustained
and prompt flow of communication with the investment
community about the Group’s business operations and
performance, we organised three investor group meetings
with the CAO management and participated in five
investor conferences organised by international financial
institutions in Singapore and Thailand during the year.

In line with SGX-ST’s Corporate Disclosure Policy,
the Company continued to engage with investors
globally, addressing key global and industry-specific
issues on the Group and the various measures taken
to mitigate challenges posed by the pandemic on
several of the Group’s key markets. At the 2023 Annual
General Meeting (“AGM”) of CAO, the Company’s
Board of Directors and management team presented
the FY2022 business performance and addressed
questions from shareholders who attended the AGM
in person. Updates on the Group’s business, financial
performance and market outlook were also provided
through an analysts briefing held at CAO’s office

following the announcement of the Group’s FY2022
financial results.

On the last trading day of the year, CAQ’s share price
closed at S$0.88 per share, with a market capitalisation
of S$757 million. CAQO continued to remain as a constituent
in major benchmark indices including FTSE ST China,
FTSE ST Small Cap, FTSE Singapore Shariah Index and
MSCI Singapore Small Cap Indexes.

CAO remains committed to delivering shareholder value
with a dividend payout based on 30% of the Group’s
annual consolidated net profit attributable to shareholders.
At the upcoming AGM, the Board of Directors will propose
a one-tier, tax-exempt first and final dividend of 2.71
Singapore cents per share, and a one-off, tax exempt
special dividend of 2.34 Singapore cents per share.

GLOBAL BASE OF INTERNATIONAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, China National Aviation Fuel
Group Limited remains our largest shareholder holding
51.31% of the total issued shares of CAO (excluding
treasury shares). BP Investments Asia Limited, a subsidiary
of oil major BP Plc, is the second largest shareholder
holding 20.17% of total issued shares of CAO (excluding
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treasury shares). Total number of treasury shares held by
CAO remained unchanged at 6,000,000 for the financial
year 2023. The number of registered shareholders
was approximately 12,380 in 2023. An analysis of the
shareholding structure carried out as at 31 December
2023 showed that institutional holdings accounted for
over 12.45% of the total issued shares, comprising
institutional investors predominantly from Singapore,
the United Kingdom, Malaysia, United States, Hong Kong
SAR, Australia and Europe.

PROACTIVE & OPEN COMMUNICATION WITH
THE INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

Through transparent and open communication with
investors, and timely disclosures on the Group’s latest
developments, CAQO is aptly covered by sell-side analysts
from various brokerages who regularly publish research
and industry reports. In FY2023, CAO actively sought to
enhance market awareness and boost analyst coverage
of its shares. A total of three additional brokerages,
CGS-CIMB, OCBC/Bank of Singapore and Philips
Securities initiated coverage on the Company publishing
eight in-depth analyst reports on CAO’s investment merits
over the course of the year.

Alongside our interactions with both retail and institutional
investors, we also monitor media reports closely as part of
our efforts to continually improve corporate disclosure and
investor relations practices. In 2023, CAO was featured

in 50 media articles, sustaining the Group’s share of
voice in Singapore as well as internationally even as the
Group continued to maintain a robust, mobile-compatible
corporate website to provide useful information to investors
in a timely manner.

Testament to the market recognition for CAQO’s
continuing efforts in enhancing corporate governance
and transparency, we received the “Most Transparent
Company” (Energy Category) at the 2023 Securities
Investors Association (Singapore) (“SIAS”) Investors’
Choice Awards as well as the “Industry Champions of the
Year” award from the 2023 Asia Corporate Excellence &
Sustainability (“ACES”) awards in November 2023, marking
a new milestone in our sustainable development journey.

This is CAO’s 10" win at the SIAS Investors’ Choice
Awards and its inaugural win at the ACES awards.
To successively receive these esteemed awards gives
further affirmation of CAQO’s commitment to corporate
excellence as well as reputation and capabilities that it has
established in Singapore over the past 30 years. These
awards are also a timely achievement as CAQO celebrates
its 30" anniversary of establishment in Singapore.

Looking ahead, we will continue to build on our steadfast
commitment to create shareholder value and ensure
effective investor relations, upholding the requirements
of the Code of Corporate Governance and best
governance practices.

CAO remains steadfast in our commitment to maintain active and open communication with analysts and institutional investors though regular results
briefing sessions.

NEMEBERED W SN B S5 D TIMAANERAEE RIFRIR AFEERE.




46 CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CEO’S STRATEGIC REPORT - INVESTOR RELATIONS
HENTEHRIRSE —RBEXR

2023 CAO SHARE PRICE MOVEMENT & TRADING VOLUME
2023F MK ARIRNMEL SR 7 E

r 1.200

1.100

~ 1.000

- 0.900

- 0.800

- 0.700

 0.600

Jan Feb Mar Jun Jul

2023

Apr May Aug Sep

SHARE PRICE INFORMATION

Oct

Nov Dec

RMEE
Share Price (S$)
B2 (F5T) 2019 2020 2021 2022
As at last trading day of the year
BEUENSE—1TEA 1.27 1.06 0.94 0.89 0.88
Highest == 1" 1.47 1.32 1.20 0.96 1.10
Lowest 1K 1.04 0.72 0.91 0.64 0.73
Average 15 1.26 1.02 1.05 0.85 0.92

Source: Bloomberg
FRERR 28t

CORPORATE CALENDAR
REESHEIR

Announcement of 2H2023 and 2023 full-year financial results

29 February 2024

2024 FF FHEMEeFWSERE

2023 F FHFMEF USRS 2024525 29H
30" Annual General Meeting 25 April 2024
FEIELRABEFRARES 2024F4825H
Proposed First and Final Dividend for FY2023/Proposed Special Dividend for FY2023

2028 FE R R FEARBRFFAIRE

Record Date 13 May 2024
ZicH 2024F5813H
Payment date 27 May 2024
NE/d=! 2024F5827H
Announcement of 1H2024 results 13 August 2024
2024 F EFFIWHAH 2024F8813H
Announcement of 2H2024 and 2024 full-year financial results February 2025

2025828
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As part of our 30" Anniversary celebrations, the Company marked the start
of the trading day through a gong ceremony on 26 March 2023.
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Left to right: Lin Yi, Zou Yaoping, Shi Yanliang
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SHI YANLIANG
Executive Chairman

Mr Shi Yanliang is responsible for charting the overall
corporate strategy, planning and development of the
Group. He also provides guidance and support to the senior
management, ensuring that the Company’s operational
objectives and sustainability goals are being met.

As Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company,
Mr Shi presides over meetings of the Board of Directors
as well as annual general meetings of the Company, and
oversees the implementation of Board resolutions. He also
acts as a liaison between the Company’s management

and members of the Board of Directors, upholding
effective corporate governance, fostering collaboration
and constructive dialogues, and ensuring the smooth
functioning of the Board and its Board Committees.

With almost three decades of experience in the petroleum
industry, Mr Shi is a respected senior corporate leader
and has held various leadership positions at various
PRC state-owned enterprises. Prior to this appointment,
Mr Shi’'s principal appointment was as Chairman of China
National Aviation Petrochemicals Pipeline Co. Ltd.

Please refer to the profile of Mr Shi under “Board of
Directors” section for more information.
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LIN YI
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director

As the Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director of the
Company, Mr Lin Yi has overall responsibility for the
management of the businesses of the Group. His key
responsibilities include providing leadership for all aspects
of the Group’s business operations and implementing the
business strategies of the Group to achieve operating
targets and business growth.

Prior to his appointment as Chief Executive Officer/
Executive Director of the Company, Mr Lin was the
General Manager of China National Aviation Fuel South
China Bluesky Corporation Ltd, a position he held since
November 2018.

He is also the Chairman of North American Fuel
Corporation, China Aviation Oil (Hong Kong) Company
Limited and China Aviation Fuel (Europe) Limited,
overseeing the Group’s day-to-day business operations in
USA, Hong Kong SAR and Europe respectively.

Please refer to the profile of Mr Lin Yi under “Board of
Directors” section for more information.

ZOU YAOPING
Chief Financial Officer/Vice President

As the Chief Financial Office/Vice President of the Company;,
Mr Zou Yaoping is responsible for the Company’s financial
management functions and oversees the Group’s financial
reporting and accounting practices, financial planning
and analysis, treasury, and tax-related matters. Besides
overseeing the Finance Department, Mr Zou also has
oversight responsibility over the Risk Management
Department and other management functions.

Mr Zou joined the Company in September 2021 as Vice
President and had oversight responsibilities over the
Aviation Fuel and Qil Products Trading Departments.
He was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company in September 2022. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr Zou was the Deputy General Manager-
Finance of China National Aviation Fuel Group
Limited (“CNAF”) from May 2017 to August 2021.
He joined CNAF in 2005 and had held various senior
management roles with a portfolio spanning finance
management, financial investment, and hedging
management in the Finance Department of CNAF as well
as China National Aviation Fuel Finance Co., Ltd.

Mr Zou graduated from Central South University, China,
with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics (majoring in
International Finance) as well as a Master of Business
Administration. He is also a certified Senior Economist.
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Seeing beyond cyclical and other challenges
and in line with our sustainability objectives,
we will focus on expanding product offerings
such as sustainable aviation fuel and
exploring investments in oil-related assets
that are synergistic to our core businesses.
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The aviation industry posted a healthy recovery in 2023
following three challenging years marked by significant
losses due to the COVID pandemic. Despite ongoing
macroeconomic challenges such as elevated inflation,
interest rate fluctuations, and global supply chain
disruptions, CAO fortified its sustainability and climate
strategy, responding proactively to the dynamic global and
economic landscape. CAO publishes the 7" Sustainability
Report with reference to the Universal Standards and Global
Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) 11 Oil and Gas Sector Standard
2021. The report reflects CAO’s ongoing commitment to

being transparent about its Environmental, Social, and
Governance (“ESG”) performance and achievements
relevant to its business and stakeholders.

CAO maintains regular dialogue with its stakeholders
through diverse channels to ensure that most pertinent
sustainability issues are addressed. These engagement
practices allow CAO to gain a deeper understanding
of its stakeholders’ varied perspectives and priorities,
leading to more effective responses and initiatives that
cater to their concerns.

Key Stakeholder
Group Engagement Method Key Concerns Raised
Employees ¢ Induction programme for new e Workplace health and safety e Adheres to people-oriented
employees e Career development management
e Training and development e Employee welfare ® Provides fair, safe work
programmes e Remuneration and benefits environment
e Work performance appraisals e Enhancement of knowledge on | ¢ Creates professional
and feedback sustainability issues development opportunities
® Recreational and wellness * Maintains open dialogue with
activities employees
e Employee feedback channels
* Regular e-mails and meetings
Customers e Regular meetings to e Compliance with environmental | ¢ Upholds mutually beneficial
communicate updates, including regulations customer relations
new policies and practices e Stability and transparency in e Strives for open dialogue to
e Site visits business operations understand customer needs
e Reliability of CAO’s supply chain | ¢ Continuously improves service
e Potential opportunity in quality
sustainable products such as
sustainable aviation fuel
Investors e Updates of financial results e Growth strategy, market e Upholds highest corporate
and announcements, business outlook, return on investment governance standards
developments, press releases, | ® Sound management of ESG Maximises investor returns
and other relevant disclosures risk and opportunities e Standardises operations for
via SGXNet and CAO’s website efficiency
e Annual General Meeting e Focuses on achieving
sustainable development
e Ensures accurate and timely
communication with investors
Media e Timely media releases e Business continuity, strategies, | ® Ensures timely and transparent
¢ Annual reports and sustainability policies, performance, and disclosures
reports targets
e CAO corporate website e Sustainability commitments,
e (Ongoing email responses progress, and performance
Government and e Company announcements e Regulatory and legal compliance | ®¢ Ensures compliance with laws
Regulators e News releases e Sustainability roadmap and and regulations
e Corporate presentations on targets e Supports the national carbon
website e Employees’ well-being ambition by implementing
e Regular meetings to strategies to reduce carbon
communicate updates, including footprint
new policies and practices e Enhances employee welfare
through various initiatives
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Company announcements

Key Stakeholder

Group Engagement Method
Industry .

associations News releases

e Corporate presentations on

website

Regular meetings to
communicate updates, including
new policies and practices

Key Concerns Raisec
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Low carbon transition and o
sustainable development
Climate-change strategy
Sustainable supply chain .
Close communication and
collaboration

Monitors sustainability
performance, strategies,
targets and performance
Seeks partnership to jointly
drive sustainable development
of industry

Business Partners/
Suppliers

Regular meetings to
communicate updates, including
new policies and practices

Site visits

Regulatory and legal compliance | ®
Sustainable supply chain
Close communication and o
collaboration

Value creation through
partnership o

Ensures compliance with laws
and regulations

Upholds our Code of Conduct,
foster strategic and long-term
relationship

Maintains open communication
with business partners and
suppliers

NGO & Local
Community

Engagement during events
organised with various
community groups
Collaboration and partnership
with various local groups

Compliance with laws and .
regulations
Contribution to the community

Strives to place social
responsibility at core of
sustainable development goals
Invests to enhance community
well-being

With a global reach, CAO prioritised managing ESG aspects and developed a 5-year sustainability roadmap and
implementation plan. This roadmap focuses on four pillars: Valuing Nature, Empowering Well-being, Developing Together,
and Governing with Excellence, reinforcing our leadership position in our transition towards a sustainable future.

Upholding responsible energy business practices, we drive the transition
towards sustainable and green development

Valuing
Nature

Empowering
Wellbeing

Fostering
Collaborative Innovation

Governing
with Excellence

Climate change is a shared
challenge confronting all of
humanity. Our commitment
lies in adopting green
transition practices,
formulating climate change
adaptation strategies,

enhancing climate resilience,

and fostering a harmonious
relationship between
humanity and nature.

e Low Carbon Transition
and Carbon Neutrality

e (Climate Change Strategy

* Biodiversity and
Ecological Impact

Talent serves as the
cornerstone of high-quality
social development. We
actively promote the
realisation of individual
self-worth, emphasise the
importance of health and
well-being, contribute to
community development,
and foster a symbiotic

relationship, ensuring mutual

growth for both individuals
and organisations.

Diversity and Equal
Opportunity

Health And Safety
Community Investment
and Development

Collaboration represents
the optimal solution for
addressing challenges

and achieving joint
development. We actively
engage with our partners
to establish a symbiotic
business ecosystem that
stimulates innovation in
sustainable aviation fuel,
facilitating a green transition
and fostering sustainable
development within the
Aviation industry.

e Sustainable Aviation Fuel
e Sustainable Supply Chain

Integrity is the cornerstone
of long-term corporate
development. Adhering to
stringent business ethics,
reinforcing governance for
sustainable development,
ensuring responsible
operations, we strive to
foster robust growth and
create enhanced value for
our shareholders.

e Corporate Governance

¢ Asset Integrity and Critical
Incident Management

e Cyber Security and Data
Privacy
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VALUING NATURE

Our commitment rests on adopting green transition
practices, formulating climate change adaptation strategies
and enhancing climate resilience. In 2023, CAO refined its
governance framework to better address sustainability
and climate change, aligning with global standards
and preparing for International Sustainability Standards
Board (“ISSB”) adoption. Guided by the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”), CAO had
established two sets of scenarios: the Below 2°C and 4°C
scenarios. CAO had initiated a comprehensive approach
to climate risk identification, laying the groundwork for
future mitigation strategies.

Additionally, a detailed carbon emission profiling, including
Scope 3 emissions, was conducted. CAO actively
engaged with partners across the value chain to foster
decarbonisation efforts. CAO has established both long-
term and medium-term carbon targets, grounded on a
recalibrated greenhouse gas (GHG) emission inventory.
CAQ’s commitment includes a target to reduce 30%
of scopes 1 and 2 emissions by 2030, with a broader
aspiration to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050.

FOSTERING COLLABORATIVE INNOVATION

Collaboration represents the optimal solution for
addressing challenges and achieving joint development.
CAO actively engages with its partners to establish
a symbiotic business ecosystem that stimulates
innovation in sustainable aviation fuel, facilitating a green
transition and fostering sustainable development. CAO’s
commitment to mitigating climate change is evident from
the intensive efforts made in establishing sustainable
aviation fuel (“SAF”) supply chains and active dialogues
and participations in the industry. In 2023, CAO continued
to explore various opportunities to expand further
into the SAF business and bio-aviation fuel business.
This fiscal year, CAO renewed the ISCC CORSIA
(International Sustainability & Carbon Certificate, “ISCC”;
Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International
Aviation, “CORSIA”) and ISCC EU certifications for
bio-jet fuel and biodiesel, and completed a 3,000-ton
blended bio-jet fuel trade with a business partner.
This reaffirmed CAO’s compliance with the Renewable
Energy Directive (RED Il) and upholds responsible
sourcing and sustainability standards for all feedstocks
used in aviation fuel production. Notably, CAO has

successfully registered with several new SAF suppliers
and counterparties, showcasing its commitment to a
more sustainable supply chain.

EMPOWERING WELL-BEING

CAO is dedicated to empowering well-being by
promoting individual self-worth, prioritising health and
well-being, contributing to community development,
and fostering symbiotic relationships for mutual growth.
CAO engages in ongoing communications to tailor
community development programmes to the specific
needs of its beneficiaries. Through curated projects, such
as providing essential daily necessities to under-privileged
children and their families, organising educational outings
to the Sea Aquarium, and participating in charity runs
organised by the Singapore Exchange, CAO invested in
and support the underprivileged. CAO actively promotes
corporate volunteerism as a means to cultivate stronger
connections with the communities in which the CAO
Group operates. Throughout 2023, CAO sustained its
commitment to fostering volunteerism among the staff,
offering them opportunities to engage in meaningful
community initiatives.

GOVERNING WITH EXCELLENCE

CAO continues to embrace its operating philosophy
of “Compliance as Top Priority, Risk Management of
Utmost Importance” and its management philosophy
of “Transparency, Standardisation and Refinement”.
CAO strives to surpass the requirements of openness,
integrity and accountability prescribed by the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Code of
Corporate Governance 2018. In terms of asset integrity
and critical incident management, CAO employs robust
risk management approaches to ensure that potential
oil spills from oil storage facilities and transportation
pipelines do not occur. In 2023, there were no incidents
of reported oil spills or environmental pollution.

CAO pledges ongoing dedication to its sustainability
framework, focusing on addressing high-impact areas
and managing ESG risks. The Board of Directors remains
committed to leading the Group to maintain top-tier
corporate governance standards, achieve commendable
financial performance, and foster sustainable growth and
value to its stakeholders.
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CAO organised a tree planting activity last year to foster greater awareness
in environmental protection among the staff.
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OVERVIEW

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”),
the Group achieved total revenue of US$14.43 billion,
a decrease of 12.36% compared to US$16.46 billion for
the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022”)
due to the decrease in oil price and volume.

The Group’s operating profit increased by 79.81% to
US$35.61 million for FY2023 as compared to FY2022
mainly due to higher gross profit and other operating
income partially offset by the increase in expenses.

The share of results of associates was US$30.32 million for
FY2023, an increase of 69.36% compared to US$17.90
million for FY2022.

The Group’s net profit attributable to the owners of the
Company in FY2023 rose US$25.32 million or 75.52%
to US$58.86 million. Consequently, Earnings Per Share
attributable to the owners of the Company was higher at
6.84 US cents compared to 3.90 US cents in FY2022.
Return on Equity increased 2.64 percentage points to
6.36%, mainly attributable to the higher profits.

Net cash generated from operating activities in FY2023
was US$54.56 million compared to net cash used in
operating activities of US$88.77 million in FY2022,
an improvement of US$143.33 million mainly attributable
to the decrease in inventories and lower utilisation of
working capital for trading. Net cash generated from
investing activities increased by US$1.81 million to
US$26.26 million due to higher receipt of interest and
dividends from associates in FY2023 partially offset by
the utilisation of funds for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment. Net cash used in financing activities in
FY2023 were US$16.57 million compared to US$26.67
million in FY2022, a decrease of US$10.10 million
attributable to the repayment of bank borrowings
of US$6.20 million assumed from CNAF HKR upon
acquisition in FY2022, coupled with the decrease of
US$2.44 million in repayment of lease liabilities and
US$1.54 million in dividends paid in FY2023.

The Group is proposing a final one-tier tax exempt ordinary
dividend of $$0.0271 per share and a one-tier, tax exempt
special cash dividend of S$0.0234 Singapore cents per
share for FY2023.

Global market conditions are expected to remain
challenging due to oil price volatility, uncertain global
economic growth and heightened geopolitical tensions.
However, with a strong balance sheet, the Group is
well-positioned to leverage on the opportunities presented
by the continued recovery of the global aviation industry
and remains cautiously optimistic of its performance for

The Group will continue to focus on improving efficiency and remain
prudent in financial management to create value for shareholders.
NEBREIRBEENE, RIFFEENM S EIRERE, AR RIFECIENE,

the current financial year, as it remains committed to
strengthening its operational resilience, and continues
to build on its jet fuel supply and trading network,
complemented with trading in other oil products.
The Group will also continue to focus on long-term
profitability by seeking opportunities for strategic expansion
through investments in synergetic and strategic oil-related
assets and businesses.

OPERATING PROFIT

Total supply and trading volume was 20.03 million metric
tonnes (“mt”) for FY2023, a decrease of 1.14% compared
to 20.26 million mt for FY2022. The supply and trading
volume of middle distillates increased 20.29% to 10.02
million mt for FY2023, compared to 8.33 million mt for
FY2022. Despite the drop in ail price, revenue from middle
distillates, which accounted for 60.25% of the Group’s
total revenue in FY2023, increased 1.93% to US$8.69
billion due to an increase in volume. Trading volume for
other oil products, comprising mainly crude oil and fuel oll,
decreased by 1.92 million mt or 16.09% to 10.01 million
mt for FY2023 and generated US$5.74 billion in revenue.

China remains the Group’s largest market, accounting for
60.84% of the Group’s revenue in FY2023, an increase of
7.52 percentage points compared to FY2022.

Gross profit increased by 42.97% to US$50.60 million for
FY2023 compared to US$35.39 million for FY2022, mainly
attributable to higher gains derived from jet supply and
trading of other oil products.
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Other operating income was US$18.72 million for FY2023,
an increase of 1,762.29% compared to US$1.01 million
for FY2022. Bank interest income was US$17.74 million
for FY2023, an increase of US$14.45 million compared
to bank interest income of US$3.29 million for FY2022,
primarily due to higher interest rates and deposits placed
with banks and financial institutions. Exchange differences
was US$0.35 million for FY2023 compared to -US$3.71
million for FY2022, an improvement of US$4.06 million
due to exchange loss resulting from the depreciation of
RMB and Euro dollar against US dollar in FY2022 while
Euro dollar appreciated against US dollar in FY2023.
Other income decreased by US$0.80 million mainly due to
the one-off gain of US$0.82 million from deemed disposal
of an associate in FY2022.

Total expenses increased 103.13% to US$33.70 million for
FY2023 compared to US$16.59 mainly attributable to the
impairment of US$3.38 million in goodwill, impairment of
US$8.65 million in investment of an associate, the increase
of US$0.60 million in staff costs and US$2.46 million in
professional and legal fees. The ECL provision for FY2023
was US$0.91 million compared to US$0.20 million in
FY2022, an increase of US$0.71 million. Bank charges
decreased by US$0.50 million year-on-year.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

Share of results of associates increased 69.36% to
US$30.32 million for FY2023 compared to US$17.90
million for FY2022. Profit contribution from SPIA increased
63.77% to US$31.46 milion for FY2023 compared to
US$19.21 million for FY2022, mainly attrioutable to higher
refuelling volume which led to higher revenue and profit.
Share of results from other associates was -US$1.14
million for FY2023 compared to -US$1.31 million for
FY2022, an improvement of US$0.17 million, mainly due
to higher share of results from OKYC.

NET PROFIT

The Group’s profit before tax at US$65.93 million was
higher by 74.85% compared to US$37.71 million for
FY2022, mainly attributable to the increase in gross profit,
other operating income and share of results, partially offset
by the increase in expenses.

Income tax expense was US$7.56 million for FY2023
compared to U$4.52 million for FY2022, an increase of
US$3.04 million or 67.13% mainly due to higher provision
for income tax.

As a result of higher gross profit, other operating income
and share of results, the Group recorded net profit of
US$58.37 million for FY2023, higher by US$25.19 million
or 75.90% compared to US$33.19 million for FY2022.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group continues to maintain a healthy balance sheet
in FY2023. As at 31 December 2023, total assets was
US$1.79 billion, an increase of US$0.29 billion compared
to US$1.50 billion as at 31 December 2022, mainly due
to the increase in trade and other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents, partially offset by the decrease
in inventories.

The Group’s liquidity and debt servicing ability remained
strong. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents were US$373.04 million, an increase
of US$64.84 million compared to US$308.20 million
as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group’s current ratio and quick ratio were 1.82 and
1.71 respectively (FY2022: 2.08 and 1.76 respectively).
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total trade and
banking facilities amounted to US$3.35 billion.

As at 31 December 2023, the equity attributable to owners
of the Company stood at US$948.40 million, or 110.26
US cents per share, compared to US$902.98 million or
104.97 US cents per share as at 31 December 2022.
Equity attributable to the non-controlling interests was
US$3.95 million as at 31 December 2023.

The Group continues to preserve its overall liquidity position
to support its supply and trading businesses. The Group’s
principal sources of cash flow are derived from its supply
and trading business operations as well as dividends
received from its investment in associates.

The Group’s FY2023 financial performance has
demonstrated the strength and resilience of CAO’s
businesses despite operating in difficult global market
conditions. CAO will continue to maintain a healthy
balance sheet, exercising stringent credit management
as it continues to focus on credit control as well as
account receivables and working capital management,
while proactively seeking synergetic and strategic asset
investment opportunities to diversify and augment its
income streams.

ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED

Economic Value Added profit for FY2023 was -US$1.10
million, an improvement of US$23.94 million from
-US$25.04 million for FY2022, mainly due to the increase
in net earnings on the back of higher capital employed.
Net profit attributable to equity owners of the Company
increased 75.52% vyear-on-year to US$58.86 million
for FY2023, compared to US$33.53 million for FY2022.
The Group will continue to focus on improving efficiency
and remain prudent in financial management to create
value for shareholders.
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5-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hEMSHE 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 |

INCOME STATEMENT (US$’000)

ik (F%7T)

Revenue W\ 20,343,491 | 10,516,955 | 17,636,657 | 16,464,124 | 14,429,573
Gross Profit £ 58,456 45,872 30,697 35,391 50,598
Share of Results of Associates

BEABR AW 65,532 24,789 23,550 17,902 30,318
Net Profit after Tax ¢ /= /4F5E* 99,830 56,193 40,350 33,532 58,856
BALANCE SHEET (US$°000)

B fHRR (F£7T)

Total Assets S & 1,872,945 | 1,887,949 | 1,535,658 | 1,499,618 | 1,787,514
Total Equity A& ARz 834,959 876,879 901,369 902,978 948,400
Cash and Cash Equivalents

MENMEENY 378,780 269,107 400,837 308,195 373,040

FINANCIAL RATIOS

=
Earnings per Share (US$ cents)*
FERWEE (=9) 11.61 6.53 4.69 3.90 6.84
Net Asset Value per Share (US$ cents)*
BRAAE GED) 97.07 101.94 104.79 104.97 110.26
Return on Equity /&&= [OliRZE* 12.45% 6.57% 4.54% 3.72% 6.36%
Return on Assets &=k = 6.12% 3.22% 2.61% 2.50% 4.03%
Debt Equity Ratio f&Zsm B 1 5K 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Total Equity* Total Cash and Cash Equivalents
BRFINEE MERMEENY
948,400
876,879 901,369 902,978 400,837
834,959 378,780 373,040
308,195
;H'f( Lﬁ 269,107
I n
[l HII
£ E
2 2
D o}
2019 ) 2020 ) 2021 ‘ 2022 ‘ 2023 2019 ] 2020 ‘ 2021 ] 2022 ] 2023

Relates to the amount attributable to equity owners of the Company ¥ &8 T AR FEE
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China remains the Group’s largest market, accounting for 60.84% of the Group’s revenue in FY2023.
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CAO has instilled a culture of cost consciousness among the staff.

REMILT RAEREERIR,

NENZR B Mo EFEREE IR ARTRBE B E2023F12
B31H, A HRMEASNI.73123ETT, #20224F 12 531
HBY93.08123=7TiEMN0.6512 3 7T, &l E2023F12831H,
NEBUREILLEFREIEE R 591.82F01.71 (2022 £
NA2.08F11.76) . B E2023F 12831 H, AT MIETT
BEEE 21133.510% 7T,

HE2023F12831H, AR T A LRBMEEN FA™H
9.4812% 7T, BER110.26 9 ; MEE2022F 12531
H, BT AR FABEENEEZTTNI.0MZETHER
104.97% 57 . 8 E2023F 12831 H, JAB TIEEH 14N &=
B &R EN 395 7 3 700

RNEGSRFRIFNBERS R USRI SRR,
NAE BN EFRNEN S R Z W S LT AT
TR AR S o

RE2M IR H L, BAB]E2023 FPAEIG
WRIFWESETZDRIL T RBMIZEE N RN R ER 4k
SRFIRENY SRR, mARBEEER N, B IEX
EREERITH U N W KRR A SR EE, AT
WRIRRFT B MENERI SRR R AN S, DIATEIA
FlRo

ZFTIEME

2023 FELZFIENME RN A 1107 FETT, B EFER 2,504
F3ETTiEMN2,394 5% T, F BB AN NIEMNE R FEF)
HIE NN, 2023 F)AE FAABIPIE &Y FF /95,886
T, B2022M FEHY3,353 F ETT LK 75.52% . N BV
PREFIRBIZEWE, RIFEENV S EIBERE, IKRREF

SIS E,



RISK MANAGEMENT
REEE

The global political and economic landscape remained
challenging even with the pandemic coming into control in
2023. The ongoing conflicts between Russia and Ukraine
as well as Israel and Hamas continue to exacerbate
uncertainty in the global economy fueling further
imbalances in supply and demand imbalances of energy
resources. In addition, weaker than expected recovery in
major economies post-pandemic further weighed down the
recovery of the global aviation sector. These unfavourable
external conditions coupled with increasingly complex risk
exposures continued to pose operational challenges for
the Group.

Against this complex and volatile environment, CAO
continued to leverage on its four-tier risk management
framework and reporting structure to analyse, assess and
identify various risks to effectively mitigate and manage
the risk exposures faced by the Group’s expanding
global business operations and ensure sustained
business growth.

CAO continued to enhance its risk management system
and internal risk methodology while closely monitoring
the Group’s key risk indicators. We also optimised the
quality of our trading counterparties through active
monitoring and conducting multiple rounds of portfolio
reviews of all counterparties, further strengthening the
Group’s ability to mitigate and manage risk exposures.
The Group’s overall risk management capabilities were
also strengthened through the enhancement of automated
operations, optimisation of daily hedging ledger records
and conducting regular reviews and updates of
trade-related risk limits.

As part of its risk management culture, the Group
continues to actively develop and refine its centralised risk
control and support network to enable global business
growth. The Group’s risk management process has the
following features:

1. Risk management framework, policies and
processes;

Risk management strategy

Five key risks and mitigation strategies

4.  Comprehensive Enterprise Risk Management
(“ERM”)

Market risk management and sensitivity analysis

6. Credit risk management and concentration analysis

w N

o
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK, POLICIES
AND PROCESSES

CAOQ'’s risk management framework comprises risk
management policies, guidelines, procedures, processes,
limits, as well as systems of internal controls, which are
put in place to identify, measure and control various
risks encountered in our business operations, enabling
the Group to quickly respond to constantly changing
market conditions.

Our risk management foundation is built upon three
pillars namely:

1. Four-tier management and control structure
2. Policies, guidelines and control framework
3.  System, process and people.

The Group’s four-tier management and control structure is
designed to ensure sound governance and oversight over
the execution of effective risk management practices for
the Group.

At the strategy and governance level, the responsibility for
the effective risk management of CAO lies with the Board
of Directors. All risk management related issues will be
ultimately reported to the Board of Directors.

At the tactical and policy level, the Risk Management
Committee (“RMC”) oversees strategic risk management
issues. The RMC reviews the limits for various types of risks
and proposed into the Board for approval and in addition,
approves new activities that CAO plans to embark on.
Through monthly reports and quarterly meetings, the RMC
reviews the various risk metrics that provide an indication
on CAO’s risk exposures and the manageability of each
category of risk.

At the management and control level, the Company Risk
Meeting (“CRM”) plans and implements risk management
controls over risk exposures such as market, credit,
operational, enterprise, compliance and reputational
risks. The CRM operates within the delegated authority
set at the RMC level. The CRM is chaired by the Head of
Risk Management, who reports to the CEO but has an
independent direct reporting line to the RMC.
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At the operation level — the Risk Management Department
ensures that risk management activities are executed
daily and that all risk-related policies, processes and limits
are implemented and adhered to. Over the past years,
the risk team has defined and built the framework around
risk management, identifying, reporting and monitoring the
risk profiles of the Group’s supply and trading businesses
in Singapore, Hong Kong SAR, Los Angeles and London.
CAQ’s global risk team, with professional credentials
such as Financial Risk Manager by Global Association
of Risk Professionals and their expertise in credit, market
and enterprise risk management manages and supports
appropriate risk management practices in daily operations
across the globe, enabling the management team to
execute strategic business objectives and achieve
performance targets.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

The Group’s growing multi-product portfolio businesses
subjects CAO to a number of risks. These include exposure
stemming from changes to regulatory and operational
conditions in certain regions, fluctuations in currencies
and volatility in oil prices. To better manage the exposure
of the Group’s growing business portfolio, CAO has
continually enhanced its risk management processes and
methodologies to better manage the growing uncertainties
in the Group’s key markets.

CAQO’s management of risk includes identifying key areas
of uncertainties and risks that will impact the Group’s
strategic performance, and have in place the appropriate
risk mitigating initiatives to manage them:

o Market risk is the risk of losses arising from
movements in trading positions
and market prices

. Credit risk is the risk due to uncertainty
of counterparty to meet its

contractual obligations

. Operation risk

is the risk arising from operational
gaps of both financial and physical
operations

is the risk of financial and/or
reputational loss that can result
from lack of awareness or
misunderstanding of, ambiguity
in, or reckless indifference to,
the way law and regulation apply
to a company’s business

o Legal risk

is the risk that that a firm will
be unable to meet its financial
obligations

. Finance risk

CAO’S ROBUST RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL STRUCTURE
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TOP 5 RISKS AND MITIGATION

At CAO, we constantly improve on the risk control systems through adopting best-in-class practices and developing
new initiatives to enhance the Group’s risk management capabilities. On top of managing the key identified business
risks on a daily basis, we have also analysed and determined the top five risks in CAO’s operating environment in 2023
through an internal assessment.

Assessed
No. Significant Risks Mitigation Strategie
1 | Strategic risk of 1. Actively seek opportunities to add value to the core jet fuel business, focusing Mid
investments on aviation marketing and supporting the company’s supply and trading network.

2. Continuously improve the company’s investment business through acquisition
activities, and invest in synergetic assets with profit growth, and increase
investment efforts in the industrial chain and value chain.

3. Closely monitor changes relating to the external market and industry,
and proactively explore new business opportunities to ensure the Group’s
long-term competitiveness.

2 | Counterparty credit . Set appropriate counterparty credit limits for its global counterparties. Mid
risk 2. Implement dynamic management process to monitor the credit of
counterparties; establish an active counterparty list and a blacklist. Ensure
the qualities of counterparties by conducting regular review as well as ad
hoc review based on macro economy changes.
3. Multiple rounds of trade counterparty clean up exercises have been carried
out to improve the overall trade counterparty quality.
. Revised expected credit loss calculation data to match the market changes.
. Increase credit team’s headcount.
. Implement credit mitigation such as Letter of Credit, prepayments, credit
insurance, etc.
7. Manage credit risk issues through Credit Committee.

—_

o O A~

3 | Policy change in 1. Leverage the Group’s existing supply and trading capabilities to build up a Mid
China’s aviation diversified business structure, and enhance its trading capabilities for other
fuel market oil products.

2. Actively explore business opportunities in overseas jet fuel and other oil products
markets. Secure both domestic and overseas resources to sustain stable
and long-term growth in its market share in targeted markets. At the same
time, increase the efficiency in logistics management, extend the business
value chain, and establish an integrated supply chain and trading network
incorporating procurement, storage, transportation, sales and trade activities.

3. Optimise supply resources and adjust supply models in accordance with
the aviation fuel supply and demand situation in China.

4. Leverage on the Group’s existing aviation marketing advantages to develop
its biofuel supply and trading business, as well as expand new business and
revenue sources.

4 | Price fluctuation 1. The front office and relevant subsidiaries of the Company to closely monitor Mid
market changes and strictly carry out trade activities within the prescribed
risk limits.

. Risk Management Department to provide daily monitoring reports.

3. Flexibly balance quantity matching between physical inventory and mandatory
inventory vouchers to meet EU mandatory inventory obligations while
achieving structural gains and reducing the cost of compulsory stock options.

4. Increase the frequency and granularity of aviation market procurement and
sales quantity forecasts.

N
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Assessed

No. Significant Risks

5 | Climate Risk and
Energy Policy
Transformation

1. Ensure all climate-related disclosures are in accordance with SGX requirements, Mid
i.e. to incorporate climate-related disclosures based on the recommmendations
of TCFD from FY2024.

2. Develop and implement carbon reduction measures, including the use of LED
lights as much as possible, and encourage employees to reduce paper printing.

3. Upon obtaining the relevant biofuel supply and trading qualifications, the
Company has been actively advancing the development of its biofuel supply
and trading business as part of its transformation towards becoming a green,
low-carbon emissions corporation.

4. A dedicated position relating to sustainable biofuels has been set up and HR
department is handling the hiring process.

5. CAO has been proactively seeking sustainable biofuel-related investment

driven company.

opportunities, striving towards becoming a technology and resource

COMPREHENSIVE ENTERPRISE
RISK MANAGEMENT

Recognising that risk management plays an important
role in business sustainability, CAO has adopted ERM
practices to identify and manage the various types of
risks the Group’s globalised operations is exposed to.
Building on the ERM practices, the risk management
team is able to identify, analyse and prioritise key
risk factors faced by the Group, and through which
action plans to mitigate identified risks are executed
as planned by respective risk owners from various
business units and functions. The process ensures that
key risks are proactively monitored and managed and
that appropriate mitigations are put in place.

Under the ERM, the top-down and bottom-up approach is
deployed to effect information collection and compilation
for the Group’s risk register. CAO currently review the
Risk Register risk entries semi-annually. During the review
process, we quantified each risk entry in term of impact
and probability and rank them, so as to select the most
significant potential risks.

Besides the Risk Register, the CRM which comprises
our senior management team and heads from various
business functions, forms the next critical component of
our ERM model and is an important channel for discussing
risk-related topics and issues. Through regular meetings,
as well as ad-hoc ones and e-mail circulation, potential
risk factors identified in daily business operations can
be discussed and evaluated timely. For example, in the
scenario where the credit risk team highlights credit
issues with late payments from a trading counterparty,
the CRM may discuss and decide promptly whether
to have any further commercial dealings with said
trading counterparty.

For the past years, the stress-testing conducted at the
enterprise level, covering various risk categories has
enabled the Group to better understand the possible
impact CAO faced under special events and environments,
enabling the Group to execute appropriate and effective
mitigation measures.

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT AND
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

In the area of market risk management, the Risk
Management team monitors and analyses the Group’s
supply and trading activities, maintains comprehensive risk
control records and reports daily to the management team
as well as stakeholders of various business functions.

The Market Value at Risk (“MVaR”) is used as a primary tool
to measure market risk. All physical and financial contracts
are subjected to MVaR limits and valuation of the holding
portfolio is monitored on a daily basis. A set of market
risk limits, which are delegated by the Board, include
Volumetric limits, MVaR, Management Alert Triggers,
Stop-Loss limits and Hedging Ratio, are measured and
monitored daily, with back-testing conducted regularly to
ensure the reliability of our MVaR model.

To complement the market risk limits, the Risk
Management team also conducts market stress tests
on the company’s trading positions on a regular basis.
Using historical scenarios from the database, the Risk
Management team simulates in a timely manner the likely
impact of the Group’s recent trading position in times
of extreme market conditions. In 2023, we conducted
four stress tests, which allowed CAO to have timely and
comprehensive insight of our business activities, and
take mitigating actions when necessary.
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Notwithstanding the high volatility in the market
environment, the Group’s risk appetite remained cautious
and measured. The daily MVaR utilisation rate, based on a
95% confidence interval, remained stable with an average
MVaR utilisation of US$2 million in 2023.

In 2023, we continued to conduct derivatives business
in strict accordance with the Hedging Business Proposal
approved by the Board of Directors, which requires all
derivatives business to be for hedging purposes and
strictly prohibits speculation in derivatives business.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONCENTRATION ANALYSIS

Due to the nature of our business operations, credit risk is
inherent in the Group’s trading business. It is thus, one of
the most significant measurable risks faced by CAO.

Credit risk is classified into credit default risk, concentration
risk and country risk:

1. Credit default risk is the risk of losses arising from a
counterparty being unable to pay its obligations in full

2. Concentration risk is the risk posed to a company
by any single or group of exposures which have the
potential to produce losses large enough to threaten
the ability of the company to continue operating as
a going concern

3. Country risk or sovereign risk is the risk of loss arising
from a sovereign state freezing foreign currency
payments or when it defaults on its obligations

To actively manage our credit risk, counterparties’ credit
worthiness is evaluated periodically based on their
financial standings, operating and payment track records
as well as conducting background checks. Actual credit
terms and limits to be granted are derived based on the
information obtained.

Given the increasingly volatile operating environment
and uncertain geo-political situation in recent years,
the Group has continued to maintain a prudent credit risk
management practice. The key areas of focus include:

1. Special reviews and deep dives into high risk
counterparties or industry segments, allowing the
Group to adopt pre-emptive measures and actions
to avert potential credit events;

2.  Enhance the counterparty management policies
to improve the effectiveness and efficiencies of
counterparty management in CAO Group, and also
conducted counterparties clean up exercises to
reduce the exposure to riskier counterparties and
improve the overall credit quality of the Group’s
portfolio of counterparties.

3. Effectively alleviated the Company’s credit risk
exposure through credit insurance, bank letters
of credit, etc. In 2023, the Company successfully
completed a two-year credit insurance contract
renewal, and continued to provide effective
measures to mitigate credit exposures, and at
the same time, secured favourable terms for the
Company and successfully reduced costs in the
said renewal.
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% of AR Exposure by Place of Incorporation
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Our concentration risk profile of accounts receivables are
as follows:

By Country

As of 31 December 2023, our geographical exposure
was predominantly Mainland China (69.59%), Singapore
(20.16%) and Hong Kong (4.89%), which made up
94.63% of the Group’s total exposure.

By Internal Credit Rating

As of 31 December 2023, in terms of internal credit
rating, the Group’s exposure mainly comes from Grade
B2 (52.15%), Grade B1 (21.66%) and A2 (13.59%), which
accounted for 87.40% of our accounts receivable position.
Letter of credit receivables constituted around 8.11% of
total accounts receivable.

The exposure from these internal ratings of Grade A1 to
B2 (including exposures against letter of credit) equivalent
of investment-grade made up 87.4% of the Group’s
receivables exposure. The overall credit grade composition
of the receivables portfolio was satisfactory.

% of AR Exposure by Internal Credit Rating
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For other non-investment-grade credit rated counterparties,
CAQ hardly granted them any credit lines, and if necessary,
the payment terms granted to them are on letter of credit
and prepayment basis, which effectively reduces the
Group’s credit risk exposure.

The Group also employs credit enhancement or
mitigation tools where necessary. These include
obtaining parental company guarantees, cash collateral,
letter of credit from investment-rated banks and off-set
clause in contracts.

Risk management in CAO remains an integral part of
the Group’s strategic and operational management.
We remain committed to proactively promote a strong
culture of risk awareness and will continuously enhance
our risk management processes and capabilities to ensure
that CAO is able to effectively execute its strategies
and achieve its strategic targets to deliver sustainable
shareholder value.
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To achieve good business performance and long-term
sustainable growth of shareholder value, CAO is
committed to promoting responsible business conduct
and upholding high standards of oversight, accountability,
integrity and ethics.

OPERATING RESPONSIBLY

Driven by the commitment of the Board and CAO’s
management team, the Compliance Team of the Legal &
Compliance Department is responsible for ensuring that
the Group adopts responsible business practices, mirroring
our corporate values of excellence, innovation, diversity
and integrity. This includes establishing policies, standard
operating procedures (“SOPs”) and appropriate oversight
measures to facilitate an effective system of internal
controls, as well as enhancing the Group’s corporate
governance, financial performance and operational
capabilities to better support the implementation of CAO’s
business strategies.

Amid a complex and dynamic business environment and
the evolving regulatory and compliance landscape, the
Group continues to focus on improving the effectiveness
and robustness of its internal controls system, to effectively
detect and/or prevent any non-compliant activity.

CAQ’s established system of compliance oversight is in
line with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of
the Treadway Commission framework. This ensures a
systematic and integrated approach to evaluate and
improve the Group’s overall internal controls framework,
including regular reviews of policies and SOPs relating
to delegation of authority and hedging business policies
undertaken during the year 2023 to augment and further
reinforce its existing system of internal controls.

The Group regularly reviews and identifies compliance
risks relating to anti-trust/competition laws, anti-corruption
laws, trade sanctions, occupational safety, health and
environmental regulations, data protection laws, insider
trading and fraud. By strengthening the implementation
of internal policies and management directives, we seek
to comply with applicable local and international trade
legislations and regulations in regions where CAO
operates. These internal policies, management directives
and work processes are reviewed on a regular basis
to ensure they are updated to align with the evolving
business landscape.

To better adhere to regulations on international trade
sanctions, anti-money laundering, and countering the
financing of terrorism, CAQO revised its “Trade Sanctions
Compliance Policy” and “Anti-Money Laundering and
Anti-Terrorist Financing Measures” in 2023. Refinements
made to these policies strengthened the oversight of
sanctions-related risks, money laundering and terrorism

financing risks. The Group continues to leverage risk
intelligence tools to respond to the evolving regulatory
landscape. This enables the Group to conduct screening
of counterparties and ensure the vigilant monitoring of
politically exposed persons, including those categorised
as heightened risk entities.

The Legal & Compliance Department works closely with
the Risk Management Department to evaluate compliance-
related requirements to integrate compliance with daily
operations at the business level. In 2023, there were no
reported risk events relating to sanctions compliance.

PROTECTING THE INTEGRITY OF OUR BUSINESS

CAO implements a zero-tolerance policy against any
form of corruption or bribery. In 2023, CAO updated
its “Fraud and Corruption Control Policy” and further
strengthened its management of internal controls through
refining internal policies and standardising processes
in areas such as procurement management, contracts
management, business travels management, budget
management, corporate guarantee management,
authorisation for execution of legal documents and
cybersecurity risk management measures as part of its
efforts to promote sustainable business engagement
with the Group’s stakeholders including employees,
business partners, suppliers and shareholders, as
well as detecting any irregularities in our businesses.
CAO firmly believes these measures will empower the
Group to comprehensively prevent any occurrence of
impropriety, such as acquiring benefits through unlawful
means and other fraudulent activities.

To safeguard the integrity of our business, the Group
maintains a comprehensive business ethics and
compliance-related programme to equip our employees
with the relevant knowledge and competency to comply
with regulatory and other compliance requirements in their
work through mandatory web-based training courses.
The Legal & Compliance Department arranges for all
employees in the Group to undergo annual mandatory
e-learning courses covering a wide range of compliance
and business ethics-related topics. In 2023, e-learning
courses relating to environmental, social, and governance,
Individual accountability, Data Privacy, Information security
and cyber risk awareness were conducted. During the
year, the Legal & Compliance Department also conducts
in-house training courses covering topics relating to Anti-
fraud, Anti-corruption and Sanction Compliance, personal
data protection and CAQ’s general mandate for interested
person transactions. In 2023, our CAO global workforce
participated in a series of web-based compliance-related
and business ethics-based training courses, with a
completion rate of over 75%. All employees of the Group
are also required to sign and submit a “Compliance
Commitment Statement” on an annual basis.
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MAINTAINING VIGILANCE

CAO believes vigilance and incident prevention is the
best safeguard against potential business disruptions.
Recognising the importance of ensuring the efficacy of
the Group’s resilience towards business disruptions from
unplanned events, CAO has continued to validate its
Business Continuity Plan (“BCP”). This plan integrates
with the IT Disaster Recovery Plan (“DRP”), and the
establishment of IT SOPs, guidelines, structure and
support team members to ensure timely emergency
escalation response, resumption and recovery of key
business functions and data resources.

Taking into consideration the potential strategic,
operational, financial and reputational exposure to the
Group in significant risk events, the Group conducts a
BCP and DRP simulation exercise annually to strengthen
employees’ readiness in responding to emergencies.

In 2023, the Group conducted its first on-site BCP and
DRP drill since the onset of the pandemic, activating the
disaster recovery centre, whereby employees of foreign
subsidiaries of the Group also participated in the drill
in their respective countries. This exercise elevated the
awareness of handling unforeseen events, assessed
the effectiveness of the business continuity plan,
and strengthened employees’ emergency response
capabilities in the face of unexpected situations.

Apart from its compliance role, the Legal & Compliance
Department has oversight responsibility for the internal
audit work conducted annually as well as independently
evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of control
measures and governance processes of the Group.
This would ensure that suitable control measures are in
place to address significant risks in its global business
environment.

An annual internal audit plan is submitted to the Audit
Committee for approval, which internal audit work would
be carried out by a team of qualified professionals from
an international audit firm engaged by the Company.
The internal audit plan includes amongst others, an audit
of the Group’s internal control systems, including an
independent annual review on the overall effectiveness
of the Group’s business processes. The internal audit
report which highlights significant audit findings or
internal control inadequacies that could possibly affect
the Group’s operational effectiveness, are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board on a quarterly basis
for review and approval. Adoption of remedial measures
by relevant departments arising from the audit findings
are subsequently monitored for implementation by
specified timelines.

CAO implements a zero-tolerance policy against any form of corruption
or bribery.
AR AT XN BN EEEITEEBEE,

In line with CAQ’s continued commitment to accountability
and integrity in its business practices, the Compliance
Team of the Legal & Compliance Department continues
to work closely with CAO’s outsourced internal auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers Risk Services Pte. Ltd., to
ensure that the Group’s internal audit activities conducted
during the year are aligned with the Standards for the
Professional Practice for Internal Auditing as set by
The Institute of Internal Auditors through the Quality
Assurance and Improvement Programme assessment.
An internal assessment exercise was conducted
through a questionnaire to various stakeholders to
obtain feedback on the effectiveness and quality of
CAQ’s outsourced internal audit activities which were
then communicated to the outsourced internal auditor.

It is imperative for CAO to conduct its business activities in
compliance with relevant laws and regulatory requirements.
To combat fraud, corruption and unethical behaviour,
along with fostering an open and honest culture, CAO has
established and implemented the CAO Whistleblowing
Policy. This policy provides guidance on the Group’s
approach and stance on whistleblowing and how
whistleblowers can raise serious concerns of allegations
of wrongdoing, as well as explicit indications of what might
be considered “reportable concerns”. Under the CAO
Whistleblowing Policy, whistleblowers may report any
reportable concerns on any forms of misconduct affecting
the Group, its customers, partners, suppliers and other
stakeholders. This can be done without fear of reprisal,
dismissal or discriminatory treatment, via the following
dedicated email addresses: whistle_blowing@caosco.com
or auditcommittee_whistleblowing@caosco.com.

There were no “reportable concerns” received by the
Company during the financial year.
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In 2023, CAO activated the disaster recovery centre and conducted its first on-site BCP and DRP drill since the onset of the pandemic.
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COMMITMENT TO RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS PRACTICES
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The Company participated in Nanyang Technological University Business School Job Fair to attract interest from a diverse pool of outstanding graduates.
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In 2023, CAO continued to prioritise development, focusing
on building a global talent pool through thematic education
and creative improvements to further enhance HR
effectiveness and cultivate a pool of talented professionals
to support our continued development as a premier
aviation fuel company that matches best in class practices
of international peers. At the same time, CAO remained
committed to maintaining and ensuring the health, safety,
and welfare of all employees.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

To better support our front-line staff, promote staff
talent and ability development and maintaining
headcount within a reasonable range, we conducted
a thorough benchmarking exercise. This included
on-site consultations with other listed companies,
new energy trading firms, as well as drawing upon
the best practices of our parent group CNAF,
all aimed at further optimising the allocation of our
human capital.

The launch of the International Talent Training Center in
2023 marks a key milestone in our commitment to talent
development. Focusing on key areas such as international
trade operations, financial derivatives, risk management,
as well as compliance, the Center leverages on our diverse
international talent pool to tailor comprehensive training,
facilitate sharing of best practices, job rotation as well as
to strengthen understanding of critical aspects of core
business functions such as hedging that will help cultivate
both onshore and offshore talent ensuring a robust
pipeline to meet CAO’s future development needs.

In our ongoing efforts to expand our talent pool, we actively
engage in on-campus engagement events at renowned
universities to broaden our recruitment reach. Through
our collaboration with Nanyang Technological University,
we have communicated insights into our company’s
vision, global presence, sustainable practices, core values,
and talent management strategies. These engagements
have successfully attracted interest from a diverse pool of
outstanding graduates.
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CAO has enhanced the New Appointment Framework for
its Senior Management Personnel, implementing robust
incentive and accountability mechanisms. This ongoing
effort ensures an equitable distribution of responsibilities,
rights, and obligations of these management personnel
as well as improve incentives to boost their enthusiasm
and creativity at work to reinforce the company’s vitality
and drive, facilitating our journey toward high-quality
development.

TALENT MANAGEMENT AND
CAREER DEVELOPMENT

CAO is committed to talent development and has
implemented comprehensive people-oriented initiatives,
as well as adopted a holistic approach to employee
development based on capability and character.

In 2023, CAO further enhanced its internal management
processes and incentive mechanisms introducing
protocols for recognizing and rewarding outstanding
performance. We presented 11 individual awards and
5 team accolades, acknowledging the outstanding
contributions of 34 employees during the course of
the year. These initiatives showcases the exemplary
leadership demonstrated by our top performers and
reaffirms our dedication towards our goal of a world-class
aviation fuel company.
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CAOQO places great emphasis on talent development and
encourages lifelong learning through effective organisation
of various on-the-job training, professional training and
funding programs for continuing education courses. CAO
encourages employees to embrace lifelong learning to
increase their knowledge and skills as well as to improve
their overall business acumen. In 2023, we organised 34
internal knowledge sharing and information sessions as
well as 26 external training sessions, with a cumulative
total of 1,213 attendees and a cumulative training duration
of 2,076 hours.

COMPENSATION & BENEFITS

CAOQ is committed to a competitive compensation
package to keep employees highly motivated. In 2023,
CAO collaborated with Mercer to conduct a salary
benchmarking, ensuring that employee compensation and
benefits packages are aligned with industry standards
to attract and retain key talent in core positions.
Furthermore, to foster a warm and caring work
environment for employees, proactive efforts were
made to commemorate significant holidays and dates
such as New Year, International Women’s Day, Dragon
Boat Festival, Mid-Autumn Festival, and birthdays, CAO
is committed to providing comprehensive benefits to
employees, to unleash their potential and achieve peak
work performance.

Staff bonded over sumptuous meals at the Company’s Chinese New Year Luncheon.

ARRTI—OERREAIENFREER, —DIG#HER.
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CAO'’s annual Dragon Boat Race helps to strengthen the spirit of camaraderie and cooperation among employees.

AEALNFERFRAFFINER T ZBNELS S (FEHH.

CORPORATE CULTURE BUILDING

CAO endeavours to create a welcoming workplace
environment to enhance employee morale, promote
unity and foster mutual understanding and trust among
employees. To promote these values, CAO has, in 2023,
organised various activities such as Chinese New Year
luncheon, Dragon Boat Race, and cultural events such as
“Durian Tasting,” as well as team-building events to actively
promote CAQ’s core values of “Excellence, Innovation,
Diversity, and Integrity,” instilling within employees a
sense of unity and a driving force for entrepreneurial and
innovative endeavours.

FAIR EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES

CAO is committed to fair employment practices and
operates in accordance with the Tripartite Guidelines on
Fair Employment Practices and the Fair Consideration
Framework, providing equal employment opportunities
to candidates of different genders, ethnicities, countries
of origin, and backgrounds. As of 31 December 2023,
Singaporean citizens and permanent residents constituted
84% of CAO’s workforce and the remaining 16% were
foreign employees. The combined workforce of CAO and
its subsidiaries remained at 150 employees as of 2023,
consistent with the previous year.

WORKPLACE SAFETY

CAO is committed to creating and providing a safe,
healthy, fair and orderly working environment for all
employees. We maintained our record of zero work injury
in 2023.

Staff had fun engaging with one another during the “boat-making” challenge.
AERTESHPRE BRI, BRI,
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The team bonding activity held at the end of 2023 was a complete success.
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CAO organised a tree-planting activity in partnership with Mandai Wildlife Group to further support environmental sustainability.
IR F IR AT, HERASREEFAER T —HERER,

Upholding our steadfast commitment to corporate social
responsibility (“CSR”), the Group continued to step up its
CSR efforts in 2023, focusing on serving the vulnerable
groups within the communities we operate in, as well as
contributing to the preservation of our natural environment.

ENRICHING LIVES

We believe the key to empowering children from
disadvantaged backgrounds is to provide them with
easy access to quality education. Working towards
this objective, CAO has been actively supporting
underprivileged children from Singapore’s Bukit Merah
and Redhill neighbourhood since 2010 through our
partnership with charity organisation Beyond Social
Services’ pre-school facility — Healthy Start Child
Development Centre (“HSCDC”). HSCDC is dedicated to
providing affordable and quality early childhood education
to pre-schoolers from lower-income families.

Working in tandem with the teachers to further enrich
the children’s learning experience on marine animals,
CAO organised a fun-filled educational excursion to the
S.E.A. Aquarium in September 2023 with a total of 45
volunteers and 22 pre-schoolers involved. It was also
the Company’s first physical interaction with the children
from HSCDC post-pandemic.

Volunteers partnered the children in a fascinating fact-
finding tour about marine life as they toured the aquarium
hand-in-hand. The up-close animal encounters and visual
stimulation not only stimulated the children’s imagination
but also provided a platform for immersive learning
and cognitive development. At the end of the day, both
children and adults had a truly unforgettable experience
with a deeper sense of wonder and appreciation for the
ocean and its inhabitants. The Company also continued
to provide daily necessities for the underprivileged
children and their families, as well as school supplies for
the graduating kindergarten class.

In conjunction with CAO’s 30" anniversary and to uplift
lives and empower our communities, the Company
donated RMB300,000 to HUG Community Services
Limited (“HCSL”) in May 2023. Established in 2014,
HCSL is a non-profit social service agency that focuses
on engagement programmes and support services for
at-risk youths and their families.

With the aim to foster a more caring and inclusive society,
the Company also participated in the 20" edition of SGX
Cares Bull Charge Charity Run in October 2023 to raise
funds for SGX Cares Beneficiaries, namely AWWA Ltd.,
Autism Association (Singapore), Fei Yue Community
Services, HCSA Community Services and Shared
Services for Charities.
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As the Company expands its business globally, CAO’s
spirit of giving and contributing back to society multiples
as well. For instance, CAOHK participated in a Dumpling
Festival community outreach event organised by
the Aviation Industry Council of Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association in June 2023, delivering rice
dumplings, care packs and well wishes to needy families
living in the Islands District.

Across the globe in North America, NAFCO, together with
China General Chamber of Commerce-USA volunteered
at Los Angeles Regional Food Bank on 20 September
2023. Volunteers unboxed and sorted out the donated
food items at the Food Bank, throwing away expired and
damaged food products, categorised and repacked the
rest neatly into boxes to be distributed to those in need
at a later time. Working tirelessly, the team assembled
over 800 boxes, totalling 1,700 pounds of food that day.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

As part of our ongoing efforts to support environmental
sustainability, CAO organised a tree-planting activity on
7 July 2023 in partnership with Mandai Wildlife Group.
The planting site is located at the Mandai Wildlife
Reserve, along the new boardwalk that is currently
under construction. A total of 20 tree saplings — all native
to Singapore — were planted that day by a group of
enthusiastic staff volunteers.

Tree planting is often viewed as one of the most
effective tools to combat climate change and restore
biodiversity. Through our efforts, CAO seeks to do its part
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in creating healthy ecosystems, reducing greenhouse
gases, and building a liveable and sustainable city for
future generations.

Enriching lives and caring for our communities is a
fundamental value of our corporate identity. 30 years have
passed since our incorporation in Singapore and we remain
more determined than ever to support the development of
the communities in which we operate in by contributing
our resources, time and efforts.
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NAFCO volunters volunteered at the Los Angeles Regional Food Bank.
EERATEREETECINERBITHRXIIEDD.

CAO organised a fun-filled educational excursion to the S.E.A. Aquarium with our beneficiaries from HSCDC.
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Volunteers partnered the children in a fascinating fact-finding tour about
marine life as they toured the aquarium hand-in-hand.
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Express Disclosure Requirements -
Principles and Provisions of the 2018 Code

General

Description of the corporate governance practices of | Yes. Refer to page 83
the Company with reference to both the Principles and
Provisions, and how the Company’s practices conform with
the Principles. Variations from Provisions are acceptable to
the extent that the Company explicitly states and explains its
practices are consistent with the aim and philosophy of the
Principle in question

How has the Company complied?

The induction, training and development provided to new and | Refer to pages 87-88
existing Directors

Provision 1.3

Matters that require Board approval Refer to page 84

Provision 1.4

Names of the members of the Board Committees, the terms | Refer to pages 86, 90-104
of reference of the Board Committees, any delegation of the
Board’s authority to make decisions and a summary of each
Board Committee’s activities

Provision 1.5

The number of meetings of the Board and Board Committees | Refer to pages 86-87
held in the year as well as attendance of every Board member
at these meetings

Provision 2.4

The board diversity policy and progress made towards | Refer to pages 84-86
implementing the board diversity policy

Provision 4.3

Process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of | Refer to page 91
Directors to the Board, including the criteria used to identify
and evaluate potential new directors and channels used in
searching for appropriate candidates

Provision 4.4

Where the Board considers a Director to be independent in | None
spite of the existence of a relationship which may affect his
or her independence, the nature of the Director’s relationship
and the reasons for considering him or her as independent
should be disclosed

Provision 4.5

The listed company directorships and principal commitments | Refer to pages 91-92
of each Director, and where a Director holds a significant
number of such directorships and commitments, the
Nominating Committee’s and Board’s reasoned assessment
of the ability of the Director to diligently discharge his or her
duties are disclosed

Provision 5.2

How the assessments of the Board, its Board Committees | Refer to pages 92-93
and each Director have been conducted, including the identity
of any external facilitator or its connection, if any, with the
Company or any of its Directors
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Express Disclosure Requirements -
Principles and Provisions of the 2018 Code

Provision 6.4

The Company discloses the engagement of any remuneration | Refer to page 94
consultants and their independence

Provision 8

How has the Company complied?

Clear disclosure of remuneration policies, level and mix of | Refer to pages 94-96
remuneration, and procedure for setting remuneration, and
the relationship between the remuneration, performance and
value creation

Provision 8.1

The Company discloses the policy and criteria for setting | Refer to pages 95-96
remuneration, as well as names, amounts and breakdowns
of remuneration of:

(@ each individual director and the CEO; and

(o) at least the top five key management personnel
(who are not directors or the CEO) in bands no wider
than $$250,000 and in aggregate the total remuneration
paid to these key management personnel

Provision 8.2

Names and remuneration of employees who are substantial | None. Refer to page 95
shareholders of the Company, or are immediate family
members of a Director, the CEO or a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000
during the year, in bands no wider than S$100,000.
The disclosure states clearly the employee’s relationship with
the relevant Director or the CEO or substantial shareholder

Provision 8.3

The Company discloses all forms of remuneration and | Refer to pages 95-96
other payments and benefits, paid by the Company and its
subsidiaries to Directors and key management personnel of
the Company, and also discloses details of employee share
schemes

Provision 9.2

Whether the Board has received assurance from (a) the CEO | Refer to page 100
and the CFO that the financial records have been properly
maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the Company’s operations and finances; and (b)
the CEO and other key management personnel who are
responsible, regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems

Provision 11.3

Directors’ attendance at general meetings of the shareholders | Refer to pages 105-106
held during the financial year

Provision 12.1

The steps taken to solicit and understand the views of | Refer to pages 105-106
the shareholders

Provision 13.2

The strategy and key areas of focus in relation to the | Refer to pages 104-106
management of stakeholder relationships during the
reporting period
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The Board recognises the paramount importance of upholding high standards of corporate governance in ensuring the
continuous and sustainable growth and development of China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (“CAQ” or the
“Company”). Despite ongoing geopolitical developments, macroeconomic uncertainty and an increasingly complex
business operating environment in 2023, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and Management remained firmly
committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance as a means of enhancing corporate performance
and accountability of the Company. To demonstrate its commitment towards excellence in corporate governance,
the Company continues to embrace the Company’s operating philosophy of “Compliance as Top Priority (&#15—),
Risk Management of Utmost Importance (X4ZZ ) and our management philosophy of “Transparency, Standardisation
and Refinement”. We strive to surpass the requirements of openness, integrity and accountability prescribed by the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) Listing Manual and the Code of Corporate Governance
2018 (the “2018 Code”). Good corporate governance practices are embedded in our corporate culture and business
practices of the CAO group which we strongly believe will ensure the continued strong performance of our businesses
and maintaining investor confidence which underpin the sustainable growth of our businesses and long-term value to
all stakeholders.

The CAO Corporate Governance Policy of the Company has been devised in accordance with the principles and
guidelines set out in the 2018 Code (the “CAO Corporate Governance Policy”). Ongoing concerted efforts have
been made by relevant departments mandated with the responsibility to oversee the adoption of the CAO Governance
Policy in their practices, processes and operations. The corporate governance practices of the CAO Group and the
CAO Corporate Governance Policy are reviewed regularly and are continually fine-tuned and enhanced to ensure that
they remain relevant and effective in light of the changing legal and regulatory requirements and volatilities of the trading
business and operating environment.

We confirm that throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and at the date of issue of this Statement of
Corporate Governance, the Company is in substantial compliance with the provisions of, and applied the principles set
out in the 2018 Code.

With the view to preserving and growing shareholder value through strong and effective corporate governance, the Board
has put in place a set of well-defined and sound systems of internal controls and processes which the Company
voluntarily subjects them to annual review by an independent third party consultant.

This report primarily describes the Company’s corporate governance practices for the financial year ended
31 December 2023 with specific reference to the 2018 Code and details how we apply the principles and comply
with the provisions of the 2018 Code. Our compliance with the principles and guidelines of the 2018 Code and a
checklist cross-referencing these principles and guidelines, are outlined under “Corporate Governance at a Glance” of
the Company’s Annual Report 2023.

This Statement of Corporate Governance has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors of the Company.

(A) BOARD MATTERS
The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board has overall responsibility for the long-term success of the Company and its value
creation. Beyond carrying out its statutory duties, the Board also:

. provides entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic objectives, and ensure that the necessary financial and human
resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

. sets the Company’s values and standards (including ethical standards), and ensure that obligations to shareholders
and other stakeholders of the Company are understood and met;

e  establishes a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed,
including safeguarding of the interests of shareholders of the Company and the Company’s assets;

e ensures compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal codes of conduct
by the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies over which the Company has control (the “CAO Group”)
and their respective management.
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e ensures accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication with the shareholders of the Company;
. considers sustainability issues, e.g. environmental and social factors, as part of its strategic formulation;

. identifies the key stakeholder groups and recognises that their perceptions affect the Company’s reputation; and
[ ]

reviews Management performance.

All members of the Board are aware of their responsibility to take decisions objectively which promote the success of the
CAO Group for the benefit of shareholders.

The Terms of Reference of the Board sets forth the matters reserved for the Board’s decisions, and provides clear
directions to Management on matters that must be reviewed and approved by the Board. In addition, Management
has the responsibility for overseeing the implementation by the CAO Group’s operating subsidiaries of the policies and
strategy set by the Board, and for creating the framework for their successful day-to-day operation.

Some of the matters specifically reserved for the Board’s review and approval include:

a) the Company’s corporate strategies and directions, shareholding structures and corporate governance matters;

(

(b) all material acquisitions and dispositions of assets of the CAO Group;

(c) the annual budgets and operating plans;

(d) the adequacy and integrity of the Company’s internal controls, risk management systems, financial reporting

systems and monitoring the performance of the CAO Group and the Management;

dividend distributions;

any appointment, re-appointment or removal of Chairman of the Board;

nominations of suitable candidates to the Board of Directors and key management personnel (‘KMP”); and
remuneration-related matters such as the framework and policies for determining the remuneration for non-executive
Directors and the remuneration for non-executive Directors and KMP

=lo

=c

Apart from matters specifically reserved for Board’s consideration and decision, the Board will approve transactions
exceeding certain threshold limits, whilst delegating authority for transactions below those limits to Board Committees
and the Management for approval.

At the date of issue of this Statement of Corporate Governance, the Board comprises seven (7)
Non-Executive Directors, an Executive Chairman and an Executive Director (the “ED”). All Independent Directors as well
as those nominated by the two (2) major shareholders, namely China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited (“CNAF”) and
BP Investments Asia Limited (‘BP”), were appointed on the strength of their expertise, experience and stature.

The Board is composed of members who are diverse in terms of education, skills, regional and industry experience,
geographical origin, interpersonal skills, race, gender and age. Details including the academic and professional
qualifications and major appointments of each Director are provided under the “Board of Directors” section of this
Annual Report.

The Company adopted a revised Board Diversity Policy in 2022 which incorporated the
requirements under Rule 710A of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, that address gender, skills and experience and any
other relevant aspects of Board diversity (the “CAO Board Diversity Policy”).

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having an appropriate level of diversity in the Board and views
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining competitive advantage and supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Company is committed to selecting the best candidates to serve on the Board and will consider all aspects of Board
diversity which include but not limited to educational background, professional or industry experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural background, ethnicity as well as length of service.
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Board Diversity Matrix (As of March 2024)
I'ivl IViVl
7 out of 9 directors are Non-Executive
Length of Tenure International Experience
(No. of Directors) (No. of Directors)
9
8
6
5
2
1 H
0 -3 years 3 -5 years 5 -6 years China Singapore UK Germany Bahrain  International

CAO Board Diversity Plan: The CAO Board Diversity Policy provides that the Nominating Committee reviews and
assesses the structure, size and composition of the Board of Directors of the Company and will consider all aspects
of board diversity including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, language, cultural and educational background,
geographic representation, professional and industry experience, skills and knowledge and taking into consideration the
Company’s business model and any specific requirements. These diverse range of attributes, experience, expertise and
perspectives together with the Company’s strategic objectives, business activities and shareholding structure, will be
considered in order to maintain an optimum mix of diversity, skills, knowledge, experience and expertise in the Board.

Governance Process: The Nominating Committee reviews and assesses the Board structure, size, and composition
on behalf of the Board, and recommends for Board approval the appointment of new Directors taking into consideration
the strategic objectives, business activities and shareholding structure of the Company.

In identifying qualified candidates for nomination to the Board and Board Committees, the Nominating Committee will
consider prospective candidates based on merit, having regard to those core competencies, expertise, skills, background
and other qualities identified from time to time by the Board as being important. The Nominating Committee will also take
into account any legal and regulatory requirements, such as those relating to residency and independence, as well as any
subsisting agreements between the major shareholders of the Company, and give due consideration to characteristics
such as gender, age, ethnicity, sexual orientation, and geographic representation.

On gender diversity and with the objective of achieving and gradually increasing female board representation on the
Board, the Nominating Committee will strive to obtain resumes of prospective female candidates for Board nomination
as part of its search for suitable candidates for Board nomination, and will accord priority for the evaluation of the merits
of selected female candidates for appointment to the Board.
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The Board considers gender diversity as an
important aspect in enhancing Board effectiveness. As part of its plan to achieve its diversity objectives and targets
(including achieving and gradually increasing gender diversity in the Board), the Company has established and
implemented the following measures:

(1) Keeping an updated list of potential Director candidates who satisfy the selection criteria as outlined in the Company’s
Policy for the Selection and Appointment of Independent Directors as well as the guiding principles set out in the
CAO Board Diversity Policy which take into account the objective of achieving and gradually increasing female
board representation on the Board.

(2) Identifying potential Director candidates through a number of sources including directors’ contacts, industry partners,
professional associations and through the Singapore Institute of Directors’ board appointment services.

(8) Encouraging Directors to provide feedback on the composition of the Board as part of the Nominating
Committee’s annual evaluations of the performance and effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees.
In reviewing the composition of the Board, the Nominating Committee considers the benefits of diversity in the
Board in order to attain an optimum mix of skills, knowledge, experience, expertise and all other relevant aspects
of diversity in the Board.

The Board currently comprised members who are diverse in terms of academic and
professional qualifications, skills, regional and industry experience, geographical origin, interpersonal skills, race, gender,
nationality and age. The members of the Board with their combined executive leadership and management skills, industry
and professional expertise, and different lengths of service, provide the core competencies to allow for diverse and
objective perspectives on the business operations as well as the strategic direction of the Company. Further information
on the individual Directors’ academic and professional qualifications, principal commitments, etc. can be found in the
“Board of Directors” section in the 2023 Annual Report of the Company.

To ensure the efficient discharge of its responsibilities and to provide
independent oversight of Management, various Board committees namely, the Audit Committee, the Nominating
Committee, the Remuneration Committeg, the Risk Management Committee and the Sustainability Committee have
been constituted with clear written terms of reference. Each Committee has the authority to examine issues relevant to
their terms of reference and to make recommendations to the Board for action. The ultimate responsibility and decision
on all matters still lies with the Board.

The Board Delegation of Authority Management Measures were drawn up to formalise the principles that govern the
delegation of authority and to outline the process by which the authority to act and to made decisions is delegated.
The objectives of the aforesaid Management Measures include (i) assigning clear authorities and accountabilities;
(i) creating a sound internal control environment, while facilitating efficient decision making; (iii) setting out matters
specifically reserved for determination by the Board/Board Committees and those matters delegated to Management,
thereby ensuring that decisions made, and actions taken are by the appropriate levels.

To optimise operational efficiency, the Company regularly reviews and updates its financial authorisation and approval
limits for purchases and expenses requisitions as well as expenses/fees relating to costs of sales (within and outside the
approved full-year budget) in tandem with the business operational needs.

The Board and Board Committees meet on a quarterly basis and
may hold ad hoc meetings as and when warranted by circumstances. The Board met four (4) times in 2023. At the
scheduled Board meetings for the financial year 2023, the Board: (i) reviewed and approved the release of the half-year
and full-year results; (i) discussed reports by Management relating to major corporate activities; (i) approved the annual
budget; and (iv) reviewed the performance of the CAO Group’s businesses. When Directors cannot be physically present,
telephonic attendance and conference via audio-visual communication at Board and Board committee meetings are
allowed under the Company’s Constitution. The number of meetings of the Board and Board Committees held in 2023
as well as the attendances of each Board member at these meetings are disclosed below:
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Board Committee Meetings
Board Risk

Name of Director Meetings Audit Nominating Remuneration Manageme

Gong Feng '’ 3 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 1
Shi Yanliang 2 N.A N.A N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.
Teo Ser Luck 4 4 2 N.A. 4 8 1 1
Shi Lei 4 N.A 2 8 4 N.A N.A 1
Zhang Yuchen 4 4 2 N.A 4 3 N.A 1
Wang Yanjun? 1 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.
Lin Yi4 8 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 1
Hee Theng Fong 4 4 N.A. 3 4 3 1 1
Fu Xingran 4 4 2 3 N.A. 3 1 1
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong 4 N.A 2 3 4 3 1 1
Richard Yang Minghui 4 4 N.A. 3 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1
Number of Meetings Held 4 4 2 3 4 3 1 1

Notes:

1 Mr Gong Feng, a CNAF-nominee Director resigned as Non-Executive Chairman on 15 December 2023

2 Mr Shi Yanliang, a CNAF-nominee Director was appointed as Executive Chairman on 15 December 2023

3 Mr Wang Yanjun, a CNAF-nominee Director retired as Executive Director on 15 March 2023

4 Mr Lin Yi, who is the Chief Executive Officer and a CNAF-nominee Director, was appointed as Executive Director on 15 March 2023 and was re-designated as Chief
Executive Officer/Executive Director of the Company on the same date.

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees, Independent Directors’ Meeting and the Annual General
Meeting of the Company for each year are scheduled some time in the month of July in the preceding year to facilitate
the Directors’ individual administrative arrangements in respect of any competing commitments.

A formal letter is sent to newly appointed Non-Executive Directors upon their
appointment explaining their duties and obligations as a Director as well as the governance policies and practices of the
CAO Group. In addition, the formal letter of appointment sets out their expected time commitment and make clear that,
by accepting the appointment, they are confirming that they are able to meet the expectations of their role. They are also
required to disclose their other significant commitments to the Board prior to their appointment and to give notice of any
subsequent changes.

Comprehensive and tailored training is provided for all new Directors appointed to the Board as part of their
orientation to ensure that they are familiar with (i) the Company’s strategic objectives and the nature and scope
of its operations; (ii) the Board’s role and the governance structure and processes of the Company; (iii) Directors’
duties and responsibilities under statute and common law; (iv) applicable legal requirements and other regulatory
requirements; (v) broad overview on the rules of SGX-ST Listing Manual; and (vi) the CAO Corporate Governance Policy.
Facility visits to our associated companies’ premises are also arranged to enable newly appointed Directors to acquire
an understanding of the CAO Group’s business operations.

The purpose of the familiarisation sessions would be to familiarise them with the business activities, strategic direction,
policies and corporate governance practices of the CAO Group. Areas covered would include the Corporate Strategy
and Investments, Oil Trading and Aviation Marketing Businesses of the CAO Group, Risk Management Framework,
Policies and Practices, overview of the financial performance of the CAO Group, Investor Relations Activities, Compliance
and Internal Audit function, Directors’ Duties and Continuing Listing Obligations and Governance Structure, Policy and
Practices of the CAO Group. These sessions also provided opportunities for newly Directors to get acquainted with
senior management, and also foster better rapport and communications with Management.

For any Director who has no prior experience as a director of a listed company, arrangements will be made for him or
her to attend the Listed Entity Director (“LED”) Programme conducted by the Singapore Institute of Directors (“SID”)
within a year of his or her appointment. Accordingly, the Company had arranged for Mr Shi Yanliang to attend the LED
Programme conducted by SID, within one year of his date of appointment as a Director of CAO. During the financial year
2023, all new Directors of the Company had also undergone training relating to sustainability matters as prescribed by
SGX-ST. All training costs are borne by the Company.
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In line with CAQ’s Policy on Director Orientation and
Professional Development adopted by the Board, continuing professional development programmes were organised
for Directors to ensure that all Directors are updated on important market developments in the industry relevant to
the business of the CAO Group and issues which may have a significant impact on the businesses, financial and
operational matters of the CAO Group. These programmes are conducted by external advisers, experts, management
team or heads of department and these included a Board Information Session on “Hedging Business Overview”
conducted by CAQO’s Head of Risk Management which covered areas such “Overview of the CAO Hedging Business
Management Policy”; and “Basic Concepts of Trading Exposure and Hedging”.

The Company also provides the Board with updates on developments in laws and regulations or changes in regulatory
requirements and financial reporting standards, which are relevant to or may affect the Group’s businesses. The Directors
have been periodically updated on various aspects of the Group’s operations through briefings, informal discussions and
meetings with Management. As part of the Company’s continuing professional education for Directors, the Company
circulates to the Board articles, reports and news releases issued by the SGX-ST which are relevant to the Group’s
businesses. Also, wherever applicable, meetings are arranged for the Directors to meet with relevant experts on issues
which impact the Group’s operating environment. In addition, the Directors are encouraged to attend appropriate relevant
external programmes such as those conducted by the SID or seminars organised by the SGX-ST or other professional
institutions, at the Company’s expense. The Directors may also, at any time, request further information or meetings
with Management on the Group’s operations. In 2023, the Company has also made arrangements for Directors to
conveniently access Thomson Reuters’ e-learning module titled “Preventing Financial Crime” which included topics
such as identifying methods and means used by criminal element to commit financial crimes, describing risk-based due
diligence practices to help prevent financial crimes and identifying suspicious behaviour, and clarifying responsibilities
and obligations in preventing and identifying financial crimes.

The Board has established the Board of Directors Conflict of Interest Policy
(the “Board Conflict of Interest Policy”) which serves inter alia, to focus on the Board and each of its Directors on
areas of ethical risk and provide guidance to the Directors to help them recognise and deal with actual and potential
conflicts of interest, and help ensure avoidance of conflicts of interest where necessary. During the financial year 2023,
the existing Board Conflict of Interest Policy was amended and key amendments made to the said Policy included:
(1) requiring all Directors to immediately disclose to the Board all conflicts of interest that have occurred or may possibly
occur as soon as the Director is aware of a conflict or the possibility of a conflict using the Company’s prescribed standard
forms; and (2) requiring a Director who has a conflict of interest to recuse himself or herself from discussions (except to
disclose material facts and to respond to questions on a transaction or proposed transaction) and abstain from voting on
resolutions regarding such transaction or proposed transaction. Such a Director should also not attempt to exert his or
her personal influence with respect to the transaction or proposed transaction either at or outside the meeting.

All Directors are required to officially disclose their interests in the Company including any interested person transactions
with the Company. To facilitate a comprehensive disclosure by Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of the
Company of any interests arising from multiple or cross directorships, shares or equity ownership interests etc., a revised
letter template for the general disclosure of interests by Directors and CEO have been devised for use by Directors and
the CEO. As a further commitment of the Board to transparent disclosure, management and monitoring of existing
and potential conflicts of interest, a “Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form” by Directors and key management personnel
(“KMP”) of the Company has been devised to facilitate adequate and timely disclosures by Directors and KMP.

All Directors practise good governance by updating the Company about changes to their interests in a timely manner.

Board Composition and Guidance

Of the nine (9) members on the Board, five (5) are nominated
by substantial shareholders and are deemed as non-independent. The four (4) Independent Directors namely, Mr Teo Ser
Luck, Mr Hee Theng Fong, Dr Fu Xingran and Dr Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong constitute about forty-four percent. (44%) of the
Board. Currently, at least two (2) Independent Directors are resident in Singapore. These two (2) Independent Directors
are Mr Teo Ser Luck and Mr Hee Theng Fong. None of the nine (9) Board members is related to one another.
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The Nominating Committee assesses and determines the independence of a
Director upon appointment and on an annual basis. The Nominating Committee takes into consideration CAO Directors’
Test of Independence Policy which set out the process for considering the independence of Directors of the Company
(the “Directors’ Test of Independence Policy”). The Directors’ Test of Independence Policy (i) specifies the materiality
thresholds and independence criteria which the Nominating Committee will use to assess the independence of a
Director; (i) identifies the information that the Company will collect from Directors to enable the Nominating Committee
to assess the independence of Directors; and (jii) outlines the basis of disclosure to shareholders of the assessment
of the independence of Directors, including the disclosure of any relationships that may be perceived to affect the
independence or objectivity of a Director.

The Nominating Committee carried out the review on the independence of the non-executive Directors in September
2023 by taking into consideration the Directors’ Test of Independence Policy and the information collected from each
Director through the completion by each Director of a confirmation of independence checklist. The Director is required to
declare any circumstances in which he may be considered non-independent. The Nominating Committee will then review
the confirmation of independence checklist by applying the Directors’ Test of Independence Policy before affirming the
independence of a Director.

In the Form of Director’s Declaration for 2023, Mr Teo Ser Luck, Mr Hee Theng Fong, Dr Fu Xingran and Dr Jeffrey Goh
Mau Seong had each confirmed that there were neither any circumstances that could have materially interfered with
his exercise of unfettered and independent judgment nor were there any occurrence of any circumstances where the
interests of CAO might not be best served by the interests of the major shareholders of CAO. All have demonstrated their
independence in character and judgement in discharging their duties and responsibilities as Directors of the Company
and their ability to act in the best interests of the Company. This is evident from the minutes of the proceedings
of the Board and Board Committees where they had expressed individual viewpoints and objectively scrutinised
and sought clarifications from the Management, employees, external auditors and internal auditors of CAO as they
considered necessary.

The Board accepted the Nominating Committee’s views and affirmed the independence of these Directors.

The composition of the Board is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee taking into consideration all aspects
of Board diversity which include but not limited to educational background, professional or industry experience, skills,
knowledge, gender, age, cultural background, ethnicity as well as length of service. The Nominating Committee is
satisfied that the Board comprises Directors with diverse academic backgrounds, professional qualifications, skills,
regional and industry experience, geographical origin, interpersonal skills, race, gender, nationality and age. The diverse
mix of the members of the Board will provide the core competencies that will allow for diverse and objective perspectives
on the business operations as well as the strategic direction of the Company. Individual directors’ profiles can be found
in “Board of Directors” section of the Annual Report.

All Singapore-listed companies are required to comply with Provision 2.2 of the 2018 Code which stipulates that
Independent Directors should make up a majority of the Board where the Chairman is not independent. In this regard,
considering that the rationale of Provision 2.2 of the 2018 Code is basically intended to prevent any one (1) major
shareholder from dominating the decision-making process of the Board where the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer are both nominated by the same major shareholder and notwithstanding that the Chairman of the
Board is not an Independent Director of the Company, there already exists an appropriate level of checks and balances
in the management and operation of the Company via the Shareholders’ Agreement as the composition of the Board of
Directors of the Company presently comprises representatives from its two (2) major shareholders namely, CNAF and
BP. Matters requiring the Board’s approval are discussed and deliberated with participation from each member of the
Board and the decision are based on collective decision without any individual or small group of individuals influencing
or dominating the decision-making process. In addition, the Company had appointed a Lead Independent Director from
amongst the Independent Directors of the Company to provide leadership in situations where the Chairman is conflicted.
Considering that the safeguards for a balanced Board are already in place, the Board is of the view that it would be
appropriate to maintain the present Board composition of the Company. Notwithstanding this, as part of the Company’s
commitment to abide by both the letter and spirit of Provision 2.2 of the 2018 Code, the possibility of increasing the
number of Independent Directors in the Board in the foreseeable future will not be precluded.
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The Executive Chairman, with the assistance of the Lead Independent
Director, is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall management and strategic development of the Company.
The Company Secretary assists the Executive Chairman in scheduling Board meetings and ensures that all procedures
and good governance practices are complied with. The CEO consults both with the Executive Chairman and the Lead
Independent Director for their views on the agenda for Board meetings.

The CEO executes the Board’s decisions and is responsible for the day-to-day running of the Company’s business,
making operational decisions for the Company and implementing the Company’s business, direction, strategies
and policies.

The Executive Chairman regularly consults with the Lead Independent Director as well as other members of the Board
and Board committees on major issues. As such, the Board believes there are adequate safeguards in place against
having a concentration of power and authority in a single individual.

The Executive Chairman and the CEO are not related to each other.

With the appointment of the Executive Chairman in December 2023, the Board reviewed and updated the duties and
responsibilities of the Executive Chairman and the CEO. The amended list of duties and responsibilities for each of the
Executive Chairman and CEQO, are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.

In accordance with the CAO Corporate Governance Policy,
the Independent Directors of CAO meet at least once a year, without the presence of the other Directors, to discuss
any matters relevant to the CAO Group, such as its investment criteria, risk management and internal controls,
risk appetite and risk tolerance, performance of management, Board communication and performance, and strategic
issues. The Independent Directors of CAO met in October 2023 at a meeting chaired by the Lead Independent Director
without the presence of the other Directors and the Management, at which the following issues were discussed:
(1) the Company to continue to work on its ESG strategy involving the “new energy” approach; (2) the Company to
allocate time for more board strategy discussions for the longer term plan of the Company; (3) the Company to scout for
more investment opportunities in line with the strategic direction of its parent company, CNAF.

Board Membership

The Nominating Committee was established by
the Board to make recommendations for all Board appointments. As at the date of this report, the Nominating Committee
comprises five (5) members, the majority of whom, including its Chairman, are Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Nominating Committee

Fu Xingran Chairman

Shi Lei Vice Chairman
Teo Ser Luck Member
Zhang Yuchen Member
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Member

The Chairman of the Nominating Committee is not associated with any substantial shareholder of the Company.

The Nominating Committee held two (2) meetings in 2023 where it met to discuss and review (i) Proposed Disclosure on
Proposed CAO Board Diversity Plans, Targets and Implementation Timeline in the 2023 Annual Report of the Company;
(2) the independence of Non-Executive Directors; (i) Board Performance Evaluation; and (i) the Nominating Committee
2023 Annual Self-Assessment Findings. The Nominating Committee had also reviewed and approved several other
matters under its remit via email circulation and these included (1) Proposed Re-Election of Directors for 2023 Annual
General Meeting; (2) Proposed Change in Senior Management; (3) Amendment to Proposed Re-Election of Directors
for 2023 Annual General Meeting; (4) Proposed Adoption of Revised CAO Directors’ Test of Independence Policy;
and (5) Proposed Appointment of Executive Chairman in place of Non-Executive Chairman of CAO.
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The responsibilities of the Nominating Committee include:

the review of the structure, size and composition of the Board and the Board Committees;

the review of the succession plans for the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Directors;

the development of a transparent process for evaluating and the performance of the Board, its Board Committees
and non-executive Directors, including assessing whether the non-executive Directors are able to commit enough
time to discharge their responsibilities and the maximum number of listed company Board representations which a
Director may hold;

the review of the training and professional development programmes of the Board;

the appointment and re-appointment of all Directors (including alternate Directors, if any);

the review and confirmation of the independence of each Director; and

the review of the management structure of key operating subsidiaries of the Company and evaluation of the performance
of key management personnel of these key operating subsidiaries, as and when proposed by any Director.

DICAS

ek

The Nominating
Committee will generally apply the process and guiding principles of the Policy for Selection and Appointment of
Independent Directors of CAO (the “Selection & Appointment of Independent Directors Policy”) for identifying,
evaluating, selecting and nominating suitable candidates for appointments as new Independent Directors of the
Company. In considering the overall balance of the Board’s composition, the Nominating Committee will give due
consideration to the selection and evaluation criteria set out in the Selection & Appointment of Independent Directors
Policy, having regard to the normally accepted nomination criteria which include but not limited to (i) the appropriate
background, experience, industry knowledge or ability to acquire that knowledge, professional skills and qualifications;
(i) demonstrated and recognised knowledge, experience and competence in business including financial literacy;
(iii) ability to analyse information, think strategically, review and challenge Management in order to make informed decisions
and assess performance; (iv) willingness to devote the required time, including being available to attend meetings of the
Board and Board Committees; (v) good communication skills and ability to work harmoniously with fellow directors and
the Management; and (vi) high levels of personal and professional integrity as well as business ethics.

In the case of selection and appointment of CNAF-Nominee Directors and BP-Nominee Directors, the Nominating
Committee may apply the relevant selection and evaluation criteria in the Selection & Appointment of Independent
Directors Policy when assessing their suitability in complementing the core competencies of the Board at that time.

In the course of the year, Mr Lin Yi, a CNAF-nominee Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, was appointed
as Executive Director in place of Mr Wang Yanjun who retired as Executive Director of the Company in March 2023 and
Mr Shi Yanliang, a CNAF-nominee Director, was appointed as Executive Chairman of the Company in December 2023
in place of Mr Gong Feng, Non-Executive, Non-Independent Chairman. Prior to the respective appointments of Mr Lin
Yi and Mr Shi Yanliang, the Nominating Committee had considered the relevant selection and evaluation criteria in the
Selection & Appointment of Independent Directors Policy when assessing the suitability of Mr Lin Yi and Mr Shi Yanliang
in complementing the core competencies of the Board. Following consideration and assessment of the aforesaid
respective appointments, the Nominating Committee submitted its recommendations to the Board for approvals of
(1) the appointment of Mr Lin Yi as Executive Director; and (2) the appointment of Mr Shi Yanliang as Executive Chairman
of the Company.

In line with the Board adopted guiding principles for the
determination of a specified maximum number of listed board representations. Directors of CAO should not, as a general
guide, hold more than six (6) board representations in listed companies (the “Maximum Number of Listed Board
Representations”). In addition, the following considerations are also taken into account:

()  where the individual also holds a full-time executive position; and
(i) where the individual is a full-time independent director.

All Directors of the Company have complied with the requirement on the Maximum Number of Listed Board
Representations.
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The Nominating Committee had reviewed each Director’s external directorships as well as the Director’s attendance and
contributions to the Board. Despite the multiple directorships of some Directors, the Nominating Committee is satisfied
that all of the Directors of the Company have complied with the requirement on the Maximum Number of Listed Board
Representations. The Nominating Committee is also satisfied that the Directors spent adequate time on the Company’s
affairs and have carried out their responsibilities.

Pursuant to Regulation 94 of the Company’s Constitution,
one-third of the members of the Board of Directors shall retire by rotation at every annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”) and these Directors may offer themselves for re-election, if eligible. For the 30" AGM to be held
on 25 April 2024, Mr Teo Ser Luck, Mr Shi Lei and Mr Hee Theng Fong are due for retirement by rotation and will be
eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Regulation 100 of the Company’s Constitution, Mr Shi Yanliang who was appointed as Executive
Chairman/Director of the Company on 15 December 2023, will hold office as Director until the next annual general
meeting of the Company and will be eligible for re-election under Regulation 100 at the 30" AGM.

The Nominating Committee evaluated the performance of each Director and the effectiveness
of the Board as a whole. The Board has, through the Nominating Committee, implemented a formal process annually
for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, each of its Board Committees and individual Directors
(the “Overall Board/Board Committees’ Performance Evaluation”). The Overall Board/Board Committees’
Performance Evaluation entailed the completion by each member of the Nominating Committee of a Board assessment
and effectiveness questionnaire (the “Board Evaluation Questionnaire”). The Board Evaluation Questionnaire takes
into consideration the requirements of the 2018 Code as well as generally accepted good practices for Nominating
Committees of listed companies in Singapore.

The elements of the Board Evaluation Questionnaire included questions on (i) the Board’s composition; (i) Board’s
access to information prior to Board meetings and on an ongoing basis to enable them to properly discharge their
duties and responsibilities as Directors; (i) the expertise and experience of each member of the Board; (iv) the conduct
of proceedings of meetings, participation and contributions to the Board both inside and outside of Board meetings;
(v) the process for selection and appointment of new Directors & Key Management Personnel as well as nomination of
Directors for re-election; (vi) the assessment of the performance benchmark for assessing the performance of the Board
as a whole and in ensuring the continued return for shareholders; (vii) the standard of conduct in preventing conflicts of
interest and the disclosure of personal interests and abstention from voting where appropriate; (viii) Directors’ multiple
board representations; and (ix) communications with shareholders of the Company .

A summary of the assessment ratings on each of the elements of the Board Evaluation Questionnaire by each member of
the Nominating Committee for last three (3) preceding years was also sent to the members of the Nominating Committee.

Each member of the Nominating Committee would first carry out his own assessment and evaluation of the performance
of the Board as a whole and its Board Committees using the Board Evaluation Questionnaire.

A general summary of the assessment ratings on each of the elements of the Board Evaluation Questionnaire by each
member of the Nominating Committee will be collated by the Company Secretary for the Nominating Committee’s
deliberation and consensus at its Nominating Committee Meeting held in November 2023. Based on analyses of the
ratings allocated by members of the Nominating Committee, it was noted that the Board already has an effective
governance framework in place which provided a sound basis for strategic leadership and oversight at the Board level.
In order to bring about more positive effects on board dynamics and governance, the Board considered the proposed
action points and these included: (1) enhancing the demographic attributes and characteristics in the boardroom through
gender diversity as well as having more international representation on the Board; and (2) increasing the number of
independent directors represented on the Board to further enhance the independence element in the Board to enable the
Company to comply with the requirements of Provision 2.2 of the 2018 Code which requires majority board independence
where the Chairman of the Board is not independent.
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During the year, each of the Board committees also conducted an annual self-evaluation to assess its effectiveness
as a whole and explored ways to further enhance its effectiveness. Areas covered by the self-assessment exercise
included (1) Board membership and diversity; (2) Conduct of meetings; (3) Training and professional development;
(4) Reporting and Updates to the Board; (5) Process for selection and appointment of new Independent Directors;
(6) Process for Board Performance Evaluation; and (7) Communications with shareholders. The overall responses
received from members of the Nominating Committee were positive in all categories of the Nominating Committee
Self-Assessment Form, indicating that the Nominating Committee is already operating at an effective level.

The Nominating Committee is satisfied with the current compositions and performances of the Board and the Board
Committees, both individually and as a whole.

Access to Information

The Company has put in place enhanced communication processes between the Board and
Management in terms of information flow.

Agenda for meetings and all Board papers for discussions are circulated to Directors at least ten (10) calendar days in
advance so that the Directors are prepared for the meetings. However, sensitive matters may be tabled at the meeting
itself or discussed without any papers being distributed. Management and senior executives of the Company would be
present during the Board meeting or Board Committee meeting, as the case may be, to present their proposals or to
answer any questions that Board members may have.

The Board as a whole as well as individual Directors have direct access to Management represented by senior executive
officers of the Company and the CAO Group. The Management provides the Directors with monthly updates on the
operational and financial performance of the CAO Group, and also responds to regular questions from the Board or
individual Directors in a timely manner.

Where the Board deems it necessary, the Board can obtain independent advice from external consultants. This enhances
the Board’s ability to discharge its functions and duties.

All Board members have direct access to and the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Company
Secretary attends all Board and Board Committee meetings and assists the respective Chairman of the Board/Board
Committees in ensuring that Board/Board Committee papers, procedures and the applicable laws and regulations
are adhered to.

Information about the Company and the CAO Group are freely available to each Board member. Management will
promptly supply any additional information that the Board requires.

The Board also has ready access to external professionals for consultations and any such costs and expenses are paid
by the Company.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS
Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies/Level and Mix of Remuneration/Disclosure on Remuneration

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee to consider and to make
recommendations on remuneration matters for the Directors and KMP of the CAO Group. Apart from ensuring
consistencies with good practices, the Remuneration Committee is also mindful of the need to ensure that the Company
and the CAO Group are able to attract and retain good Directors and senior executives to the business.
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As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises five (5) members, the majority of whom, including
its Chairman, are Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Remuneration Committee

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Chairman

Shi Lei Vice Chairman
Fu Xingran Member

Hee Theng Fong Member
Richard Yang Minghu Member

The Remuneration Committee assists the Board and Management by assessing and making remuneration
recommendations for the Executive Directors and KMPs of the Company that is appropriate and proportionate to the
sustained performance and value creation of the Company, in line with the strategic objectives of the Company.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and recommended to the Board for consideration and
approval, (1) Proposed Salary Adjustment for Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and KMPs of the Company”;
and (2) Proposed 2023 Salary Adjustment for KMP. The Remuneration Committee had also reviewed and
recommended to the Board for consideration and approval, the Proposed Key Employment Terms, Job Description and
Remuneration for Executive Chairman of the Company.

The Company used the “Total Remuneration Survey” for the Energy Trading Industry purchased from Mercer as a
reference for benchmarking purposes. Mercer and its consultants are independent and are not related to the Company
or its Directors.

Broadly, remuneration for the Executive Chairman, CEO/ED and five (5) KMPs for the financial year ended
31 December 2023 is based on the Company’s performance as well as individual performances, and the remuneration
for Non-Executive, Independent Directors in the form of fees is based on responsibilities and memberships in the Board
and its committees.

All Independent Directors of the Company are paid Directors’ fees, subject to the approval of shareholders at the
AGM. Directors’ fees comprise a basic fee and fees in respect of service on the Board Committees. All Non-executive,
Non-Independent Directors of the Company do not receive Directors’ fees.

The structure for the payment of Directors’ fees for Non-Executive Directors, which is based on a framework comprising
basic fees and additional fees for serving on the Board Committees and undertaking additional services for the CAO
Group. Fees paid or payable to Independent Directors consider factors such as effort, time spent and responsibilities of
these Directors. The Executive Chairman and Executive Director do not receive Directors’ fees for their Board directorships
with the Company or within the CAO Group.

Details on the existing Directors’ fee structure are set out below:

(@) Each independent director will receive a base fee (“‘Base Fee”).

(b) The Chairman of the Audit Committee (“AC”) will receive additionally two-thirds of the Base Fee
(*AC Chairman’s Fee”).

(c) The Chairman of the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) will receive additionally two-thirds of the Base Fee
(‘BRMC Chairman’s Fee”).

(d) Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and the Chairman of the Nominating Committee (“NC”) will each
receive additionally one-half of the Base Fee.

(e) Members of AC, RC, NC and RMC will each receive 50% of the respective AC Chairman’s Fee, RC Chairman’s Fee,
NC Chairman’s Fee, and RMC Chairman’s Fee.

()  Non-Executive, Non-Independent Directors, and Executive Directors will not be entitled to receive fees.

(@) The Lead Independent Director will receive additionally a fixed fee of S$30,000.
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The remuneration of Directors, the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer payable for the financial year ended
31 December 2023 is set out below:

Basic/Fixed Variable/
Salary and Performance Long-Term
Fee Allowance Bonus Others Incentives
Name of Director/CEO (S9) (S9) (S9) (S9) (S9)

Executive Chairman

Shieniang' | NA | 11880 | - [ - | - | 11880 |

Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director

28052837 | 4268788 | 3397411 | - ] 366,190.36

Non-Executive Directors

Gong Feng* (Chairman) 0 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 0
Teo Ser Luck 162,000 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 162,000
(Lead Independent Director)
Shi Lei* 0 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 0
Zhang Yuchen* 0 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 0
Hee Theng Fong 120,000 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 120,000
Fu Xingran 112,000 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 112,000
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong 112,000 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 112,000
Richard Yang Minghui * 0 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 0
Notes:
1 Z/Icrcso?(iji\r(%rll)l/iéngi was appointed as Executive Chairman of the Company on 15 December 2023 and his total remuneration for the financial year 2023 has been pro-rated

2 Mr Lin Vi, Chief Executive Officer, was appointed as Executive Director on 15 March 2023 and was re-designated as Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director of the
Company on the same date. The total remuneration of Mr Lin Yi shown above includes the 2022 variable bonus paid during the financial year 2023 and excludes the
2023 variable bonus payable during the financial year 2024.

+ Non-executive, Non-Independent Directors of the Company do not receive Directors’ fees.

Summary of Compensation Table for Key Management Personnel for the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Allowances
Name of Key Based/Fixed Variable and Other Long-Term
Management Salary Bonus Benefits Incentives
Remuneration Bands Personnel (%) (%) (%) (%)
S$$500,001 - S$750,000 Elizza Ding 70.2 26.9 2.9 0 100.0
Zou Yaoping 68.3 20.9 10.8 0 100.0
Liu Hanguan 66.4 16.2 17.4 0 100.0
$$250,000 - S$500,000 e
Doreen Nah 67.4 29.6 3.0 0 100.0
Koh Jia Mian 66.1 27.2 6.7 0 100.0

Total Remuneration of
Five (5) Key Management $$2,069,578
Personnel(1)

1 The remuneration disclosed for the KMP includes the 2022 variable bonus paid during the financial year 2023 and excludes the 2023 variable bonus payable during the
financial year 2024.

There are no employees in the CAO Group who are immediate family members of the Chairman or any of the Directors
during the financial year ended 31 December 2023. “Immediate family member” means the spouse, child, adopted child,
stepchild, brother, sister, and parent.

The remuneration of the CAO Group’s five (5) KMP takes into consideration relevant policy requirements of CNAF or the
pay and employment conditions in the same industry and is performance-related.
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The remuneration package of Directors and key management personnel include the following:

Basic/fixed salary — The basic salary (exclusive of statutory employer contributions to Central Provident Fund) for
the ED, CEO and each KMP were approved by the Remuneration Committee and endorsed by the Board, taking into
account the performance of the individual for the financial year 2023, the inflation price index and information from
independent sources on the pay scale for similar jobs in a selected group of comparable organisations.

Variable/Performance - The CAO Group operates a bonus scheme for all employees, including the Executive
Chairman, CEO/ED. The criteria for the bonus scheme are the level of profit achieved from certain aspects of the CAO
Group’s business activities against targets, together with an assessment of the Company’s and individual’s performance
during the year. The remuneration disclosed above for the Executive Chairman, CEOQ/ED and the five (5) KMPs included
the variable bonuses in relation to business performance targets achieved for the Company during the financial year.

Others - Benefits in kind such as statutory employer contributions to Central Provident Fund, employer’s contributions
to social security funds for CNAF seconded personnel, and other allowances and/or short-term benefits are made
available where appropriate and consistent with common industry practices.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Accountability:

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, reviewed all financial statements of the Company and the
CAO Group. The Board is accountable to shareholders and always aims to present a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s and the CAO Group’s financial position and prospects to shareholders on a timely basis.
The half-year and full-year results were announced or issued within the mandatory period. The Board also ensures that
timely announcements of other matters as prescribed by the SGX-ST Listing Manual requirements and other relevant
rules and regulations are made.

Board members are provided with management accounts on a monthly basis. Such reports keep the Board informed, on a
balanced and understandable basis, of the CAO Group’s performance, financial position and prospects and consist of the
consolidated profit and loss accounts, analysis of sales, operating profit, pre-tax and attributable profit by business segments
compared against the budgets, together with explanation given for significant variances for the month and year-to-date.

The Board had established a Financial Audit Management Measures (the “Financial Audit Management Measures”)
which will serve to further strengthen financial supervision, regulate the annual audit of financial statements, improve the
quality of accounting information as well as enhance the level of financial management of the CAO Group. In line with
the prevailing regulatory requirements of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council of the People’s Republic of China, which has jurisdiction over CNAF, which is a state-owned enterprise of
the People’s Republic of China, and over the Company as CNAF’s subsidiary, the same audit firm may undertake the
financial audit of the CAO Group for not more than 5 consecutive financial years. For audit firm with good audit quality
track record, the Company may request for extension of engagement of the same audit firm and obtain approval from
the Audit Committee and the Board, but the number of years of consecutive financial audits shall not exceed 8 financial
years. The audit firm extending its year of consecutive audits beyond 5 consecutive financial years will be required to
change the audit engagement partner and the signing certified public accountant from the sixth year onwards.

The Audit Committee, in accordance with its terms of reference, reviews the performance of the external auditors on an
annual basis. In reviewing the performance of the external auditors, the Audit Committee will focus on the quality and
rigour of the audit (e.g. assessment of the effectiveness of the external audit through levels of errors identified, accuracy
in handling key accounting audit judgments and response to queries from the Audit Committee); quality of audit services
provided, the audit firm’s internal quality control procedures, relationship with internal auditors and the Company; and the
independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

During the financial year 2023, the Board, through the Audit Committee, Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”) and internal
auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Risk Services Pte Ltd (“PWC”), scrutinised Management’s conduct of the Company’s
and the CAO Group’s business processes and financials. Each area of the Company and the CAO Group was audited on
an ongoing basis to ensure that the Company and the CAO Group maintain good corporate practices and governance
and financial integrity.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board recognises the importance of sound internal control and risk management practices. In this regard, the Board
affirms that it is responsible for the CAO Group’s systems of internal control and risk management system and had
established the Risk Management Committee.

As at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee comprises five (5) members, all of whom are
Non-Executive Directors, and the majority, including the Chairman, consists of Independent Directors.

Risk Management Committee

Hee Theng Fong Chairman
Zhang Yuchen Vice Chairman
Teo Ser Luck Member

Shi Lei Member
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Member

In line with the Risk Management Committee’s remit of overall risk management, the Risk Management Committee
coordinates the management of major risks under the respective oversight responsibility of the Audit Committee,
the Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee. The Audit Committee, the Nominating Committee and the
Remuneration Committee will notify the Risk Management Committee of any material risk matters and report them to the
Board after reaching a consensus.

The Risk Management Committee assists the Board and the Company in ensuring adequate measures are in place to
manage all material risks (including relating to risk management policies and framework which shall include, among others,
the review of market risk, credit risk, operational and compliance risks associated with trading activities, technology risk
(including information security risk and cybersecurity risk), reputational risk and other risk concerns (other than in relation
to financial reporting and financial-related risks and controls).

The Risk Management Department of the Company ensures that the risk management activities have been executed
daily. The Risk Management Department is responsible for, among others:

()  ensuring that risk management activities have been executed daily; and
(i) all risk-related policies, processes and limits are implemented and adhered to.

The Risk Management Committee delegates the day-to-day management of risks of the Company and the CAO Group
to the Company Risk Meeting (save for the day-to-day management of risks relating to the “Hedging Business” of the
Company and the CAO Group), which operates within the delegated authority set by the Risk Management Committee
from time to time.

The Company Risk Meeting comprises at least six (6) members which include the Head of Risk Management,
members of the Management team (one of whom shall be the CEO) and relevant functional heads (i.e. Head of Trading,
Head of Operation, Head of Finance, Head of Legal & Compliance and Head/Deputy Head of Corporate Development and
Investment), and meets at least once a year as well as on an ad hoc basis when required. The Chairman of the Company
Risk Meeting, who is the Head of Risk Management, directly reports to the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO/Vice President”)
but also has an independent direct reporting line to the Risk Management Committee.

The Risk Management Committee delegates the day-to-day management of risks of the “Hedging Business” of the
Company and the CAO Group to the Hedging Business Leadership Team. The Hedging Business Leadership Team
comprises at least six (6) members which include members of the Management team (of whom (1) the CEO shall be the
Team Leader; and (2) the CFO/Vice President shall be the Deputy Team Leader), Head of Risk Management, Head of
Aviation Fuel, Head of Qil Products Trading and Head of Finance

The Risk Management Report is found on pages 61 to 69 of the Annual Report.
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The adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls of the CAO Group is subject to a periodic review by
the Internal Auditors of the Company which is outsourced to PWC and supported by the Compliance team of the Legal
& Compliance Department. The key responsibilities of the Compliance function include inter alia:

(1) review and evaluation of compliance issues across the CAO Group;

) monitoring of new and existing laws and regulations as well as keeping abreast of the status of all relevant

compliance activities;

acting as a channel of communication between compliance investigators and concerned parties;

setting policies and periodic checks to prevent any unethical or illegal conduct within the CAO Group; (5) responding

to violation of regulations, policies, rules and standards of conduct within the CAO Group; (6) coordination of compliance

activities such as providing training to staff of the CAO Group;

(7) overseeing the annual internal audit for the CAO Group which includes preparation of internal audit schedules
including short/long term audit plans, reviewing the annual/quarterly internal audit reports to the Management and
the Audit Committee;

(8) integration and establishment of the CAO Group’s internal control framework, policies, processes and systems across
the Company, its subsidiaries and associates;

(9) facilitating and assisting the CAO Group functional heads in formulating policies, operational processes and systems.
Ensure that the policies, processes and systems are efficient in implementation and aligned with regulatory requirement;

(10) establishing and maintaining the CAO Group’s Business Continuity Plan;

) establishing and ongoing review of the standard operating templates of the CAO Group to ensure proper departmental
ownership of each processes and changes; and

(12) evaluating the system of internal controls for new projects and business activities and analysis on the impact of
such activities on the CAO Group and where necessary, provide recommendations and develop programmes
for improvement.

N

&

The Head of Legal & Compliance reports directly to the CEO/ED. The Head of Legal & Compliance may also report directly
to the Audit Committee for important matters or concerns relating to the system of internal controls of the CAO Group.

As part of the CAO Group’s efforts to ensure all employees of the CAO Group stay relevant and informed of the
dynamic business environment and uphold core ethics and values that are essential to the long-term success of
the CAO Group, the Legal & Compliance Department arranged for all employees of the CAO Group to participate
in the mandatory e-learning course modules relating to (1) “Introduction to Environmental, Social and Governance;
(2) Individual Accountability; (3) Data Privacy; and (4) Information Security and Cyber Risk Awareness via the Thomson
Reuters’ online learning portal. In addition, the Legal & Compliance Department conducted three (3) in-house
training sessions namely, (1) Anti-Fraud, Anti-Corruption and Sanctions Compliance; (2) Personal Data Protection;
and (3) CAO’s General Mandate for Interested Person Transactions.

In August 2023, the Company conducted its first on-site business continuity plan cum disaster recovery plan
(“BCP_& DRP’) exercise since the onset of the pandemic, activating the disaster recovery centre, whereby the employees
of foreign subsidiaries of the CAO Group also participated in the drill in their respective countries. The BCP & DRP exercise
had elevated the awareness of handling unforeseen events, assessed the effectiveness of the business continuity plan,
and strengthened employees’ emergency response capabilities in the face of unexpected situations. During the year,
the Company also conducted a “Call Tree” drill to test the effectiveness of its business continuity and emergency/incident
management protocols.

With the assistance of the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee, the Board reviews the adequacy
and integrity of the internal control systems and processes of the Company from time to time. Corporate Policy
on Anti-Money Laundering Measures, including the appointment of an Anti-Money Laundering Compliance Officer,
together with other trading-related policies such as Out-of-Office Dealing Policy, Telephone Taping/Instant Messaging/
Mobile Phone Policy, Deal Entry Policy, CAO Group Trade Sanctions Policy and CAO Group Corporate Guarantee
Policy had been endorsed by the Risk Management Committee and relevant departments had also been mandated
with the responsibility to oversee the adoption of the aforesaid policies in their practices, processes and operations.

The Company has also established the “CAO Internal Audit Management Measures”. The objectives of the “CAO
Internal Audit Management Measures” are to streamline and strengthen the administration of internal audit activities,
enhance CAQO'’s internal controls processes and provide assurance on the quality of internal audit services.
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The internal audit function of the CAO Group, which is outsourced to PWC, assists the Audit Committee and the
Board in evaluating the internal control systems and processes, financial and accounting matters, compliance and
business and financial risk management. The Audit Committee’s responsibilities in the CAO Group’s internal controls are
complemented by the work of the outsourced Internal Auditors, PWC, the Risk Management Department and the Legal
& Compliance Department.

Based on the audit reports, internal control systems review report and management controls in place, the Audit Committee
is satisfied that the internal control systems provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, that proper
accounting records are maintained and financial statements are reliable.

In line with the Singapore Standards on Auditing issued in July 2015, the Company’s external auditors, Deloitte, will disclose
key audit matters in the auditor’s reports on the financial statements which include matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Key Audit Matters”).

Significant financial reporting matters (including the Audit Committee’s perspectives on the Key Audit Matters) are
summarised below:

Audit Committ
Matters and d

Key Audit Matters
Revenue recognition

The Audit Committee regularly discussed with management
and the external auditors on the standard operating procedures
and controls in place to ensure the timeliness, completeness
and accuracy of accounting records and reporting.

Recognition of revenue and purchases have been
identified as a risk primarily due to:

. complexity in the timing of recognition for trades
with deliveries occurring on or around year
end as a result of the extent of the Group’s
distribution network and varying shipping terms
with customers; and

The Audit Committee has considered the reasonableness
and adequacy of the internal controls and procedures on the
CAO Group’s operating effectiveness. The Audit Committee
has also considered the audit procedures performed by the
external auditors as well as their audit findings, and noted
that no misstatements were uncovered by the external
auditors. It evaluated and was satisfied that the standard
operating procedures and controls in place were reasonable
and adequate.

o risk of potential deliberate misstatement of the
Group’s trading positions by failing to report the
trades entered or failing to record the trades
accurately or on a timely basis.

The details of the Group’s revenue are disclosed in
Notes 3.14 and 20 to the financial statements.
Valuation of derivatives, trading inventories and
open physical contracts

The valuation of derivatives, trading inventories
and open physical contracts requires significant
management judgement in applying the appropriate
valuation methodology and incorporating of any
contract specific terms including the use of valid and
appropriate price index.

The valuation techniques and the inputs used
in the fair value measurements of the financial
instruments are disclosed in Notes 26 and 29 to the
financial statements.

The Audit Committee received regular briefings on the CAO
Group’s internal controls and compliance. The internal auditors
also conducted a review of the Company’s system of
internal controls and no significant observations were noted.

The Audit Committee has considered the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the controls in place over the valuation of
derivatives, trading inventories and open physical contracts
as well as the internal auditors’ audit findings. It evaluated and
was satisfied that the valuation methodology and inputs used
in the valuation were reasonable and appropriate.

In addition, PWC which had been engaged to conduct a review of the internal control systems and processes of the
CAO Group will highlight any internal control weaknesses which have come to their attention in the course of their
review. Any such audit findings noted during the audit by external auditors or internal control weaknesses noted during
the review by PWC, and recommendations in relation thereto, if any, by the external auditors and PWC respectively,
are reported to the Audit Committee.
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In accordance with Provision 10.2 of the 2018 Code, the Audit Committee reviewed the written assurance
(“Letter of Assurance”) from the CEO and CFO on the financial records and the financial statements of the Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2023. The Letter of Assurance provides reasonable assurance to the Board
that (1) the financial records of CAQO for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 have been properly maintained;
(2) the financial statements and the accompanying notes comply with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) in all material respects; (3) the financial statements and accompanying notes provide a true and fair view
of the financial position and performance of CAO and its subsidiaries; and (4) the integrity of the financial statements are
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control; and (5) the risk management and internal control
system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

In accordance with Provision 9.2(a) of the 2018 Code, the Board received a Letter of Assurance from the CEO and
CFO confirming that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the CAO Group’s operations and finances. In accordance with Provision 9.2 (b) of the 2018 Code, the Board
also received a Letter of Assurance from the CEO, other members of the Management team and the Head of Risk
Management, that the CAO Group’s risk management and internal control systems are adequate and effective as at
31 December 2023 to address financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external
auditors, and reviews performed by management and various Board Committees, the Board, with the concurrence
of the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls and
risk management systems are adequate and effective as at 31 December 2023 in addressing financial, operational,
compliance and information technology risks to provide reasonable assurance for achieving the following objectives:

(@) effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
(b) reliability of financial reporting; and
(c) compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Board noted that the system of internal controls and risk management provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
that the Group will not be affected by any event that could be reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its business
objectives and goals. In this regard, the Board also noted that no system can provide absolute assurance against the
occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises five (5) members,
all of whom are Non-Executive Directors and the majority, including its Chairman, consists of Independent Directors:

Audit Committee

Teo Ser Luck Chairman
Zhang Yuchen Vice Chairman
Hee Theng Fong Member

Fu Xingran Member
Richard Yang Minghui Member

The Audit Committee held four (4) meetings in 2023 where it met with external
and internal auditors to review both the Company and the CAO Group’s financials and audit reports. A key issue for
discussion is the financial statements and announcements made by the Company to shareholders. The members of the
Audit Committee, collectively, have expertise or experience in financial management and are qualified to discharge the
Audit Committee’s responsibilities.

The Audit Committee met with both the external and internal auditors at least once without the presence of the
Management.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board and the Company in fulfilling its oversight responsibility relating to inter alia,
the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and financial reporting processes and the Company’s system of internal
accounting and financial controls, the review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal controls (in relation to financial reporting and other financial-related risks), the adequacy of the scope, resources
and performance of the internal audit function, the annual independent audit of the Company’s financial statements,
the engagement of external auditors and their remuneration, and the evaluation of their qualifications, independence,
objectivity and performance.

The Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly and annual financial statements for the financial year 2023 and the integrity
of financial reporting of the Company, including the accounting principles, for recommendation to the Board for approval.
The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the plans of the internal auditor and external auditor’ to ensure that
such plans adequately cover, in particular, significant internal controls of the Company relating to financial, operational
and compliance-related matters. Significant issues are discussed at Audit Committee meetings.

The Audit Committee has full authority to investigate into any matter within its terms of reference, including any suspected
fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations.

The Audit Committee has full access to and co-operation of the Management. The Audit Committee also has full
discretion to invite any Director or executive officer from the Company or the CAO Group to attend its meetings. The Audit
Committee has full access to both external and internal auditors. Where required, the Audit Committee is empowered
to obtain external legal advice or such other independent professional advice as the Audit Committee deems necessary.

The Audit Committee monitors all interested person transactions, including transactions under the general mandate
on Interested Person Transactions approved by shareholders at the AGM held in April 2023, and conflict of interest
situations including transactions, procedures or actions taken which may raise issues about the Management’s integrity.

The Audit Committee also evaluates the scope and results of internal audit reports as well as Management’s
responses to the findings of the internal audit reports. For further discussions about internal audit, please see section
(D) INTERNAL CONTROLS.

The Audit Committee has also conducted an annual review of non-audit services and is satisfied that the nature and
extent of such services provided by Deloitte will not prejudice their independence and objectivity.

In line the Financial Audit Management Measures of the Company (the “Management Measures”), the Company shall
not retain the same external auditors for a term of 5 consecutive financial years and subject to fulfilment of certain criteria
under the Management Measures, the same external auditors may be retained for a consecutive period of up to 8 years.
In line with the Management Measures, Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”) which had been retained as the external
auditors of the Company for a consecutive period of 8 years (i.e. from financial years 2016 to 2023), will not be seeking
re-appointment at the 30" AGM to be held in April 2024.

The Company implemented the Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy which included inter alia, clearer guidance relating to
the Company’s approach and stance on whistleblowing and the means by which whistleblowers can raise serious concerns
of any allegations of wrongdoing as well as more explicit indication of the kinds of conduct which might be considered
reportable concerns. Under the Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy, whistleblowers may report any reportable concerns
pertaining to any form of misconduct affecting the CAO Group, its customers, partners, suppliers and other stakeholders,
via a dedicated email address: whistle_blowing@caosco.com and auditcommittee_whistleblowing@caosco.com.
The Company did not receive any such reportable concerns during the year.
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A summary of the Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy can be accessed from the Company’s external website. Under the
Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy, all reportable concerns will be reviewed within a reasonable time-frame, and after
due consideration and inquiry, a decision will be taken on whether to proceed with a detailed investigation. Guidance and
direction will be sought from the Management of the Company on the appropriate course of action. Where a reportable
incident relates directly or indirectly to any member of the Management, that member of the Management shall abstain
from participating in the deliberations relating thereto. Management shall then submit all reported concerns including
recommended action (if any) to the Chairman of the Board and/or the Audit Committee for their guidance. The Chairman
of the Board and/or the Audit Committee shall decide as to whether the Company should proceed with the investigation
of the complaint or whether no further action is considered necessary. In the event that the Chairman of the Board and/
or the Audit Committee shall decide that an investigation should proceed, an ad hoc investigation taskforce shall be
established and the members of such ad hoc investigation taskforce shall comprise relevant personnel recommmended
by the Management and approved by the Chairman of the Board and/or the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Company implemented and executed its Enterprise Risk Management Framework and Process
which provides the Company with a structured approach and framework to regularly assess its enterprise-wide risks.
Enterprise Risk Assessments are conducted on a regular basis to identify and deliver an inventory of key risks for the
Company (including climate change-related risk) and to develop a list of key risk indicators that can help the Company
monitor and mitigate its key risks. The Company also executed its Crisis Management and Business Continuity Plan
which provides the CAO Group with a structured process for limiting the intensity or impact of negative threat or event
to its employees, products, services, investments, financial stability and reputation.

During the year, the Company also revised and updated several of its compliance-related policies including the “Trade
Sanctions Compliance Policy”, “Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorist Financing Measures”. The Company also
conducted a group-wide fraud risk assessment on the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Fraud Control Plan comprises periodic fraud risk assessments on the Company which is subject to review from time
to time.

In addition, other existing policies, internal guidelines and/or processes and procedures have been put in place by
the Company and these include the Investment Governance Management Measures, Revised Hedging Business
Management Measures, Administrative Measures for Records and Archives (which replaced the Documents Retention
Policy), Contracts/Documents Review Policy and Procedures, Appropriate Use of Information Technology Policy,
Revised CAO Whistleblowing Policy, Administrative Measures for the Formulation of Internal Policies and Procedures,
Remuneration Policy, Revised Investor Relations Policy, etc.

The Company has put in place an employee handbook which includes a code of business conduct and ethics
for employees.

Internal Audit

Both the Board and the Audit Committee agree that it is important to have a strong professional internal audit function to
enhance their ability to manage risk and safeguard shareholders’ interest. It has been determined that the best approach
is to engage independent professional auditors to discharge this function and such, PWC has been retained as the
Internal Auditors of the CAO Group.

During the financial year, PWC reviewed the Company’s processes and procedures on a continual basis to ensure
compliance with the best corporate governance practices. It also reviewed interested person transactions on a regular
basis. The Audit Committee is satisfied that PWC had adequate resources to perform its functions and had appropriate
standing within the Company.

As the Internal Auditors of the CAO Group, PWC had conducted its internal audits for the financial year 2023 in
accordance with PWC’s global internal audit methodology which is aligned with the Standards for the Professional
Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.
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In line with the requirements of the “CAQ Internal Audit Management Measures”, the Audit Committee reviewed and
approved the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Risk Services Pte. Ltd. (“PWC”) as the outsourced internal
auditors of the Company in place of BDO for the financial year 2023. In accordance with the relevant requirements of the
“CAQ Internal Audit Management Measures”, the Company will be conducting an audit service quality assessment of
its outsourced internal auditors on a yearly basis and will provide the evaluation results at the second Audit Committee
Meeting scheduled for that year. The internal audit plan for the following financial year will be presented for approval at
the second Audit Committee Meeting scheduled for each year together with the recommendation for the outsourced
internal auditors’ re-appointment.

The Audit Committee had approved the internal audit plan for 2024 submitted by PWC. The internal audit plan includes
amongst others, (1) an independent annual review on the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s overall system of
internal controls including an audit of key business processes; (2) audit on the hedging process of the Group’s hedging
business; (3) audit on the review process for interested person transactions; and (4) audit on the FY 2023 sustainability
reporting process. The internal audit reports which included inter alia, a summary of the significant audit findings or
internal control inadequacies that could possibly affect the Group’s operational effectiveness, are submitted to the
Audit Committee for review and approval. These internal audit reports are also submitted to the Board for information.
Adoption of remedial measures by relevant departments arising from the audit findings are subsequently monitored for
implementation by specified timelines.

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

The Sustainability Committee comprises five (5) members, all of
whom are Non-Executive Directors and the majority, including its Chairman, consists of Independent Directors:

Sustainability Committee

Teo Ser Luck Chairman
Zhang Yuchen Vice Chairman
Hee Theng Fong Member

Fu Xingran Member
Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong Member

The Sustainability Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities in relation to sustainability-related issues of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries as well as
subsidiaries where it has management control (“Subsidiaries”), and to achieve the following objectives: (i) To maintain and
achieve long-term business growth and development of the Company, to promote environmental protection, enhance
human resource management and other technical capabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries, thereby creating
long-term sustainable value for the stakeholders of the Company; (i) To develop a sustainability framework and an
actionable sustainability roadmap; and (i) To embed sustainability into the Company’s corporate culture, promoting
ethical and responsible behaviour.

The Sustainability Committee held three (3) meetings in 2023 where it met to discuss and review (1) Summary of
Findings and Recommendations in relation to: (a) Evaluation of Material Environmental, Social and Governance
(ESG) Factors in FY2021 Sustainability Reporting; (b) Materiality Assessment of ESG Factors in FY2022 and FY2023
Sustainability Reporting including Proposed Targets and Metrics; (c) Report Outlining Sustainability Strategy Objectives,
3-5 years Sustainable Development Strategy, Roadmap and Key Initiatives; and (d) Proposed Adoption of CAO FY2022
Sustainability Report; (2) Summary of Findings and Recommendations in relation to: (a) Evaluation of Material ESG factors
in FY2023; (b) Materiality Assessment of ESG factors in FY2023 Sustainability Reporting including Proposed Targets
and Metrics; (c) Peer Benchmarking and Focus Areas for the Company; (d) Aligning with International Sustainability
Standards Board’s recommendations on Climate Change Governance and Climate Change Scenario Analysis;
and (e) Proposed Sustainability Development Framework and a 5-year Phased Strategy Implementation Roadmap;
(f) Proposed Adoption of FY2023 Sustainability Report; and (g) Report on Completion Progress of Material ESG Targets.



104 CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AELRIEIRS

In working towards achieving the Company’s sustainability targets, the Sustainability Committee may, as and when
necessary, collaborate with all other Board Committees namely, the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee,
the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee. The Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee,
the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee will notify the Sustainability Committee of any sustainability-
related matters (including climate change-related risks and opportunities) that may affect the sustainable development
of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Sustainability Committee will, following consideration and concurrence,
thereafter report the matter to the Board. Specifically, the Sustainable Committee’s duties and responsibilities include:
(i) reviewing and recommending for Board approval, the CAO Group’s sustainability framework and sustainability
roadmap; (i) reviewing and recommending for Board approval, the sustainability strategy plans for sustainable growth
as well as overseeing the implementation of the same; (i) reviewing key sustainability policies of the Company
and ensuring these sustainability policies are not in contravention with applicable legal and regulatory compliance
requirements; (iv) reviewing the sustainability issues (including those relating to environmental, social and governance
issues and other sustainability initiatives) that would enhance the Company’s value, brand image and relationships
with various stakeholders; and (v) overseeing the sustainable development of the Company and its Subsidiaries in
relation to achieving its sustainability objectives, which will include but not limited to strategies on environmental
protection and climate-related changes and social considerations, underpinning sustainability, climate-related risks
and opportunities.

The Risk Management Committee assists the Board and the Company in ensuring adequate measures are in place to
manage all material risks (including relating to risk management policies and framework which shall include, among others,
the review of market risk, credit risk, operational and compliance risks associated with trading activities, technology risk
(including information security risk and cybersecurity risk), reputational risk and other risk concerns (other than in relation
to financial reporting and financial-related risks and controls).

(D) COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Investor Relations and Shareholder Communication

The CAO Group is committed to providing regular, effective and fair communication with its shareholders and the
investment community.

The Company, through the Investor Relations team and senior management, maintained active working relationships
with domestic and international brokerage firms, investment banks and the media.

In order to: (i) cultivate wider investing public’s familiarity with the CAO Group; (i) increase global awareness and
appreciation of CAQ’s business strategy, corporate developments, growth strategies and financial performance; and
(i) enhance the quantity and quality of analysts’ research, post pandemic, CAO actively capitalised on renewed investor
interest, organising investor engagement sessions and participating in both local and global investment conferences to
better inform investors about CAQ’s investment merits. Testament to the continued efforts of Company, three brokerages
namely OCBC / Bank of Singapore, China Galaxy Securities / CIMB and Philips Securities initiated analyst coverage on
the Company'’s shares during the year.

The Company reviews an analyst’s report for factual accuracy of information that is within the public domain but does
not provide forward guidance for analysts’ earnings estimates, and will not comment on their conclusions, earnings
estimates, or investment recommendations.

As a matter of internal policy, the Company will not deny an analyst or investor access to information on the basis of a
negative recommendation or a decision no longer to hold the Company’s securities. The Company shall not attempt to
influence an analyst to change his or her recommendations by exerting pressure through other business relationships.

The Company publishes and maintains a list on the Company’s website showing names of analysts and firms providing
analyst coverage on the Company’s shares.
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The Company also engages the media and investment community through news releases and earnings briefings after
the announcement of CAO Group’s full-year financial results. In 2023, the Company hosted three in-person analyst
briefings with management to foster closer communication with the investment community. Additionally, the Company
participated in five global investor conferences held in Singapore and Thailand, hosted by international brokerages
like CLSA, CGS-CIMB, and Maybank Securities, to further expand the Company’s reach among both local and
international investors.

To assist members of the Board to gain a current understanding of the views of institutional shareholders, the Board
receives (i) a regular investor relations and corporate communications report which cover a wide range of matters
including a commentary on the perception of the Company and views expressed by the investment community, media
reports, share price performance and analysis, share ownership analysis, highlights of recent investor relations activities;
and (i) a yearly peer companies analysis report which provides a detailed analysis and evaluation on the benchmarking
exercise with identified peer companies to provide the Board with a better understanding of CAQ’s position within the
industry as well as identify gaps and learning points.

In addition, the Board has established the Internal Guidelines on Issuance of Profit Guidance or Profit Warning
Announcements which purposes include allowing market expectations to adjust to the likelihood that the Company will
either fall short of an earlier profit guidance, and/or to avoid an earnings shock, negative impact on the share price, sell-off
of the Company’s shares and/or volatility of trading in the Company’s shares, when the financial results are announced.

The Company’s commitment to corporate transparency and investor relations was recognised in 2023 when CAO
received the “Most Transparent Company Award (Energy)” in the 2023 Investors’ Choice Awards by Securities Investors
Association (Singapore). In 2023, CAO was also named as a recipient of the “Industry Champions of the Year” Award
in the 2023 Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability Awards-a great validation of the Company’s resilience, strategic
innovation and prudence in managing risks which had enabled CAQ to surmount challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic
as well as uncertainties in the business and geopolitical environment.

Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

All shareholders of the Company are treated fairly and equitably to facilitate the exercise of their ownership rights.

With the easing of most of the COVID-19 community safe management measures in Singapore, the 29" AGM was held
in a wholly physical format on 27 April 2023 pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements
for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020 with
no option for shareholders to participate virtually. Shareholders (themselves or through duly appointed proxies) were
allowed to participate in the 29" AGM by (i) attending in person; (i) submitting questions to the Chairman of the meeting
in advance of or at the 29" AGM and/or (jii) voting at the 29" AGM themselves or through duly appointed proxy(ies).

The Board supports and encourages active shareholder participation at general meetings as it believes that general
meetings serve as an opportune forum for shareholders to meet the Board and senior management, and to interact
with them. Shareholders (themselves or through duly appointed proxies) are given the opportunity to participate
effectively and vote at general meetings of the Company, where relevant rules and procedures governing such meetings
(for instance, how to vote) are clearly communicated prior to the start of the meeting.

The Company’s Constitution allows (i) each shareholder who is not a relevant intermediary (as defined in the Companies
Act) the right to appoint up to two proxies and (i) each shareholder who is a relevant intermediary to appoint more than
two proxies to attend and vote on their behalf in shareholders’ meetings. A copy of the Notice of AGM is sent to all
shareholders. As for the Annual Report and the Company’s letter to shareholders in relation to certain resolutions being
tabled at the AGM (“Letter to Shareholders”), in line with the Group’s sustainability strategy, these documents are
made available for download from the Company’s corporate website. Printed copies of the Annual Report and Letter to
Shareholders are available on request.
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At general meetings, the Company sets out separate resolutions on each substantially separate issue unless the issues
are interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal. Where resolutions are “bundled”, the Company
explains the reasons and material implications for doing in the notice calling for the general meeting. Shareholders are
given the opportunity to raise questions and clarify any issues that they may have relating to the resolutions to be passed.

Members of the Board and senior management are present at each shareholders’ meeting to respond to questions from
shareholders. In general, all Directors are expected to attend general meetings of shareholders, unless they are unable
to attend due to exigencies. The Company’s external auditor is also present to address queries about the conduct of
audit and the preparation and content of the independent auditor’s report. All Directors and members of the senior
management of the Company were present at the 29" AGM.

For greater transparency, the Company has implemented electronic poll voting at its annual general meetings. This entails
shareholders being invited to vote on each of the resolutions by poll, using an electronic voting system (instead of voting
by hand), thereby allowing all shareholders present or represented at the meeting to vote on a one share, one vote basis.
The voting results of all votes cast for, or against, each resolution is then screened at the meeting and announced to the
SGX-ST after the meeting. An independent external party is appointed as scrutineer for the electronic voting process to
count and validate the votes at general meetings.

Provision 11.4 of the Code provides for a company’s constitution to allow for absentia voting at general meetings of
shareholders. The Constitution of the Company currently does not, however, permit shareholders to vote at general
meetings in absentia (such as via mail, email or fax). The Company will consider implementing the relevant amendments
to the Constitution if the Board is of the view that there is a demand for such alternative methods of voting, and after the
Company has evaluated and put in place the necessary security processes to facilitate in absentia voting, and prevention
measures against errors, fraud and other related security and integrity issues.

In line with Principle 11 of the Code, shareholders nevertheless have the opportunity to communicate their views on
matters affecting the Company even when they are not in attendance at general meetings as shareholders are able to
appoint proxies to vote on their behalf at general meetings through proxy forms sent in advance.

The Company publishes minutes of general meetings of shareholders on its corporate website as soon as practicable after
the relevant general meeting. Such minutes will record substantial and relevant comments or queries from shareholders
relating to the agenda of the general meeting, and responses from the Board and management, which are addressed at
the annual general meeting.

Where there are items of special business to be transacted at the AGM, comprehensive explanatory notes will be sent
together with the notice of the AGM.

A shareholder who is not a “relevant intermediary” may appoint up to two proxies during his or her absence, to attend,
speak and vote on his or her behalf at general meetings. Shareholders who are “relevant intermediaries” such as
banks, capital markets services licence holders which provide custodial services for securities and the Central
Provident Fund Board (“CPF”), are allowed to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at general
meetings. This will enable indirect investors including CPF investors, to be appointed as proxies to participate at
general meetings of the Company.

At each annual general meeting, the CEQ or the CFO delivers a presentation on the financial performance of the Company
for the financial year under review. Directors and the Management are in attendance to address queries and concerns
about the Company. The Company’s external auditors and internal auditors also attend the AGM. Shareholders are
informed of the voting procedures and rules governing the meeting.

Shareholders also have the opportunity to communicate their views and discuss with the Board and Management
matters affecting the Company after the general meetings.

The Constitution of the Company can be accessed from the Company’s external website.
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Dividend Policy

The dividend policy of the Company (the “CAO Dividend Policy”) sets out the guiding principles for dividend
distribution by the Company (the “Guiding Principles”). The Guiding Principles included inter alia, maintaining a
consistent baseline dividend payout ratio which constitutes 30 percent of the Company’s annual consolidated net
profits attributable to shareholders.

In approving or reviewing a dividend policy or making its recommmendations on the timing, amount and form of any future
dividends, the Board takes into consideration, among others:

—
=

a) the expected future capital requirements and growth opportunities available to the CAO Group;

(b) net earnings of the CAO Group; and

(c) any regulatory approvals and/or where applicable, approvals required from third parties (e.g. banks and other
financial institutions) as appropriate.

-

A summary of the CAO Dividend Policy can be accessed from the Company’s external website.

DEALINGS IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

In line with the recommended practices on dealings in securities set out under Rule 1207(18) of the SGX-ST Listing
Manual and the Company’s “Guidelines for Dealings in Securities by Directors and Employees of China Aviation Ol
(Singapore) Corporation Ltd and its subsidiaries (the “Internal Guidelines”), the Company has issued a directive to
all employees and directors not to deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations and to abstain from
dealing with the Company’s securities for a period commencing two (2) weeks before the announcement of the results
of the first half of the financial year and one (1) month before the announcement of the full-year results and ending on the
date of the announcement of the relevant results.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Shareholders have approved the renewal of the general mandate for interested person transactions of the CAO Group
on 27 April 2023 (the “IPT Mandate”). The IPT Mandate sets out the levels and procedures to obtain approval for
such transactions. Information regarding the IPT Mandate is available on the Company’s website at www.caosco.com.
All business units are required to be familiar with the IPT Mandate and report any such transactions to the Legal
& Compliance Department. The Legal & Compliance Department keeps a register of the CAO Group’s interested
person transactions.

Information on interested person transactions for the financial year 2023 are found under “Supplementary Information”
on page 190.

REVIEW OF SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROLS

As part of the Company’s ongoing process of ensuring effectiveness of its system of internal controls, the established
system of internal controls of the Company would be subject to annual review by an independent external reviewer with
appropriate experience in corporate governance and risk management processes.

A review of the Company’s system of internal controls (the “Review of System of Internal Controls”) was conducted
for the financial year 2023 by PWC. Following its review, PwC made the following observations and concluded that CAO
had established an adequate and effective system of internal controls in terms of its processes, people and system:

e  The design of the internal controls of CAO and its subsidiaries are generally adequate and the audit findings mostly
related to improvements in the implementation of internal controls to enhance effectiveness.

e  The Management embraces a culture that values internal controls and compliance with regulatory requirements
and company policies.

e There is a second line of defence where risks and compliance-related matters are closely monitored by the
Risk Management Department and Legal & Compliance Department on a day-to-day basis. Significant risk and
compliance-related matters are also reported to the Risk Management Committee on a regular basis.

. CAO also continuously invested in information technology systems to enhance internal controls on areas, such as
implementation of approval processes via OA system, and launch of the real-time large-screen platform system with
the function of calculating accumulated profit and loss and monitoring stop-loss limits for the hedging business, etc.
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APPENDIX

()

Charter of Lead Independent Director

The Company shall have a Lead Independent Director who shall be an independent director as defined under the
2018 Code.

Purpose

In circumstances where the Chairman of the Board of Directors is not independent, the Board of Directors of the
Company considers it to be useful and appropriate to designate a Lead Independent Director to coordinate the
activities of the independent directors of the Company and performing such other duties and responsibilities as the
Board may determine from time to time.

Duties and Responsibilities

In addition to the duties of Board members as set forth in the 2018 Code, the specific duties and responsibilities of
the Lead Independent Director shall be as follows:

Act as the principal liaison between the Independent Directors of the Company and the Chairman of the
Board, and between the Independent Directors of the Company and senior management.

Has the authority to convene meetings, as appropriate, among the Independent Directors of the Company
and to ensure that Independent Directors have adequate opportunities to meet and discuss issues in sessions
of the Independent Directors without the presence or participation of management.

Preside at any meetings held among the Independent Directors of the Company.

Review the quality, quantity and timeliness of the information submitted to the Board and Board Committees.
Advise and assist the Chairman on the meeting agenda items.

Advise the Chairman and facilitate Board’s approval of the number and frequency of meetings of the Board
and Board Committees (including any special meetings of the Board) as well as meeting schedules to ensure
that there is sufficient time for discussion of all agenda items.

Has authority to initiate actions, for and on behalf of the Independent Directors of the Company, to address
any concerns on corporate compliance matters including the engaging of external advisers and consultants,
even at the displeasure of the Management or majority shareholders of the Company.

Respond directly to the shareholders of the Company, questions and comments that are directed to the Lead
Independent Director or to the Independent Directors of the Company as a group, with such consultation with
the Chairman of the Board and the other Non-Independent Directors, as the Lead Independent Director may
deem appropriate.
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The Directors are pleased to submit their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements of
China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023.

In our opinion:

(@) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes
in equity of the Company as set out on pages 117 to 189 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and the financial performance,
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year
then ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 and Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards (International); and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

DIRECTORS

The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Shi Yanliang Executive Chairman

Teo Ser Luck Lead Independent Director

Lin Yi Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director
Shi Lei

Zhang Yuchen

Hee Theng Fong

Fu Xingran

Jeffrey Goh Mau Seong

Richard Yang Minghui

Shi Yanliang was appointed as Executive Chairman of the Company on 15 December 2023 in place of Gong Feng, Non-Executive Chairman of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors who held office at the end of the financial
year had interests in shares of the Company, or of related corporations either at the beginning or at the end of the
financial year.

None of the directors who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares of the Company, or of related
corporations between the end of the financial year and 21 January 2024.

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose
objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

At the date of this statement, the members of the Audit Committee are:

e Teo Ser Luck (Chairman), non-executive, independent director

e Zhang Yuchen (Vice-Chairman), non-executive, non-independent director
. Hee Theng Fong, non-executive, independent director

. Fu Xingran, non-executive, independent director

. Richard Yang Minghui, non-executive, non-independent director

The Audit Committee performed its functions specified in Section 201B(5) of the Companies Act 1967, the SGX Listing
Manual, the 2018 Code of Corporate Governance and the Corporate Governance Policy of the Company.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings since the last Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company. In performing
its functions, the Audit Committee met with the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their
work, the results of their examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed inter alia, the following:

. assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external auditors after holding an annual meeting
with the auditors without the presence of the Company’s management;

. half-yearly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company and the integrity of
financial reporting of the Group and the Company (including the accounting policies) prior to their submission to the
directors of the Company for approval;

. audit scopes, plans and reports of the internal auditors to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the significant
internal controls of the Group and the Company (to address financial, operational, compliance, information
technology controls risks) and risk management systems (including where relevant and as far as can be assessed,
sanctions-related risk);

. audit scopes, plans and reports (including Key Audit Matters) of the external auditors to ensure adequacy of audit
of the statutory financial statements of the Group and the Company and the effectiveness, independence and
objectivity of the external auditors as well as the level of audit and non-audit fees.

. interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions.

It has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and

internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Statement of Corporate Governance.



/I /] 2 CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

DIRECTORS’
STATEMENT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

As part of the Company’s good corporate governance initiatives and in line with the Company’s internal policy which
mandates that the same audit firm should not be retained for more than 5 consecutive full-year audits or up to
8 consecutive full-year audits in the case where certain requirements are fulfilled, the Audit Committee had
recommended to the Board and the Board had approved, the proposed change of the external auditors of the
Company from Deloitte & Touche LLP to BDO LLP at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The retiring auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP will not be seeking re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
BDO LLP has expressed its wilingness to accept appointment as the independent auditors of the Company.

In appointing the auditors for the Company, subsidiaries and significant associates, we have complied with Rules 712
and 715 of the SGX Listing Manual.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Teo Ser Luck
Lead Independent Director

Lin Yi
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director

28 March 2024
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To the Members of China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the
statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended,
and the notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy, as set out on pages 117 to 189.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position
of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and of the consolidated
financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on
that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those
Standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code
of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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To the Members of China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We identified the following key audit matters:

Key Audit Matters

Revenue recognition

Recognition of revenue has been identified as a
risk primarily due to:

. complexity in the timing of recognition for
trades with deliveries occurring on or around
year end as a result of the extent of the
Group’s distribution network and varying
shipping terms with customers; and

. risk of potential deliberate misstatement of
the Group’s trading positions by failing to
report the trades entered or failing to record
the trades accurately or on a timely basis.

The details of the Group’s revenue are disclosed
in Notes 3.14 and 20 to the financial statements.

Valuation of derivatives, trading inventories
and open physical contracts

The valuation of derivatives, trading inventories
and open physical contracts requires significant
management’s judgement in applying the
appropriate valuation methodology and
incorporating of any contract specific terms
including the use of valid and appropriate
price index.

The valuation techniques and the inputs used
in the fair value measurements of the financial
instruments are disclosed in Notes 26 and 29 to
the financial statements.

How the matters were addressed in the audit

Our audit approach included both controls testing and substantive
procedures as follows:

. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key controls over the recording
of revenue and costs as well as the completeness and
accuracy of recording trades;

o On a sample basis, we tested that the recording of the
revenue and cost for deliveries occurring on or around year
end are in accordance with the shipping terms; and

e On asample basis, we obtained third party confirmations to
confirm the validity and completeness of open trades as at
year end.

Our audit approach included both controls testing and substantive
procedures as follows:

° We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key controls over the valuation of
derivatives, trading inventories and open physical contracts;

e  On a sample basis, we tested the valuation of derivatives,
trading inventories and open physical contracts and
evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
and inputs used in the valuation; and

. We reviewed the price index used in the valuation of
derivatives, trading inventories and open physical contracts
and noted that it is within reasonable range of our
audit expectations.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd

Information other than the financial statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
the provisions of the Act and SFRS(l)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient
to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs wiill
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept
in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Seah Gek Choo.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

28 March 2024
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STATEMENTS OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
Year ended 31 December 2023

Group Company
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 15,271 5,264 13,400 3,140
Right-of-use assets 5 5,772 11,971 3,761 8,299
Intangible assets 6 6,778 11,201 98 89
Subsidiaries 7 - - 35,611 34,921
Associates 8 253,149 259,777 253,149 259,777
Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income 9 5,500 5,500 - -
286,470 293,713 306,019 306,226
Current assets
Inventories 10 88,265 182,089 886 144,386
Trade and other receivables 11 1,039,739 715,621 1,031,465 641,734
Cash and cash equivalents 12 373,040 308,195 359,281 293,046
1,501,044 1,205,905 1,391,632 1,079,166
Total assets 1,787,514 1,499,618 1,697,651 1,385,392
Equity and liabilities
Capital, reserves and non-controlling
interests
Share capital 13 215,573 215,573 215,573 215,573
Reserves 14 732,827 687,405 707,459 673,721
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 948,400 902,978 923,032 889,294
Non-controlling interests 3,947 4,430 - -
Total equity 952,347 907,408 923,032 889,294
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 18 734 4,281 3 2,026
Deferred tax liabilities 15 7,952 7,501 7,952 7,501
8,686 11,782 7,955 9,527
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 813,620 564,884 759,778 478,271
Contract liabilities 17 3,619 4,916 - -
Lease liabilities 18 5,559 8,283 3,844 6,432
Current tax liabilities 3,683 2,345 3,042 1,868
826,481 580,428 766,664 486,571
Total liabilities 835,167 592,210 774,619 496,098
Total equity and liabilities 1,787,514 1,499,618 1,697,651 1,385,392

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

PROFIT OR LOSS
Year ended 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000
Revenue 20 14,429,573 16,464,124
Cost of sales (14,378,975) (16,428,733)
Gross profit 50,598 35,391
Other income 21 18,716 1,005
Administrative expenses (16,658) (14,486)
Other operating expenses (15,148) (754)
Allowance for impairment loss on financial assets 21 (1,161) (201)
Results from operating activities 36,347 20,955
Finance costs 22 (736) (1,150)
Share of profit of associates (net of tax) 8 30,318 17,902
Profit before tax 65,929 37,707
Tax expense 23 (7,556) (4,521)
Profit for the year 21 58,373 33,186
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 58,856 33,532
Non-controlling interests (483) (346)

58,373 33,186

Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share (cents) 24 6.84 3.90
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 24 6.84 3.90

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Profit for the year 58,373 33,186
Other comprehensive loss
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Translation differences relating to financial statements of foreign associates (3,126) (20,074)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (3,126) (20,074)
Total comprehensive income for the year 55,247 13,112
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 55,730 13,458
Non-controlling interests (483) (346)
55,247 13,112

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2023

Note

Share
capital
US$’000

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

US$’000

Statutory
reserves

US$’000

Reserve

for own Accumulated

shares
US$’000

profits
US$°000

Total
attributable
to owners
of the
Company
US$’000

Non-
controlling
interests

US$’000

Total
equity

US$’000

At 1 January 2022

215,573

14,459

37,163

(5,482)

639,656

901,369

901,369

Total comprehensive
income for the year:

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive
loss:

Items that are or
may be reclassified
subsequently to profit
or loss:

Translation differences
relating to financial
statements of foreign
associates

Total other
comprehensive income

(20,074)

33,532

33,5632

(20,074)

(346)

33,186

(20,074)

(20,074)

33,632

13,458

(346)

13,112

Total comprehensive
income for the year

Contributions by and
distributions to
owners:

Share of associates’
accumulated profits
transferred to statutory
reserve 14

Dividends to equity
holders 14

Total transactions with
owners

Non-controlling
interests arising
from acquisition of
a subsidiary

At 31 December 2022

(20,074)

33,532

13,458

(346)

13,112

40

(40)

(11,849)

(11,849)

(11,849)

40

(11,889)

(11,849)

(11,849)

4,776

4,776

215,573

(5,615)

37,203

(5,482)

661,299

902,978

4,430

907,408

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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GROUP
Total
Foreign attributable
currency Reserve to owners Non-
Share translation Statutory for own Accumulated of the controlling  Total
Note capital reserve reserves shares profits Company interests equity
US$000 US$000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
At 1 January 2023 215,573 (5,615) 37,203 (5,482) 661,299 902,978 4,430 907,408
Total comprehensive
income for the year:
Profit for the year - - - - 58,856 58,856 (483) 58,373
Other comprehensive
loss:
Items that are or
may be reclassified
subsequently to profit
or loss:
Translation differences
relating to financial
statements of foreign
associates — (3,126) - — - (3,126) - (8,126)
Total other
comprehensive income - (3,126) - - 58,856 55,730 (483) 55,247
Total comprehensive
income for the year - (3,126) - - 58,856 55,730 (483) 55,247
Contributions by and
distributions to
owners:
Share of associates’
accumulated profits
transferred to statutory
reserve 14 - - 17 - (17) - - -
Dividends to equity
holders 14 - - - - (10,308) (10,308) - (10,308)
Total transactions with
owners - - 17 - (10,325) (10,308) - (10,308)
At 31 December 2023 215,573 (8,741) 37,220 (5,482) 709,830 948,400 3,947 952,347

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023

COMPANY
Foreign
currency Reserve
Share translation Statutory for own Accumulated Total
Note capital reserve reserves shares profits equity
US$'000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$’000 US$’000
At 1 January 2022 215,573 14,475 37,163 (5,482) 630,772 892,501
Total comprehensive income for the year:
Profit for the year - - - - 28,732 28,732
Other comprehensive loss:
Iltems that are or may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Translation differences relating to financial statements
of foreign associates - (20,090) - - - (20,090)
Total other comprehensive income - (20,090) - - 28,732 8,642
Total comprehensive income for the year - (20,090) - - 28,732 8,642
Contributions by and distributions to owners:
Share of associates’ accumulated profits transferred
to statutory reserve 14 - - 40 - (40) -
Dividends to equity holders 14 - - - - (11,849) (11,849)
Total transactions with owners - - 40 - (11,889) (11,849)
At 31 December 2022 215,573 (5,615) 37,203 (5,482) 647,615 889,294
At 1 January 2023 215,573 (5,615) 37,203 (5,482) 647,615 889,294
Total comprehensive income for the year:
Profit for the year - - - - 47,172 47172
Other comprehensive loss:
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Translation differences relating to financial statements
of foreign associates - (3,126) - - - (8,126)
Total other comprehensive income - (3,126) - - 47,172 44,046
Total comprehensive income for the year - (3,126) - - 47,172 44,046
Contributions by and distributions to owners:
Share of associates’ accumulated profits transferred
to statutory reserve 14 - - 17 - (17) -
Dividends to equity holders 14 - - - - (10,308) (10,308)
Total transactions with owners - - 17 - (10,325) (10,308)
At 31 December 2023 215,573 (8,741) 37,220 (5,482) 684,462 923,032

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 58,373 33,186
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,474 1,129
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5,976 8,052
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,124 691
Impairment of goodwill 3,375 -
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate - (820)
Loss on property, plant and equipment written off 2 23
Gain on right-of-use asset written off (74) -
Allowance for impairment loss on doubtful debts
— trade receivables 1,161 201
Allowance for impairment loss on investment in associate 8,654 -
Fair value gain on derivative instruments (4,572) (1,052)
Share of profit of associates (net of tax) (830,318) (17,902)
Tax expense 7,556 4,521
Interest income (17,742) (3,288)
Interest expense 2 6
Dividend income from financial asset at FVTOCI (482) -
Lease interest expense 289 199
Unrealised exchange differences (604) 1,652
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 34,194 26,598
Change in inventories 93,824 (139,163)
Change in trade and other receivables (350,622) 89,722
Change in trade and other payables 281,674 (64,462)
Cash generated from (used in) operations 59,070 (87,305)
Tax paid (4,512) (1,463)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities 54,558 (88,768)
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 14,019 3,562
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (11,483) (287)
Acquisition of intangible assets (76) (32)
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired - 571
Dividend income from financial asset at FVTOCI 482 -
Dividends from associates (net of withholding tax paid) 23,313 20,632
Net cash from investing activities 26,255 24,446
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid 2 6)
Interest paid on lease liabilities (289) (199)
Repayment of lease liabilities (5,973) (8,414)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 8,991 25,000
Repayment of loans and borrowings (8,991) (81,200)
Dividends paid (10,308) (11,849)
Net cash used in financing activities (16,572) (26,668)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 64,241 (90,990)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 308,195 400,837
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 604 (1,652)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12 373,040 308,195

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024.

2.2

DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

China Aviation Qil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the Republic of
Singapore. The address of the Company’s registered office, which is also its principal place of business is 8 Temasek
Boulevard, #31-02 Suntec Tower Three, Singapore 038988.

The financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”) and the Group’s interest in
equity-accounted investees.

The principal activities of the Group are those relating to trading and supply of jet fuel and trading of other petroleum
products, and investment holding.

The immediate and ultimate holding company during the financial year is China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited
(“CNAF”), a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 and
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(l)s”).

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the
notes below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of SFRS(l) 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
SFRS(l) 16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in SFRS(l) 1-2 Inventories or value in use in SFRS() 1-36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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2.5

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Adoption of new and revised standards

On 1 January 2023, the Group and the Company adopted all the new and revised SFRS(l) pronouncements that are
relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised SFRS(I) pronouncements does not result in changes
to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the disclosures or on the
amounts reported for the current or prior years, except as below.

Amendments to SFRS(l) 1-12: International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

The Group has adopted the amendments to SFRS(l) 1-12 for the first time in the current year. The scope of
SFRS() 1-12 was amended to clarify that the Standard applies to income taxes arising from tax law enacted
or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (“OECD”), including tax law that implements qualified domestic minimum top-up
taxes described in those rules.

The amendments introduce a temporary exception to the accounting requirements for deferred taxes in SFRS(l) 1-12,
so that an entity would neither recognise nor disclose information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to
Pillar Two income taxes.

Following the amendments, the Group is required to disclose that it has applied the exception and to disclose
separately its current tax expense (income) related to Pillar Two income taxes.

The Group is in the process of assessing the potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes as at 31 December
2023. As certain information required for the assessment is still being gathered and, therefore, the assessment is not
complete, the potential exposure, if any, to Pillar Two income taxes is currently not known or reasonably estimable
pending completion of the assessment. The Group continues to progress on the assessment and expects to
complete the assessment by the end of financial year 2024.

New and revised SFRS(l) in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group and Company have not applied the following
SFRS(I) pronouncements that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

e Amendments to SFRS()) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Effective date is deferred indefinitely

e  Amendments to SFRS() 10 and SFRS(l) 1-28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

All amendments generally require prospective application.

Management anticipates that the adoption of the above SFRS(l)s and amendments to SFRS(l) in future periods
will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period of their
initial adoption.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in United States (US) dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
All financial information presented in US dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.
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3.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements and information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are discussed in
Note 29.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

¢ the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vote holders;

. potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the financial year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
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3.2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the
members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. Those interests of
non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to
acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition
plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
SFRS(l)s). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under SFRS(l) 9, or when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for
each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values
are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below).
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity
are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or
loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
the SFRS(I) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

. Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with SFRS(l) 1-12 Income Taxes and SFRS(l) 1-19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment awards transactions of
the acquirer in accordance with the method in SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

. Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with SFRS() 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another SFRS(]).

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject to a maximum of
one year from acquisition date.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group and the Company has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those poalicies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which
case it is accounted for in accordance with SFRS(l) 5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s and the Company’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
When the Group’s and the Company’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s and the Company’s
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s and
the Company’s net investment in the associate), the Group and the Company discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group and the Company has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s and the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s
and the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of SFRS(]) 1-36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwiill) is tested for impairment in accordance with SFRS(l) 1-36 Impairment of Assets as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with SFRS(l) 1-36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.

The Group and the Company discontinue the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases
to be an associate, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group and the Company retain
an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group and the Company
measure the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with SFRS(I) 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at the date
the equity method is discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
a part interest in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate.
In addition, the Group and the Company account for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
and the Company reclassify the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the
associate is disposed of.

The Group and the Company continue to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group and the Company reduce its ownership interest in an associate but the Group and the Company
continue to use the equity method, the Group and the Company reclassify to profit or loss the proportion of the gain
or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Foreign currency

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements
of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are presented in United States dollars, which
is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.



/]SO CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are
included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.
For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations (including comparatives) are expressed in United States dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign
currency translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a jointly
controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group
are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to non-controlling
interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or jointly controlled entities that
do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including
monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign currency translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

ltems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is
integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the
net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group,
and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs
of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are
assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is
depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another
asset. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably
certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold properties 25 years
Motor vehicles 81to 10 years
Furniture and fittings 4 to 8 years
Equipment 4 to 8 years
Renovations 5 years
Computers 410 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, and adjusted
if appropriate.

Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and lease liability at the date which the underlying asset is available for
use. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost which comprises the initial measurement of lease liabilities adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentive received. Any initial direct
costs that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained are added to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use assets.

These right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.

Subsequent measurement

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted investees, the
carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss on such
an investment is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity-
accounted investees.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands,
is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value. Amortisation is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than goodwiill, from the date
that they are available for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Software 3 years
Customer contracts 1 year
Concession operating rights 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted
if appropriate.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis where
the purchase or sale of financial assets is under a contract whose terms require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by the market concerned.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Despite the aforegoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of
a financial asset:

e the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

e the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding
expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows,
including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference
between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other hand, the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “other income” line item.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification of financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to present
in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument that
is neither held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which SFRS(]) 3 applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:
. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments; instead, they will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of
the investment.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

. Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment
that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at
FVTOCI on initial recognition.

. Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group has not designated any debt instruments as
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset. Fair value is determined
in the manner described in Note 26.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate as at each reporting date. Specifically,

. for financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the “other income” line item;

. for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the “other income” line item; and

. for equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the reserve.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade receivables, other
receivables, trade amounts due from related corporations, subsidiaries and associates and financial guarantee
contracts. No impairment loss is recognised for investments in equity instruments. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables, trade amounts due from related corporations,
subsidiaries and associates, and contract assets. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated
using a simplified approach based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of
a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occurring.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports and financial analysts, as well as consideration of various external sources
of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations, namely the commodities
market in jet fuel and petroleum products.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or
the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
. significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

e  anactual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments from outside parties are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (i) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood definition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of
a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default
on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are generally
not recoverable.

. when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

. information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) thelender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default

(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which the simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and does
not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or l0ss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a Group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies, financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are measured in
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (1) contingent consideration of an acquirer
in a business combination to which SFRS(l) 3 applies, (2) held for trading, or (3) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a Group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information about the Grouping is provided internally on that
basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and SFRS(l) 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value
of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are
recognised in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulated profits upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group that are designated by the Group as at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 26.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-
for-trading, or (3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a Group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with SFRS(l) 9; and

. the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance
with the revenue recognition policies.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost as at
each reporting date, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the “other income” line item for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured as at FVTPL,
the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or loss for
financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value as at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event
the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Offsetting arrangements

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when the Company and the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. A right to set-off must be
available today rather than being contingent on a future event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties,
both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

Leases

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

. fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate
the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate; or

. a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.10 Impairment

3.11

Associates

An impairment loss in respect of an associate is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment
with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets,
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, and intangible assets that
have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each
year at the same time. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are Grouped together into
the smallest Group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the
cash inflows of other assets or CGU. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwiill
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment
testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to Groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amounts of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (Group of CGUs), and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (Group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognised separately, and
therefore is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an associate is
tested for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate may
be impaired.

Inventories
Inventories held for trading purposes are measured at fair value less costs to sell and any changes in fair value less
costs to sell are recognised in profit or loss in the period of change.

Inventories held by subsidiaries and associates, for sale to customers, are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions
to defined contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during
which services are rendered by employees.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or
profit sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3.14 Revenue

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of physical oil commodity products including middle distillates and
other oil products.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product to
a customer.

Sale of physical commodity products

For sale of physical oil commodity products, revenue is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to
the customer, being when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s specific location (delivery). Following
delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when onselling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer as this represents the point
in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before
payment is due.

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, customers do not have a right of return.

Trading of oil commodity derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value as at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately under revenue.



’]44 CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Revenue (continued)

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

3.15 Finance costs

Finance costs comprise bank charges, interest expenses on loans, lease liabilities and borrowings. Interest expenses
are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

3.16 Tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the financial year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other financial years and it further excludes items that are not
taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed as at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset realised based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to
items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which
case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business
combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.
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3.17 Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (‘EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS is
determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

3.18 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s
other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEO (the chief
operating decision maker) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEQO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily
the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets other than goodwill.

3.19 Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise cash on hand and fixed deposits
with financial institutions but exclude restricted bank balances. These are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.
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4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
Leasehold Motor and
properties vehicles fittings Equipment Renovations Computers Total

US$’000 US$000 US$000 US$000 Us$’000 US$’000  US$’000

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2022 9,205 357 268 754 1,135 1,497 138,216
Additions - 22 179 1 - 85 287
Adjustment - 47) - (44) 57 34 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary

(Note 27) - 2,113 4 183 - 3 2,303
Written off - — (6) (169) — (877) (652)
At 31 December 2022 9,205 2,445 445 725 1,192 1,242 15,254
Additions 10,693 404 13 8 190 175 11,483
Written off - - (10) - - (24) (34)
At 31 December 2023 19,898 2,849 448 733 1,382 1,393 26,703
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2022 6,430 147 128 629 997 1,059 9,390
Depreciation for the year 449 371 42 72 32 163 1,129
Adjustment - (56) - (11) 64 3 -
Written off — - (6) (165) - (358) (529)
At 31 December 2022 6,879 462 164 525 1,093 867 9,990
Depreciation for the year 550 625 64 74 22 139 1,474
Written off - - 9) - - (23) (32)
At 31 December 2023 7,429 1,087 219 599 1,115 983 11,432
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2022 2,326 1,983 281 200 99 375 5,264

At 31 December 2023 12,469 1,762 229 134 267 410 15,271
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Furniture
Leasehold Motor and
properties vehicles fittings Equipment Renovations Computers Total
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Company
Cost
At 1 January 2022 9,205 236 133 674 1,106 1,325 12,679
Additions - - 170 - - 63 233
Written off - - (6) (169) - (873) (548)
At 31 December 2022 9,205 236 297 505 1,106 1,015 12,364
Additions 10,693 - — - 190 153 11,036
At 31 December 2023 19,898 236 297 505 1,296 1,168 23,400
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2022 6,430 62 43 601 980 932 9,048
Depreciation for the year 449 29 27 33 32 131 701
Written off — — (6) (164) — (355) (525)
At 31 December 2022 6,879 91 64 470 1,012 708 9,224
Depreciation for the year 550 29 55 10 21 111 776
At 31 December 2023 7,429 120 119 480 1,033 819 10,000
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2022 2,326 145 233 35 94 307 3,140
At 31 December 2023 12,469 116 178 25 263 349 13,400

The followings are properties held by the Group and Company:

Description/

Land area/Built-up area Leasehold

Location Uses of property (square meters) term

8 Temasek Boulevard Office 324 99 years from
#31-01 Suntec Tower Three 1 March 1989
Singapore 038988

8 Temasek Boulevard Office 440 99 years from
#31-02 Suntec Tower Three 1 March 1989
Singapore 038988

8 Temasek Boulevard Office 377 99 years from

#31-03 Suntec Tower Three
Singapore 038988

The unit at #31-03 Suntec Tower Three was acquired in 2023.

1 March 1989
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5 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group leases several assets including storage facilities, apartments for expatriates, office spaces, equipment
and airport franchise. The average lease term is 2 years.

Storage Office Airport

facilities  Property spaces Equipment franchise Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
Cost
At 1 January 2022 40,898 589 2,971 194 - 44,652
Additions 2,597 231 1,482 - - 4,310
Acquisition of a subsidiary

(Note 27) - - - - 1,657 1,657

Written off (2,689) (268) - (194) - (3,151)
At 31 December 2022 40,806 552 4,453 - 1,657 47,468
Additions 5,778 121 - - - 5,899
Reassessment - - - - 114 114
Written off (38,209) (352 (2,577) - - (41,138)
At 31 December 2023 8,375 321 1,876 - 1,771 12,343
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2022 27,834 432 2,123 194 - 30,583
Depreciation for the year 6,611 158 978 - 305 8,052
Written off (2,689) (255) - (194) - (3,138)
At 31 December 2022 31,756 335 3,101 - 305 35,497
Depreciation for the year 4,484 182 750 - 560 5,976
Written off (32,470) (353) (2,079) - - (34,902)
At 31 December 2023 3,770 164 1,772 - 865 6,571
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2022 9,050 217 1,352 — 1,352 11,971
At 31 December 2023 4,605 157 104 — 906 5,772

The write-off in 2023 is mainly due to termination of the Company's lease of oil storage tanks from an associate and
termination of the Company's lease of an office unit.
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5 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Storage Office
facilities Property spaces Equipment Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2022 38,209 517 1,556 194 40,476
Additions - 142 1,386 - 1,528
Written off - (195) - (194) (389)
At 31 December 2022 38,209 464 2,942 - 41,615
Additions 5,778 121 - - 5,899
Written off (38,209) (352) (1,965) - (40,526)
At 31 December 2023 5,778 233 977 - 6,988
Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2022 25,294 405 1,422 194 27,315
Depreciation for the year 5,740 121 529 - 6,390
Written off - (195) - (194) (389)
At 31 December 2023 31,034 331 1,951 - 33,316
Depreciation for the year 3,619 138 445 - 4,202
Written off (82,470) (353) (1,468) — (34,291)
At 31 December 2023 2,183 116 928 - 3,227
Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2022 7,175 133 991 — 8,299

At 31 December 2023 3,595 117 49 - 3,761
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Concession
Goodwill on Customer operating
consolidation contracts rights Software Total

Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 UsS$’000

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2022 1,181 634 - 4,046 5,861
Additions - - - 32 32
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 27) 3,108 - 8,353 - 11,461
Written off - - - (105) (105)
At 31 December 2023 4,289 634 8,353 3,973 17,249
Additions — - — 76 76
At 31 December 2023 4,289 634 8,353 4,049 17,325
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2022 - - - 3,914 3,914
Amortisation for the year - - 616 75 691
Written off - - (105) (105)
At 31 December 2022 - - 616 3,884 4,500
Amortisation for the year - - 1,057 67 1,124
At 31 December 2023 - - 1,673 3,951 5,624
Impairment
At 1 January 2022 and

31 December 2022 914 634 - - 1,548
Charged for the year 3,375 - - - 3,375
At 31 December 2023 4,289 634 — — 4,923
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2022 3,375 — 7,737 89 11,201
At 31 December 2023 — — 6,680 98 6,778

The amortisation of software is included in “administrative expenses”.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill on consolidation has been allocated to the Group’s cash generating units (“CGUS”) for impairment testing

as follows:
Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
China Aviation Oil (Hong Kong) Company Limited (“CAOHK”) - 267
CNAF Hong Kong Refuelling Limited (“*CNAF HKR”) - 3,108

- 3,375

The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs were determined based on its value-in-use, determined by discounting
the pre-tax future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGUs. In the current year, management
assessed that the carrying amount of the CGUs were determined to be higher than its recoverable amount.
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6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use were as follows:

2023 2022
CNAFHKR CAOHK CNAFHKR CAOHK
% % % %

Discount rate (pre-tax) 11 8 11 8
Long-term growth rate N/A 1 - 1
Forecasted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation

and amortisation (“EBITDA”) growth rate

(2023: Average of next five to 18 years

(2022: Average of next five to 10 years)) 8 1 8 1

The discount rate used is estimated based on past experience and industry weighted average cost of capital.

The long-term growth rate has been determined based on the long-term compound annual growth rate estimated
by management with reference to the nominal GDP growth rate for the countries in which the CGU is based.

The forecasted EBITDA growth rates are estimated based on management’s past experience of managing the CGUs
and their expectations of the CGUs forecasted performances.

In relation to the determination of the recoverable amount of the CNAF HKR CGU, management determines that key
assumptions relate to discount rates and long term revenue growth rates. An increase or decrease of discount rate of
1% will result in a decrease or increase in recoverable amount of US$510,000 (2022: US$610,000) or US$570,000
(2022: US$740,000) respectively. An increase or decrease in the long-term growth rate of 1% will result in an increase
or decrease of recoverable amount by US$NIl (2022: US$1,070,000) or US$NIl (2022: US$NIl) respectively.

Software
US$’000
Company
Cost
At 1 January 2022 4,046
Additions 32
Written off (105)
At 31 December 2022 3,973
Additions 76
At 31 December 2023 4,049
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2022 3,914
Amortisation for the year 75
Written off (105)
At 31 December 2023 3,884
Amortisation for the year 67
At 31 December 2023 3,951
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2022 89

At 31 December 2023 98
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SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Equity investment at cost 76,637 74,905
Accumulated impairment (41,026) (39,984)
35,611 34,921
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:
Company
Proportion

of ownership
interest and voting

Country of Principal rights held
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity 2023 2022

% %

CAOHK* Hong Kong SAR  Supply of jet fuel 100 100

North American Fuel Corporation (“NAFCQO”)* United States of Trading and supply 100 100
America of jet fuel

China Aviation Fuel (Europe) Limited (“CAFEU”")" United Kingdom Trading and supply 100 100
of jet fuel

CNAF HKR* Hong Kong SAR  Into-plane fuelling 68 68

service

Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
Audited by Hu and Company Accountancy Corporation

Audited by Fuller & Roper Limited

Audited by BDO Limited

+ > #H *

The Company issued financial guarantees to banks and trading counterparties on behalf of its subsidiaries. The fair
value of the financial guarantees issued during the year amounted to US$1,732,000 (2022: US$7,668,000) and is
accounted for as additional investment in the subsidiaries.

The fair value of the financial guarantees at the end of the financial year amounted to US$39,988,000
(2022: US$38,256,000).

The financial guarantees were given by the Company to the banks on behalf of its subsidiaries for banking facilities
amounting to US$78,600,000 (31 December 2022: US$149,600,000). It is a continuing financial guarantee issued
to the banks.

The financial guarantees amounting to US$368,700,000 (31 December 2022: US$435,600,000) were given by the
Company to trading counterparties on behalf of its subsidiaries for credit terms extended by the trading counterparties
to the subsidiaries.

At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company
under these guarantees.

During the year, the Company carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its investment in subsidiaries.
The review led to the recognition of an impairment loss of US$1,042,000 (2022: US$6,373,000) that has been
recognised in profit or loss of the Company. The Company estimated the fair value of the subsidiaries through their
net asset.
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Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Investments in associates 253,149 259,777 253,149 259,777

Movement of impairment on investment in associate:

Group and Company

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
At beginning of financial year - -
Charge during the year 8,654 -
At end of financial year 8,654 —

The recoverable amount of National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline Transportation Corporation Ltd (“TSN-PEKCL”)
was determined based on its value-in-use, determined by discounting the pre-tax future cash flows to be generated
from the continuing use of TSN-PEKCL. In the current year, management assessed that the carrying amount of the
TSN-PEKCL was determined to be higher than its recoverable amount.

Key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use were as follows:

2023 2022
TSN-PEKCL TSN-PEKCL
% %
Discount rate (pre-tax) 12 12
Long-term growth rate 2 N/A
Forecasted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
(“EBITDA”) margin growth rate (average of next 10 to 11 years) 5 9

The discount rate used is estimated based on past experience and industry weighted average cost of capital.

The long-term growth rate has been determined based on the long-term compound annual growth rate estimated
by management with reference to the nominal GDP growth rate for the countries in which TSN-PEKCL is based.

The forecasted EBITDA margin growth rates are estimated based on management’s past experience of managing
TSN-PEKCL and their expectations of TSN-PEKCLs forecasted performance.

Management determines that key assumptions relate to discount rates and long term revenue growth rates.
An increase or decrease of discount rate of 1% will result in a decrease or increase in recoverable amount of
US$981,000 (2022: US$I08,000) or US$1,215,000 (2022: US$I75,000) respectively. An increase or decrease
in the long-term growth rate of 1% will result in an increase or decrease of recoverable amount by US$582,000
(2022: USPNIl) or US$472,000 (2022: USSNIl) respectively.
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8 ASSOCIATES (continued)
Associates

The Group has one (2022: one) associate that is material and three (2022: three) other associates that are individually
immaterial to the Group. All are equity accounted. Details of the material associate of the Group and the Company
are as follows:

Shanghai Pudong International Airport
Aviation Fuel Supply Company Ltd (“SPIA”)*

Nature of business Exclusive supplier of jet fuel at Shanghai Pudong
International Airport

Principal place of business/Country of incorporation PRC

Ownership interest/Voting rights held 33% (2022: 33%)

# Audited by Wuyige Certified Public Accountants LLP Shanghai Free Trade Zone Branch Office, a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
for statutory audit purpose. Audited by an overseas member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited for consolidation purpose.

The following summarises the financial information of the Group’s material associate based on its respective financial
statements prepared in accordance with SFRS(I), modified for fair value adjustments on acquisition and differences
in the Group’s accounting policies. The table also analyses, in aggregate, the carrying amount and share of profit
and other comprehensive income of the remaining individually immaterial associates.

Immaterial
SPIA associates Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 December 2023
Revenue 2,955,976 51,498 3,007,474
Profit for the year/Total comprehensive income 100,885 871 101,756
Non-current assets 43,850 342,444 386,294
Current assets 714,288 48,149 762,437
Non-current liabilities - (130,143) (130,143)
Current liabilities (273,653) (45,891) (319,544)
Net assets 484,485 214,558 699,044
Group’s interest in net assets of investee at beginning of the year 152,188 71,251 223,439
Group’s fair value adjustment at beginning of the year - 13,644 13,644
Group’s share of total comprehensive income (loss) 31,461 (1,143) 30,318
Group’s share of profit for the year 31,461 98 31,559
Group’s share of fair value adjustment - (1,241) (1,241)
Dividend declared during the year (22,067) (3,098) (25,165)
Group’s share of translation differences for the year (2,202) (924) (3,126)
Goodwill 21,709 984 22,693
Impairment on goodwill - (984) (984)
Impairment on fair value - (7,670) (7,670)
Carrying amount of interest in investee at end of the year 181,089 72,060 253,149

Carrying amount of fair value adjustment at end of the year — 4,733 4,733
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Immaterial
SPIA associates Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 December 2022
Revenue 1,799,831 45,969 1,845,800
Profit (loss) for the year/Total comprehensive income (loss) 62,624 (1,150) 61,474
Non-current assets 48,198 356,508 404,706
Current assets 570,567 72,111 642,678
Non-current liabilities - (168,662) (168,662)
Current liabilities (156,072) (34,917) (190,989)
Net assets 462,693 225,040 687,733
Group’s interest in net assets of investee at beginning of the year 169,515 76,588 246,103
Group’s fair value adjustment at beginning of the year - 14,885 14,885
Group’s share of total comprehensive income (loss) 19,213 (1,311) 17,902
Group’s share of profit (loss) for the year 19,213 (70) 19,143
Group’s share of fair value adjustment - (1,241) (1,241)
Dividend declared during the year (21,718) - (21,718)
Group’s share of translation differences for the year (14,822) (5,2606) (20,088)
Goodwill 21,709 984 22,693
Carrying amount of interest in investee at end of the year 173,897 85,880 259,777
Carrying amount of fair value adjustment at end of the year — 13,644 13,644

During the year, dividends declared by associates amounting to US$25,165,000 (31 December 2022: US$21,718,000)

were received during the financial year.

Details of immaterial associates of the Group are as follows:

Country of Ownership
Name of associate incorporation 2023 2022
% %
Shenzhen Zhenghe Petrochemicals Co. Ltd (“Zhenghe”) PRC 39 39
Oilhub Korea Yeosu Co., Ltd. Republic of Korea 26 26
China National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline Transportation PRC 49 49

Corporation Ltd (“TSN-PEKCL”)
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9 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Investment in equity instrument designated as at FVTOCI
— unquoted equity shares 5,500 5,500

The investment in unquoted equity instrument represents investment in a company that is incorporated in the
Netherlands which holds the concession from the Schiphol Airport Authority to manage the storage and distribution

of jet fuels on behalf of its shareholders to airlines at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol.

This investment is not held for trading. Instead, it is held for medium to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly,
management has elected to designate this investment in equity instrument as at FVTOCI as they believe that
recognising short-term fluctuations in this investment’s fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the
Group’s strategy of holding this investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance potential in the

long run.

No investment in equity instrument measured at FVTOCI has been disposed of during the current reporting period.

10 INVENTORIES

Group Company
2023 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Trading inventories at fair value
less costs to sell 10,445 386 144,386
Inventories at the lower of cost and
net realisable value 77,820 - -
88,265 886 144,386

The inventories recognised in cost of sales amounted to US$14,254,352,000 (31 December 2022: US$16,288,201,000)

for the Group.
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Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Trade receivables 351,429 170,273 146,368 102,552
Other receivables 49,984 53,890 31,698 36,746
Amounts due from:
— subsidiaries (trade) - - 312,121 170,279
— related corporations (trade) 435,365 216,155 304,647 105,192
— related corporations of a corporate
shareholder (trade) 37,587 102,877 36,639 5,638
— associates (trade) 117,012 84,536 117,012 84,536
— holding company (non-trade) - 2 - 2
— subsidiaries (non-trade) - - 83,759 100,238
589,964 408,570 854,178 465,885
991,377 627,733 1,032,244 605,183
Allowance for impairment loss on doubtful debts
— trade receivables (7,223) (6,062) (6,358) (5,405)
Receivables 984,154 621,671 1,025,886 599,778
Derivative financial assets
— oil commodity derivatives 9,959 39,621 5,679 40,559
994,113 661,292 1,031,465 640,337
Prepayments 45,626 54,329 - 1,397
1,039,739 715,621 1,031,465 641,734

Trade receivables

Transactions with subsidiaries, associates and related corporations are priced on terms agreed between parties.
Outstanding balances with subsidiaries and related corporations are unsecured.

Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
(ECL). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an
analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The Group has recognised a loss allowance of 100%
against all receivables for customers that have defaulted and declared bankruptcy.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.
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The following table details the risk profile of trade and other receivables from contracts with customers based on the
Group’s provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer base.

Estimated
Expected total gross carrying

31 December 2023 credit loss rate* amount at default® Lifetime ECL®

Group Company Group Company Group Company

% % US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Customer ratings
Grade A1l 0.027 0.027 50,004 427,320 - -
Grade A2 0.096 0.096 72,840 61,271 99 59
Grade B1 0.205 0.205 114,458 28,524 219 58
Grade B2 0.369 0.369 682,030 509,400 2,131 1,832
Grade C1 1.041 1.041 13,446 - 45 -
Grade C2 1.635 1.635 40,699 1,342 161 22
Grade D1 3.313 3.313 5,064 - 52 -
Grade D2 4,996 4.996 6,534 - 61 -
Grade E 15.422 15.422 1,826 - 48 -
Grade F 56.296 56.296 80 - 11 -
Total 986,981 1,027,857 2,827 1,971
Estimated
Expected total gross carrying

31 December 2022 credit loss rate* amount at default® Lifetime ECL®

Group Company Group Company Group Company

% % US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Customer ratings
Grade A1l 0.027 0.027 58,594 308,121 - -
Grade A2 0.096 0.096 113,644 16,406 111 16
Grade B1 0.205 0.205 59,945 - 114 -
Grade B2 0.369 0.369 347,353 274,382 1,238 1,013
Grade C1 1.041 1.041 9,036 - 25 -
Grade C2 1.635 1.635 21,750 - 53 -
Grade D1 3.313 3.3183 8,548 586 86 2
Grade D2 4.996 4.996 3,130 - 47 -
Grade E 15.422 15.422 1,563 1,554 241 240
Grade F 56.296 56.296 27 - 4 —
Total 623,590 601,049 1,919 1,271

() The estimated total gross carrying amount at default and lifetime ECL have excluded the individually credit-impaired customers of US$4,396,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: US$4,143,000) of the Group and US$4,387,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
US$4,134,000) of the Company.

Expected credit loss rate includes debtors without credit insurance.
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The table below shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables in accordance
with the simplified approach set out in SFRS() 9:

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired Lifetime ECL -
Individually assessed credit-impaired Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

At beginning of

financial year 1,919 1,718 4,143 4,134 6,062 5,852
Acquisition of a

subsidiary (Note 27) - - - 9 - 9
Change in loss

allowance 908 201 253 - 1,161 201
At end of financial year 2,827 1,919 4,396 4,143 7,223 6,062

Company

At beginning of

financial year 1,271 1,374 4,134 4,134 5,405 5,508
Change in loss

allowance 700 (103) 253 - 953 (103)
At end of financial year 1,971 1,271 4,387 4,134 6,358 5,405

The following tables explain how significant changes in the gross carrying amount of the trade receivables contributed
to changes in the loss allowance. Changes in the loss allowance are primarily attributable to the origination of new
trade receivables net of those settled during the reporting periods.

Group Company
Increase (Decrease) in Increase (Decrease) in
lifetime ECL lifetime ECL
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired

US$’000 UsS$’000 UsS$’000 Us$’000

31 December 2023

Probable default by the customer 908 253 700 253

31 December 2022

Probable default by the customer 201 — (103) —

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks, and impairment loss related to trade and
other receivables, are disclosed in Note 26.
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Other receivables, amounts due from holding company, subsidiaries and associates (non-trade)

For the purpose of impairment assessment, the other receivables, amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) and
amounts due from associates (non-trade) are considered to have low credit risk as there has been no significant
increase in the risk of default on the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment
assessment for these receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit
losses (ECL).

In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the financial position of the debtors, subsidiaries
and associates, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, subsidiaries and associates and general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate, in estimating the probability of default of the
other receivables, subsidiaries and associates as well as the loss upon default. Management determines the other
receivables, amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) and amounts due from associates (non-trade) are subject
to immaterial credit loss.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash at bank
— Interest-bearing 54,528 31,135 43,307 26,686
— Non-interest bearing 1,428 1,935 1,090 1,360
Interest-bearing fixed deposits with

financial institutions 317,084 275,125 314,884 265,000
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement

of cash flows 373,040 308,195 359,281 293,046

As at 31 December 2023, interest-bearing fixed deposits of US$317,084,000 (31 December 2022: US$275,125,000)
were placed with a related corporation, China National Aviation Fuel Finance Co., Ltd. The related corporation is a
financial institution approved by the China Banking Regulatory Commission and is based in PRC.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum relating to interest-bearing deposits with banks and financial
institutions at the reporting date are as disclosed below:

2023 2023 2022 2022
Interest Carrying Interest Carrying
rate amount rate amount
% US$’000 % US$’000
Group
Cash at bank 3.0 54,528 2.8 31,135
US$ fixed deposits 5.6 307,200 4.5 275,125
RMB fixed deposit 2.6 9,884 - -
371,612 306,260
Company
Cash at bank 3.7 43,307 3.2 26,686
US$ fixed deposits 5.6 305,000 4.7 265,000
RMB fixed deposit 2.6 9,884 - -
358,191 291,686

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency, interest rate risks and fair values of derivatives are
disclosed in Note 19.

SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company

2023 2022 2023 2022
Number Number
of shares of shares uUs$ uUs$
(’°000) (’000) (’000) (’000)
Fully paid ordinary shares, with no par value
inclusive of:
In issue at 31 December 866,184 866,184 215,573 215,573

The Company’s share capital includes 6,000,000 (2022: 6,000,000) treasury shares amounting to US$5,482,000
(2022: US$5,482,000).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

All rights attached to the ordinary shares are suspended for the Company’s own shares bought back and held by
the Group. Such rights are reinstated when these shares are reissued.
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Capital management

The Company defines capital as share capital and reserves. The consolidated share capital and reserves attributable
to equity owners of the Company amounted to US$948,400,000 (31 December 2022: US$902,978,000).
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the
Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board also monitors the level of
dividends declared to ordinary shareholders.

From time to time, the Company may purchase its own shares in the market; the timing of these purchases
depends on market prices. The purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods
and services tax and other related expenses) to be paid for the shares is determined by the Directors or such
authorised personnel as appointed by the Board of Directors for the purposes of effecting purchases or acquisitions
of shares by the Company under the Share Purchase Mandate.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

RESERVES
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Foreign currency translation reserve® (8,741) (5,615) (8,741) (5,615)
Statutory reserves® 37,220 37,2083 37,220 37,203
Reserve for own shares® (5,482) (5,482) (5,482) (5,482)
Accumulated profits 709,830 661,299 684,462 647,615

732,827 687,405 707,459 673,721

(@) The foreign currency translation reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from the functional
currency of the Company.

(b) The associates of the Group (“PRC Associates”) established in PRC follow the accounting principles and
relevant financial regulations of the PRC applicable to enterprises established in the PRC (PRC GAAP) in
the preparation of the accounting records and its financial statements. Under the relevant PRC regulations,
the PRC Associates transferred a portion of their accumulated profits to statutory reserve for the
following purposes:

Statutory reserves

Pursuant to accounting regulations for foreign-invested PRC enterprises and the PRC Company Law, the
associates are required to appropriate 10% of the profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP for each
year to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived at must be used to set off against any accumulated losses. The
appropriation to statutory reserve, after offsetting against any accumulated losses, must be made before the
distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until the statutory reserve reaches 50%
of the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends. During the
current and immediate preceding financial year, SPIA did not appropriate any profit to the statutory reserve as
the statutory reserve of SPIA has reached 50% of its registered capital. The movement in statutory reserve in
the current year is contributed by TSN-PEKCL.
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RESERVES (continued)

(c) The reserve for the Company’s own shares comprises the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Group.
At 31 December 2023, the Group held 6,000,000 (31 December 2022: 6,000,000) of the Company’s shares.

(d) The following (one-tier tax exempt) dividends were declared and paid by the Group and Company:

Group and Company

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Final exempt dividends paid in respect of the previous financial year
of $$0.016 (2022: S$0.019) per share 10,308 11,849

(e) After the respective reporting date, the Directors have proposed a final (one-tier tax exempt) ordinary dividend
of §$0.0271 (2022: S$0.016) per share and a special (one-tier tax exempt) cash dividend of S$0.0234
per share (2022: Nil), amounting to US$33,014,000 (2022: US$10,198,000). The dividends have not been
provided for.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities are attributable to the following:

Group and Company
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Deferred tax liabilities
Investments in associates (7,952) (7,501)
Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows:
At Recognised At Recognised At
1January inprofitor 31 December in profitor 31 December
2022 loss 2022 loss 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group and Company
Accelerated tax depreciation 446 (446) - - -
Investments in associates (6,732) (769) (7,501) (451) (7,952)

(6,286) (1,215) (7,501) (451) (7,952)
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16

17

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Trade payables 319,851 377,783 241,195 332,207
Other payables and accruals 63,096 54,716 56,288 52,593
Amounts due to:
— holding company (non-trade) 10,126 10,125 - -
— subsidiary (trade) - - 11,861 12,249
— related corporation (trade) 404,135 - 403,488 -
— related corporation of a corporate

shareholder (trade) 7,273 78,887 - 39,332

— subsidiaries (non-trade) - - 40,192 -
Derivative financial liabilities:
— oil commodity derivatives 9,139 43,373 6,754 41,890

813,620 564,884 759,778 478,271

Amounts due to holding company, subsidiaries and related corporations are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposures to foreign currency, liquidity risks and fair values of derivatives are
disclosed in Note 19.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Current 3,619 4,916 — —

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the customer, being at the point the goods are
delivered to the customer. When the customer initially purchases the goods, the transaction price received at that
point by the Group is recognised as contract liability until the goods have been delivered to the customer.
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18 LEASE LIABILITIES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Analysed as
Non-current 734 4,281 3 2,026
Current 5,559 8,283 3,844 6,432
6,293 12,564 3,847 8,458
Maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on
undiscounted gross cash flows:
Year 1 5,718 8,365 3,957 6,512
Year 2 604 3,505 5 1,899
Year 3 - 807 - 96
6,322 12,677 3,962 8,507

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regards to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored
within the Group’s finance function.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows, as cash flows from financing activities.

The cash flows represent the repayment of lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
1 January 12,564 14,350
Financing cash flow (6,262) (8,613)
New leases 6,013 5,967
Cancellation of leases (6,309) -
Other changes 287 860

31 December 6,293 12,564
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

Financial assets

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Amortised cost
Trade and other receivables 984,154 621,671 1,025,886 599,778
Cash and cash equivalents 373,040 308,195 359,281 293,046
1,357,194 929,866 1,385,167 892,824
Fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial assets 9,959 39,621 5,579 40,559
Fair value through
other comprehensive income
Equity instrument 5,500 5,500 — —
Financial liabilities
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Amortised cost
Trade and other payables 804,481 521,511 753,024 436,381
Fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial liabilities 9,139 43,373 6,754 41,890
Lease liabilities 6,293 12,564 3,847 8,458

Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit

risk at the reporting date is:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000
Trade and other receivables 984,154 621,671 1,025,886 599,778
Cash and cash equivalents 373,040 308,195 359,281 293,046
Derivative financial assets 9,959 39,621 5,579 40,559
1,367,153 969,487 1,390,746 933,383
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Impairment losses

The ageing of trade and other receivables (excluding derivative financial assets and prepayments) at the reporting

date is:
2023 2022
Impairment Impairment
Gross losses Gross losses
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
Not past due 915,304 (2,575) 606,346 (1,868)
1 to 30 days 71,686 (261) 17,244 (61)
31 to 90 days - - - -
Over 90 days 4,387 (4,387) 4,143 (4,143)
991,377 (7,223) 627,733 (6,062)
Company
Not past due 971,282 (1,762) 601,049 (1,271)
1 to 30 days 56,575 (209) - -
31 to 90 days - - - -
Over 90 days 4,387 (4,387) 4,134 (4,134)
1,032,244 (6,358) 605,183 (5,405)

The Group’s and the Company’s loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to
lifetime expected credit losses and individually assessed credit impaired.

The movements in the allowance for impairment loss in respect of trade and other receivables during the year are

as follows:
Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
At 1 January 6,062 5,852
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary - 9
Allowance for impairment loss — net 1,161 201
At 31 December 7,223 6,062
Company
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
At 1 January 5,405 5,508
Allowance (Reversal of allowance) for impairment loss — net 953 (103)

At 31 December 6,358 5,405
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of financial liabilities, including interest

payments and excluding the impact of netting arrangements:

Cash flows
Contractual Within
cash flows 1 year
US$’000 US$’000

Group

31 December 2023

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables? (804,481) (804,481)

Oil commodity derivatives

Gross outflows®

— Qil physical derivative instruments purchase contracts (220,223) (220,223)

Net outflows

— Oil paper derivative instruments (3,646) (3,646)
(1,028,350) (1,028,350)

31 December 2022

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables? (521,511) (521,511)

Oil commodity derivatives

Gross outflows®

— Qil physical derivative instruments purchase contracts (698,554) (698,554)

Net outflows

— Oil paper derivative instruments (7,516) (7,516)
(1,227,581) (1,227,581)
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Cash flows
Contractual Within
cash flows 1 year
US$’000 US$’000
Company
31 December 2023
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables? (753,024) (753,024)
Oil commodity derivatives
Gross outflows®
— Qil physical derivative instruments purchase contracts (126,961) (126,961)
Net outflows
— Oil paper derivative instruments (3,692) (3,692)
(883,677) (883,677)
31 December 2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables? (436,381) (436,381)
Oil commodity derivatives
Gross outflows®
— Qil physical derivative instruments purchase contracts (642,787) (642,787)
Net outflows
— Oil paper derivative instruments (6,960) (6,960)

(1,086,128) (1,086,128)

(i) Excludes derivative financial liabilities, advance receipts and intra-Group financial guarantees.
(i) The gross outflows represent the undiscounted cash outflows of the outstanding oil physical derivative instruments.



/|7O CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Currency risk

Exposure to currency risk

The Group’s and Company’s exposures to foreign currency risk were as follows based on notional amounts:

Singapore Hong Kong British
dollar Renminbi dollar Euro pound
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
31 December 2023
Trade and other receivables 177 122 48 67 71
Cash and cash equivalents 9088 10,055 53 40 325
Trade and other payables (6,041) (310) (275) (1,680) (730)
(4,876) 9,867 (174) (1,573) (334)
31 December 2022
Trade and other receivables 270 127 1,085 385 63
Cash and cash equivalents 911 108 b47 444 65
Trade and other payables (6,823) (624) (5638) (745) (242)
(5,642) (389) 1,094 84 (114)
Singapore
dollar Renminbi
US$’000 US$’000
Company
31 December 2023
Trade and other receivables 177 55
Cash and cash equivalents 988 10,012
Trade and other payables (6,041) (164)
(4,876) 9,903
31 December 2022
Trade and other receivables 270 87
Cash and cash equivalents 911 41
Trade and other payables (6,823) (564)
(5,642) (436)
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At the reporting date, a 10% strengthening of the US dollar against the following currencies would increase/(decrease)
profit/(loss) before tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant.

Group Company
Profit/(Loss) before tax Profit/(Loss) before tax
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Singapore dollar 443 513 443 513
Renminbi (897) 35 (900) 40
Hong Kong dollar 16 (99) - -
Euro 143 (8) - -
British pound 30 10 - —

A 10% weakening of the US dollar against the above currencies would have an equal but opposite effect on the
above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Interest rate risk

Profile

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Financial assets 371,612 306,260 358,191 291,686

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Management does not expect a change in interest rate will have significant impact to the Group’s and Company’s
profit or loss.
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments carried at cost

or amortised cost approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
31 December 2023
Financial asset at FVTOCI* - - 5,500 5,500
Derivative financial assets - 9,959 - 9,959
Derivative financial liabilities - (9,139) - (9,139)
— 820 5,500 6,320
31 December 2022
Financial asset at FVTOCI* - - 5,500 5,500
Derivative financial assets - 39,621 - 39,621
Derivative financial liabilities - (43,373) - (43,373)
— (3,752) 5,500 1,748
Company
31 December 2023
Derivative financial assets - 5,579 - 5,579
Derivative financial liabilities - (6,754) - (6,754)
- (1,175) - (1,175)
31 December 2022
Derivative financial assets - 40,559 - 40,559
Derivative financial liabilities - (41,890) - (41,890)
- (1,331) - (1,331)

*  There was no movement to the Level 3 fair value measurement of the financial asset during the financial year.

The valuation techniques and the inputs used in the fair value measurements of the financial instruments are

disclosed in Notes 26 and 29.
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an
enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement.

The Group’s paper derivative transactions are all transacted on an exchange.

In certain circumstances - for example, only when a credit event such as a default occurs, the
non-defaulting party can choose to exercise the right of set-off. As such, the above master netting agreements do
not meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial position.

Gross amounts
of recognised

financial
instruments
included in the Related
statement of amounts that Net
financial position are not offset amounts
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group
31 December 2023
Financial assets
Qil physical derivative instruments 4,980 - 4,980
Oil paper derivative instruments 4,979 (8,151) 1,828
Total 9,959 (8,151) 6,808
Financial liabilities
Qil physical derivative instruments 5,493 - 5,493
Oil paper derivative instruments 3,646 (8,151) 495
Total 9,139 (8,151) 5,988
31 December 2022
Financial assets
Oil physical derivative instruments 34,738 (340) 34,398
Oil paper derivative instruments 4,883 (4,883) -
Total 39,621 (5,223) 34,398
Financial liabilities
Oil physical derivative instruments 35,857 (340) 35,517
Oil paper derivative instruments 7,516 (4,883) 2,633

Total 43,373 (5,223) 38,150
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Gross amounts
of recognised

financial
instruments
included in the Related
statement of amounts that Net
financial position are not offset amounts
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Company
31 December 2023
Financial assets
Qil physical derivative instruments 2,382 - 2,382
Qil paper derivative instruments 3,197 (3,197) -
Total 5,579 (3,197) 2,382
Financial liabilities
Qil physical derivative instruments 3,063 - 3,063
Oil paper derivative instruments 3,691 (8,197) 494
Total 6,754 (3,197) 3,557
31 December 2022
Financial assets
Qil physical derivative instruments 34,459 (222) 34,237
Oil paper derivative instruments 6,100 (4,883) 1,217
Total 40,559 (5,105) 35,454
Financial liabilities
Oil physical derivative instruments 34,930 (222) 34,708
Oil paper derivative instruments 6,960 (4,883) 2,077

Total 41,890 (5,109) 36,785
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20 REVENUE

21

The Group derives its revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in time in the following major lines. This is consistent
with the revenue information that is disclosed for each reportable segment under SFRS(l) 8 (see Note 25).

A disaggregation of the Group’s revenue for the financial year is as follows:

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Revenue from middle distillates 8,693,851 8,529,418
Revenue from other oil products 5,735,722 7,934,706
14,429,573 16,464,124

The revenue from middle distillates and other oil products are recognised at a point in time.

Included in revenue is net loss of US$5,086,000 (2022: loss of US$119,254,000) recognised in relation to derivative
financial instruments. The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge the changes in oil commodity
prices. The gain or loss on remeasurement of these instruments at fair value is recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss as revenue.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The following items have been included in arriving at profit for the year:

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Other income

Interest income 17,742 3,288
Foreign exchange gain (loss) — net 344 (3,708)
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate - 820
Others 630 605
18,716 1,005
Allowance for impairment loss on doubtful debts — net (1,161) (201)
Allowance for impairment loss on investment in associate (8,654) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,474) (1,129)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (5,976) (8,052)
Amortisation of intangible assets (1,124) (691)
Expense relating to short-term leases (5,4006) (4,969)
Expense relating to leases of low value assets 3) 5)
Staff costs (17,737) (15,827)
Contributions to defined contribution plans, included in staff costs (1,631) (1,560)

Audit fees paid and payable to:
— auditor of the Company and Deloitte network firms (292) (222)
— other auditors (247) (190)
Non-audit fees paid and payable to auditor of the Company (10) (6)
Aggregate amount of fees paid to auditors (549) (418)
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22 FINANCE COSTS

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Bank charges 445 945
Interest expenses 2 6
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 289 199
736 1,150
23 TAX EXPENSE
Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$°000
Current tax expense

Current year 5,828 2,688
Underprovision in prior year 19 284
5,847 2,972
Deferred tax expense - 446
Withholding tax expense 1,709 1,103
Total tax expense 7,556 4,521

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit before tax 65,929 37,707
Tax using Singapore tax rate of 17% (2022: 17%) 11,208 6,411
Effects of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 709 199
Tax exempt income (13) (837)
Tax effects of revenue at concessionary tax rate (2,121) (1,662)
Effects of results of associates presented net of tax (5,154) (3,043)
Effect of expenses not deductible 1,218 1,404
Utilisation of previously unused tax assets - 446
Withholding tax expense 1,709 1,103
7,556 4,521

The Company was granted concessionary rate of tax for a period of 5 years from 1 August 2020 to 31 July 2025.
Income derived from qualifying trading transactions of approved products by the Company is taxed at the
concessionary rate instead of the normal statutory rate of 17%. This incentive is granted subject to the achievement
of certain business volume and other terms and conditions.
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25

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share

At the reporting date, the calculation of basic earnings per share was based as follows:

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Basic and diluted earnings per share is based on:
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 58,856 33,532
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
2023 2022
Number Number
of shares of shares
(’000) (’°000)
Issued ordinary shares at 31 December* 860,184 860,184

*  Excludes 6,000,000 ordinary shares held as treasury shares.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units.
The strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately. For each of the
strategic business units, the Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) reviews internal management
reports on at least a quarterly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s
reportable segments:

. Middle distillates: Jet fuel and gas oil supply and trading.

. Other oil products: Fuel oil, crude oil, gasoline and naphtha supply and trading.

. Investments in oil-related assets: Investments in oil-related assets through the Group’s holdings in associates.
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on
segment profit before tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO.

Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant
in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.



178 CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
I

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Investment
Middle Other oil in oil-related
distillates products assets Total

US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000
2023
Revenue 8,693,851 5,735,722 - 14,429,573
Gross profit 44,796 5,802 - 50,598
Other administrative/operating expenses (16,738) (2,168) - (18,9006)
Impairment expenses (3,375) - (8,654) (12,029)
Depreciation and amortisation (1,799) (233) - (2,032)
Foreign exchange loss 304 40 - 344
Interest income 15,708 2,034 - 17,742
Other income 558 72 - 630
Finance costs (302) (434) - (736)
Share of profit of associates (net of tax) - - 30,318 30,318
Tax expense (5,464) (383) (1,709) (7,556)
Reportable segment profit after tax 33,688 4,730 19,955 58,373
Reportable segment total assets 1,464,945 63,920 258,649 1,787,514
2022
Revenue 8,529,418 7,934,706 - 16,464,124
Gross profit 33,760 1,631 — 35,391
Other administrative/operating expenses (12,734) (615) - (13,349)
Depreciation and amortisation (1,996) (96) - (2,092)
Foreign exchange loss (3,537) (171) - (3,708)
Interest income 3,137 151 - 3,288
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate - - 820 820
Other income 577 28 - 605
Finance costs (354) (796) - (1,150)
Share of profit of associates (net of tax) - - 17,902 17,902
Tax expense (3,446) (24) (1,051) (4,521)
Reportable segment profit after tax 15,407 108 17,671 33,186
Reportable segment total assets 1,181,909 52,433 265,276 1,499,618
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25 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Geographical segments

The People’s Republic of China is a major market for trading in jet fuel and petroleum products. The Group also

operates in other regions including Singapore.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical
location of the revenue transacted. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Non-current

Geographical information Revenue assets
US$’000 US$’000
2023
People’s Republic of China 8,778,362 209,012
Republic of Korea 194,349 44137
United States of America 887,477 80
Hong Kong SAR 656,481 9,443
Malaysia 233,836 -
Japan 85,182 -
Australia 107,062 -
Singapore 935,821 17,259
Philippines 129,023 -
Netherlands 940,653 6,539
Myanmar 250,045 -
Germany 261,656 -
Indonesia 153,989 -
Bangladesh 61,483 -
France 134,866 -
Other countries 619,288 -
14,429,573 286,470
2022
People’s Republic of China 8,777,851 215,544
Republic of Korea 213,048 44,232
United States of America 933,620 229
Hong Kong SAR 494,977 14,613
Malaysia 351,972 -
Japan 663,321 -
Australia 212,308 -
Singapore 1,906,497 11,529
Philippines 147,481 -
Netherlands 1,426,923 7,566
Myanmar 158,915 -
Germany 316,132 -
Indonesia 181,262 -
Bangladesh 142,848 -
Belgium 95,839 -
Other countries 441,130 —
16,464,124 293,713
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
Major customers

Revenue from five customers (2022: six customers) for the supply and trading of jet fuel and other oil products
amounting to approximately US$6,545,584,000 (2022: US$7,688,258,000), represents 45% (2022: 47%) of the
Group’s total revenue.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
e credit risk

. liquidity risk

o interest rate risk

. foreign currency risk

. commodity price risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks and the Group’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Additional quantitative disclosures are included throughout
these financial statements.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework. The Board has established the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and
monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its
activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group,
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive
control environment which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to
the risks faced by the Group.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group and the Company. The Group and the Company have adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial
loss from defaults. The Group and the Company manage these risks by monitoring credit-worthiness and limiting
the aggregate risk to any individual counterparty. The Group and the Company have purchased credit insurance for
certain customers during the year.

The Group develops and maintains its credit risk ratings to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The Group uses its own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets, except that the credit risk associated with certain trade receivables is reduced because they are
secured by credit insurance and letters of credit. There has not been any significant changes in the quality of the
credit enhancement.

The Group’s current credit risk rating framework comprises the following categories:

Basis for recognising expected

Category Description credit losses (ECL)

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 12-month ECL
have any past-due amounts.

Doubtful Amount is 30 days past due or there has been a Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

In default Amount is 90 days past due or there is evidence Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
indicating the asset is credit-impaired.

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the group has no realistic prospect
of recovery.

The assessment of the credit quality and exposure to credit risk of the Group and Company’s trade and other
receivables have been disclosed in Note 11.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s trade and other receivables, as well as maximum exposure

to credit risk:

Internal Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
Group Note rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
US$000 US$000 US$’000
31 December 2023
Lifetime ECL
Trade receivables 11 0] (simplified approach) 351,429 (5,375) 346,054
Other receivables 11 Performing 12-month ECL 49,984 - 49,984
Amount due from related Lifetime ECL
corporations (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 435,365 (1,380) 433,985
Amount due from related
corporations of
a corporate Lifetime ECL
shareholder (trade) 11 (i) (simplified approach) 37,587 (36) 37,551
Amount due from Lifetime ECL
associates (trade) 11 (i) (simplified approach) 117,012 (432) 116,580
991,377 (7,223) 984,154
31 December 2022
Lifetime ECL
Trade receivables 11 0] (simplified approach) 170,273 (5,478) 164,795
Other receivables 11 Performing 12-month ECL 53,890 - 53,890
Amount due from holding
company(non-trade) 11 Performing 12-month ECL 2 - 2
Amount due from related Lifetime ECL
corporations (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 216,155 (171) 215,984
Amount due from related
corporations of
a corporate Lifetime ECL
shareholder (trade) 11 (i) (simplified approach) 102,877 (101) 102,776
Amount due from Lifetime ECL
associates (trade) 11 (i) (simplified approach) 84,536 (312) 84,224
627,733 (6,062) 621,671
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Internal Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
Company Note rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
31 December 2023
Lifetime ECL
Trade receivables 11 0] (simplified approach) 146,368 (4,880) 141,488
Other receivables 11 Performing 12-month ECL 31,698 - 31,698
Amount due from Lifetime ECL
subsidiaries (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 312,121 - 312,121
Amount due from
subsidiaries (non-trade) 11 Performing 12-month ECL 83,759 - 83,759
Amount due from related Lifetime ECL
corporations (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 304,647 (1,011) 303,636
Amount due from related
corporations of
a corporate Lifetime ECL
shareholder (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 36,639 (35) 36,604
Amount due from Lifetime ECL
associates (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 117,012 (432) 116,580
1,032,244 (6,358) 1,025,886
31 December 2022
Lifetime ECL
Trade receivables 11 0] (simplified approach) 102,552 (4,698) 97,854
Other receivables 11 Performing 12-month ECL 36,746 - 36,746
Amount due from Lifetime ECL
subsidiaries (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 170,279 - 170,279
Amount due from
subsidiaries (non-trade) 11 Performing 12-month ECL 100,238 - 100,238
Amount due fromholding
company (non-trade) 11 Performing 12-month ECL 2 - 2
Amount due from related Lifetime ECL
corporations (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 105,192 (388) 104,804
Amount due from related
corporations of
a corporate Lifetime ECL
shareholder (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 5,638 (7) 5,631
Amount due from Lifetime ECL
associates (trade) 11 0] (simplified approach) 84,536 (312) 84,224
605,183 (5,405) 599,778

(i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in SFRS(l) 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items estimated based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate
to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Note 11 includes further details on the loss allowance for these trade receivables.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of
trade receivables. This allowance is a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures.
The allowance account in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group
is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible. At that point, the financial asset is considered
irrecoverable and the amount charged to the allowance account is written off against the carrying amount of the
impaired financial asset.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which are regulated. The banks and
financial institutions are assigned high credit ratings by international credit-rating agencies and considered to have
low credit risk. The cash balances are measured on 12-month expected credit losses and subject to immaterial
credit loss.

At 31 December 2023, there was no significant concentration of credit risk except for amounts receivable due from
3 (81 December 2022: 3) major customers amounting to US$349,293,000 (31 December 2022: US$264,736,000)
which accounted for 37% (2022: 46%) of the Group’s gross trade receivables.

At 31 December 2023, the Company has a significant concentration of credit risk with subsidiaries and related
corporations which accounted for 67% (2022: 49%) of the Company’s gross trade receivables. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of
financial position.

Guarantees

There is no exposure to the Company in respect of the intra-Group financial guarantee (see Note 7) at the end of
the reporting period as it is remote that the subsidiaries default on the utilised facilities extended by the bank and
trading counterparties.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivery of cash or another financial asset.

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Typically,
the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the
servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably
be predicted, such as natural disasters. In addition, the Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
lines of credit.

Interest rate risk

It is the Group’s policy to obtain the most favourable interest rates available without increasing its foreign currency
exposure. Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks to earn interest income.

As the Group’s interest bearing financial assets are short term in nature, any future variations in interest rates will not
have a material impact on the results of the Group.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in currencies other
than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this foreign currency risk are
primarily the Singapore dollar, the Chinese renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, Euro and British pound.

The Group monitors its foreign currency exposures on an on-going basis and ensures that the net exposure is kept
to an acceptable level. The Group did not actively hedge its foreign currency exposure in 2023 and 2022.

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk on its net investments in foreign operations. Such exposures
are reviewed and monitored on a regular basis.

Commodity price risk

The Group manages its costs of purchase and sales of oil commodities, using commodity paper derivative
instruments. Management manages its commodity price risk using a suite of risk management tools which include
marginal value at risk limits and hypothetical stress-tests of various scenarios. These risk management tools were
designed by management, reviewed by the Risk Management Committee, and approved by the Board of Directors.

The Group enters into commodity paper derivative instruments, in which it agrees to exchange the difference between
the fixed and floating prices, calculated by reference to an agreed-upon principal quantity, with its counterparties.
The commodity paper derivative instruments entered into commit the Group to settle these instruments at various
settlement dates.

Sensitivity analysis

Based on the Group’s open positions at end of year, a change of 10% in oil forward price at the reporting date
would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis as the
financial year ended 31 December 2022.

Profit or loss

10% 10%
increase decrease
US$’000 US$’000
2023
Oil physical and paper derivative instruments 2,530 (2.530)
2022
Oil physical and paper derivative instruments (59) 59

The Group considers holding oil inventory as part of their overall trading strategy. An increase of 10% in the fair value
of oil inventory would have increased profit or loss by US$1,035,000 (2022: US$15,462,000). A 10% weakening of
the fair value of oil inventory would have an equal but opposite effect on profit or loss.

The above sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should not be predictive of the Group’s future performance as the
physical inventory volume and derivative positions change daily and are not static.
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27

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial
instruments of the Group and the Company.

Derivative financial instruments

The fair values of oil physical and paper derivative instruments were determined based on price indices after
adjusting for contract specific factors.

Financial asset at F\VTOCI

The fair value of the financial asset was determined based on the income approach —in this approach, the discounted
cash flow method was used to capture the present value of the expected future economic benefits to be derived
from the ownership of the investee.

Revenue growth rates, taking into account management’s experience and knowledge of market conditions of the
specific industries ranging from 0.2% to 0.4% (2022: 0.2% to 0.4%) per annum. A slight increase in the revenue
growth rate used in isolation would result in a significant increase in the fair value.

Other financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables) approximate their fair values because
of the short period to maturity. All other financial assets and liabilities are discounted to determine their fair values.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 31 May 2022, CAOHK, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, had subscribed for, and was allotted
97 million ordinary shares in the capital of CNAF HKR at a cash consideration of HK$1.00 per share.

Following the aforesaid allotment, the Company’s deemed interest in the issued shares of CNAF HKR, held through
CAOHK, by virtue of the provisions of Section 4 of the Securities and Futures Act 2001, has increased from
39 million ordinary shares in CNAF HKR to 136 million ordinary shares in CNAF HKR, representing 68% of the total
issued shares in CNAF HKR.
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28

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition and consideration transferred

The following summarises the consideration transferred and the recognised amount of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on determined fair values at the date of acquisition:

Note Total

US$’000
CNAF Hong Kong Refuelling Limited
Property, plant and equipment 4 2,303
Intangible assets 6 8,353
Right-of-use assets 5 1,657
Current assets 13,480
Non-current liabilities (1,575)
Current liabilities (9,295)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired 14,923
Goodwill on acquisition 6 3,108
Gain on deemed disposal of associate 21 (820)
Non-controlling interests (4,776)
Cash consideration paid, satisfied in cash 12,435
Cash acquired (13,0006)
Net cash inflow (571)

Had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of year 2022, the Group’s revenue would have been
US$16,464,556,000 and the Group’s profit before tax would have been US$36,839,000.

RELATED PARTIES
Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation comprises:

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Directors’ fees 377 324
Directors’ remuneration 282 264
Key executive officers’ remuneration 1,642 1,288
2,201 1,876

The key management personnel compensation for the financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
made up of short-term employee benefits.

The immediate and ultimate holding company, CNAF, is a state-owned enterprise established in the PRC.
In accordance with SFRS(l) 1-24 Related Party Disclosures, government-related entities and their subsidiaries,
apart from entities under CNAF, which the PRC government has control, joint control or significant influence over
are also considered as related parties of the Group. For the purpose of the related party transactions disclosures,
the Group applies the exemption on disclosure of related parties transactions as allowed under SFRS(l) 1-24.

The Group assessed that these transactions with government-related entities were carried out based on market
terms in the ordinary course of business. The Group’s transactions with government-related entities include sales
and purchases of oil commaodities, banking fees and operating lease expenses.
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29

RELATED PARTIES (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s sales and purchases of physical oil commodities
with government-related entities account for approximately 59% (2022: 48%) of the Group’s total sales and 58%
(2022: 49%) of the Group’s total purchases. During the year, approximately 35% (2022: 45%) of the Group’s
banking fees were transacted with government-related entities and interest income of approximately 39%
(2022: 58%) was received from government-related entities.

Other than those as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the following significant
transactions with related parties:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000
Related parties under CNAF:
Related corporations
Sale of jet fuel 2,056,438 2,413,836
Purchase of jet fuel (686,371) (899,258)
Supply chain service rendered from (895) (3,763)
Interest income 6,395 176
Related corporations of a corporate shareholder:
Sale of fuel oil - 34,024
Sale of jet fuel 146,943 1,257,926
Sale of gas ail - 55,481
Purchase of jet fuel (389,494) (413,812)
Purchase of fuel oil (71,577) (161,796)
Associate:
Sale of jet fuel 1,875,940 1,278,294
Purchase of jet fuel (568,160) (14,981)
Storage tank rental expense (4,100) (6,052)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group believes the following critical accounting policies involved the most significant judgements and estimates
used in the preparation of the financial statements.

Key source of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below:
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29 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Calculation of loss allowance

When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based
on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral
and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood
of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations
of future conditions.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 11 to
the financial statements.

Impairment assessment of investment in associates

The Group evaluates whether there are any indicators of impairment in the investment in associates at each reporting
date. If there are indicators of impairment, management performs an evaluation of the investment’s recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is based on the higher of value-in-use or fair value less cost to sell.

Value-in-use is estimated based on management’s forecast of future cash flows discounted to present value using
the pre-tax discount rate. The fair value less cost to sell requires an estimate of the market value of the investments.
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining value-in-use and fair value less cost to sell.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s investment in associates are disclosed in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts

The Company holds derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts to hedge the changes in oil
commodity prices. The Company has not applied hedge accounting to derivative financial instruments and open
physical contracts that economically hedge the exposure of the changes in oil commaodity prices. All outstanding
derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to
initial recognition, they are remeasured at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in the statement of profit or loss as revenue.

The fair value of the derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts are based on the price index,
Platts, after adjusting for contract specific factors. The use of a different price index may impact the Company’s
estimate of the fair value of its derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s derivative financial instruments and open physical contracts
are disclosed in Notes 11 and 16 to the financial statements.

Critical judgement made in applying accounting policies

The management is of the opinion that there are no instances of application of judgements which are expected to
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, apart from those involving estimates
described above.
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INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Sales to related corporations
of a corporate shareholder

Purchases from related
corporations of a corporate
shareholder

Supply chain services rendered
from related corporations

Transportation revenue earned
by associate from related
corporations*®

Into-plane refueling services
rendered by a related
corporation

Principal deposited with a
related corporation

Interest income earned from
principal deposited with a
related corporation

Services rendered from a
related corporation

Financial assistance rendered
to a related corporation

Subscription of additional
shares in associate of
controlling shareholder

Nature of
Relationship

Associates of
Controlling Shareholder,
China National Aviation

Fuel Group Limited

Aggregate value of
interested person
transactions excluding
transactions conducted
under shareholders

mandate pursuant to
Rule 920 of the SGX
Listing Manual

2023
US$’000

2022
UsS$’000

Aggregate value of
interested person
transactions conducted
under shareholders
mandate pursuant to
Rule 920 of the SGX
Listing Manual

2023
US$’000

2,759,326

2022
US$’000

2,625,780

1,186,168

1,461,363

4,401

5,476

1,963

196

105

1,504,424

1,212,524

5,642

2,339

259 333

600 248

- 12,435

Sales to related corporations of
a corporate shareholder

Purchases from related
corporations of a corporate
shareholder

Carbon trading transaction with
a related corporation

Purchases of into-plane
services from a related
corporation

Associates of
Controlling Shareholder,
BP Investments Asia
Limited

37,996

425,417

719,130

398,574

662 -

1,633 -

Based on the shareholders’ approval obtained at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 18 April 2017 for the jet fuel transportation services framework
agreement entered into between China National Aviation Fuel TSN-PEK Pipeline Transportation Corporation Ltd (“TSN-PEKCL”) and China National Aviation Fuel
Corporation Ltd (“CNAFCL”) relating to the provision of pipeline transportation services by TSN-PEKCL to CNAFCL.
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SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 8 March 2024

Number of Issued Shares . 866,183,628

Number of Issued Shares (excluding Treasury Shares) . 860,183,628 ordinary shares
Number/Percentage of Treasury Shares ;6,000,000 (0.69%)
Number/Percentage of Subsidiary Holdings * : 0(0%)

Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights (excluding Treasury Shares and Subsidiary Holdings) : 1 vote per share

Based on information available to the Company as at 8 March 2024, 28.52% " of the issued ordinary shares of the
Company is held by the public and, therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST is complied with.

Note: + Subsidiary Holdings is defined in the Listing Manual of SGX-ST to mean shares referred to in Sections 21(4), 21(4B), 21(6A) and 21(6C) of the Companies Act 1967.
(1) Percentage is calculated based on the total number of 860,183,628 issued shares excluding treasury shares.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

No. of No. of
Size of Shareholdings Shareholders % Shares %
1-99 671 5.46 33,425 0.00
100 - 1,000 1,853 15.08 1,088,127 0.13
1,001 - 10,000 6,394 52.04 28,438,214 3.30
10,001 - 1,000,000 3,348 27.25 133,127,490 15.48
1,000,001 and above 21 0.17 697,496,372 81.09
Total 12,287 100 860,183,628 100
TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
No.of
No. Name Shares %
1 China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited 441,332,912 51.31
2  BP Investments Asia Limited 173,476,942 20.17
3 DBS Nominees (Private) Limited 20,670,723 2.40
4 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 15,676,825 1.82
5 Raffles Nominees (Pte.) Limited 7,669,635 0.89
6 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 5,568,336 0.65
7 United Overseas Bank Nominees (Private) Limited 4,548,376 0.53
8 Lee Fook Choy 3,200,000 0.37
9  Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 3,089,887 0.36
10 UOB Kay Hian Private Limited 2,902,656 0.34
11 Maybank Securities Pte. Ltd. 2,887,967 0.34
12 OCBC Nominees Singapore Private Limited 2,839,259 0.33
13 OCBC Securities Private Limited 2,567,149 0.30
14 iFAST Financial Pte. Ltd. 2,304,527 0.27
15 BPSS Nominees Singapore (Pte.) Ltd. 1,511,578 0.18
16 Jack Investment Pte Ltd 1,302,400 0.15
17 Li Guomin @Li Guoming 1,298,800 0.15
18 Kang Hian Soon or Keh Siu Kim 1,240,000 0.14
19  ABN AMRO Clearing Bank N.V. 1,208,900 0.14
20 Lam Yew Chong 1,113,800 0.13
Total 696,405,672 80.97

SUBSTANTIAL ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
(As shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 8 March 2024)
No. of Shares

Direct Deemed
No. Name Interest Interest %
1. China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited 441,332,912 - 51.31

2. BP Investments Asia Limited 173,476,942 - 20.17
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DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELECTION
As of 31 March 2024

Name of Director Shi Yanliang

Date of appointment 15 December 2023

Date of last re-appointment (if applicable) N.A.

Age 52

Country of principal residence Singapore

The Board’s comments on this re-election/appointment After reviewing the recommendation

of the Nominating Committee and

Mr Shi’s qualifications and experience
(as set out below), the Board has
approved that Mr Shi stands for
re-election as an executive,
non-independent Director.

Mr Shi will, upon re-election, continue
to serve as the Executive Chairman of

the Company.
Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area of responsibility Executive
Job title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member etc.) Executive Chairman
Professional Qualifications Master’s Degree in Petroleum and

Natural Gas Engineering, Yangtze
University, China

Qualified Engineer
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Teo Ser Luck Shi Lei Hee Theng Fong
24 April 2019 1 September 2021 24 April 2019

27 April 2022 27 April 2022 27 April 2022

55 59 69

Singapore China Singapore

After reviewing the recommendation
of the Nominating Committee, and
Mr Teo’s qualifications and experience
(as set out below), the Board has
confirmed Mr Teo’s independence
and approved that Mr Teo stands for
re-election as a non-executive and
independent Director.

Mr Teo will, upon re-election, continue
to serve as Lead Independent Director,
Chairman of the Audit Committee and
Sustainability Committee. A member
of the Nominating Committee and Risk
Management Committee.

After reviewing the recommendation of
the Nominating Committee and

Mr Shi’s qualifications and experience
(as set out below), the Board has
approved that Mr Shi stands for
re-election as a non-executive and
non-independent Director of

the Company.

Mr Shi will, upon re-election, continue
to serve as Vice Chairman of the
Nominating Committee, Vice Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and

a member of the Risk Management
Committee of the Company.

After reviewing the recommendation of
the Nominating Committee and

Mr Hee’s qualifications and experience
(as set out below), the Board has
confirmed Mr Hee’s independence
and approved that Mr Hee stands for
re-election as a non-executive and
independent Director.

Mr Hee will, upon re-election, continue
to serve as Chairman of the Risk
Management Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and
Sustainability Committee.

Non-executive

Non-executive

Non-executive

Non-executive and Lead Independent
Director

Chairman of Audit Committee
Chairman of Sustainability Committee
Member of Nominating Committee and
Risk Management Committee

Non-Executive and Non-Independent
Director

Vice Chairman of Nominating Committee
Vice Chairman of Remuneration
Committee

Member of Risk Management Committee

Non-executive and Independent Director
Chairman of Risk Management
Committee

Member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and
Sustainability Committee

Degree in Accountancy,
Nanyang Technological University,
Singapore

Radio-Electronics, School of
Electronics,
Shandong University

Master of Business Administration,
Shandong University

Qualified Senior Engineer

L.L.B. (Honours),
National University of Singapore

Diploma in PRC Law,
Suzhou University
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON

DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELECTION
As of 31 March 2024

Name of Director Shi Yanliang

Working experience and occupation(s) during the past 10 years March 2023 to Present

Chairman

China National Aviation Petrochemicals
Pipeline Co., Ltd

December 2018 to March 2023
General Manager

China National Aviation Petrochemicals
Pipeline Co., Ltd

August 2013 to September 2015
Executive Director
China Aviation Oil Import and Export

Co., Ltd
Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its subsidiaries No
Any relationship (including immediate family relationships) with any existing Executive Chairman of the Company
director, existing executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial shareholder of the
listed issuer or of any of its principal subsidiaries
Conflict of interest (including any competing business) No

Undertaking submitted to the listed issuer in the form of Appendix 7.7 (Listing Yes
Rule 704(7))




Teo Ser Luck

2017 to Present

Chairman of BRC Asia Limited
Deputy Chairman of Serial System Ltd
Independent Director of Straco
Corporation Limited

Independent Director of Yanlord Land
Group Limited

Independent Director of Super Hi
International Holding Ltd

2017 to 2020
Lead Independent Director of United
Engineers Ltd

2006 to 2020
Singapore Member of Parliament

2006 to 2022

Minister of State for Trade and Industry
Senior Parliamentary Secretary in the
Ministry of Transport and Ministry of
Community Development, Youth and
Sports

Minister of State for Manpower

Mayor of the North East District

CHINA AVIATION OIL (SINGAPORE) CORPORATION LTD

Shi Lei

June 2019 to Present

Assistant to General Manager of

China National Aviation Fuel Group
Limited and General Manager of
Human Resource Department of China
National Aviation Fuel Group Limited

November 2016 to Present

General Manager, Human Resource
Department

China National Aviation Fuel Group
Limited

April 2011 to November 2016
General Manager of China National
Aviation Fuel Corporation Ltd,
Northwest Branch Company
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February 2023 to Present
Independent Arbitrator and Mediator
with The Arbitration Chambers

January 2014 to February 2023
Harry Elias Partnership LLP (formerly
known as Eversheds Harry Elias LLP)
— Consultant

May 2011 to June 2014
RHTLaw Taylor Wessing LLP
— Senior Partner

No No No
No Assistant to General Manager/ No
General Manager of Human Resource
Department of China National Aviation
Fuel Group Limited, the parent
company of the Company
No No No
Yes Yes Yes
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DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELECTION
As of 31 March 2024

Name of Director Shi Yanliang

Other Principal Commitments* including Directorships#
* “Principal Commitments” has the same meaning as defined in the Code of Corporate Governance 2018

Past (for the last 5 years) March 2023 to Present

Chairman

China National Aviation Petrochemicals
Pipeline Co., Ltd

December 2018 to March 2023
General Manager

China National Aviation Petrochemicals
Pipeline Co., Ltd

Present Executive Chairman of the Company

Other Principal Directorships
Chairman of China National Aviation
Petrochemicals Pipeline Co., Ltd

Information required
Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director

(@) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition No
under any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction was filed against him or against
a partnership of which he was a partner at the time when he was a partner
or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under | No
any law of any jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being a partnership)
of which he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive, at the
time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that
entity or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director
or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the winding up or
dissolution of that entity or, where that entity is the trustee of a business trust,
that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied judgement against him? No

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, | No
involving fraud or dishonesty, which is punishable with imprisonment, or has
been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal
proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, | No
involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the
securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or has been the subject
of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of
which he is aware) for such breach?
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Lead Independent Director of United
Engineers Limited

Lead Independent Director of
MindChamps PreSchool Limited

Nil

Consultant of Harry Elias Partnership
LLP

Independent Director Zheneng Jinjiang
Environment Holding Company Limited
Independent Director of Tye Soon
Limited

Independent Director of APAC Realty
Limited

Other Listed Companies

BRC Asia Limited (Chairman)

Serial System Ltd (Deputy Chairman)
Straco Corporation Limited
(Independent Director)

Yanlord Land Group Limited
(Independent Director)

Super Hi International Holding Ltd.
(Independent Director)

Other Principal Commitments
President of the Institute of Singapore

Chartered Accountants (ISCA)

Other Principal Directorships
China National Aviation Fuel Corporation
Limited (Director)

Other Principal Commitments
Assistant to General Manager,
China National Aviation Fuel Group
Limited

General Manager, Human Resource
Department,

China National Aviation Fuel Group
Limited

Other Listed Companies
Straco Corporation Limited
(Independent Director)

Yanlord Land Group Limited
(Independent Director)

Haidilao International Holding Ltd
(Independent Director)

H World Group Limited
(Independent Director)

Other Principal Directorships
Green Link Digital Bank Pte. Ltd.
(Director)

Other Principal Commitments
Independent Arbitrator and Mediator

with The Arbitration Chambers

No No No
No No No
No No No
No No No
No No No
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DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELECTION
As of 31 March 2024

Name of Director Shi Yanliang

() Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgement has been entered No
against him in any civil proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a
breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, misinterpretation
or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings
(including any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving an
allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?

(9) Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any No
offence in connection with the formation or management of any entity or
business trust?

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent | No
person of any entity (including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking
part directly or indirectly in the management of any entity or business trust?

(i)  Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgement or ruling of any | No
court, tribunal or governmental body, permanently or temporarily enjoining
him from engaging in any type of business practice or activity?

() Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management
or conduct, in Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:

(i) any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law No
or regulatory requirement governing corporations in Singapore or
elsewhere; or

(i) any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a No
breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing such entities in
Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iiy any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law No
or regulatory requirement governing business trusts in Singapore or
elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach No
of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, in connection with any matter
occurring or arising during the period when he was so concerned with
the entity or business trust?

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or No
disciplinary proceedings, or has been reprimanded or issued any warning,
by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory authority,
exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore
or elsewhere?
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No No No
No No No
No No No
No No No
No No No
No No No
No No No
No No No
No No No
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